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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EIRES

On behalf of the board of directors (the

Directors” and the “Board”,

respectively) of Asia Television Holdings Limited (the “Company”), we are

pleased to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries

(together, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMB105.3 million (2022: RMB77.1 million), a significant
increase of approximately 36.6% compared to the year before. The increase in

the revenue is mainly due to:

)

(i)

(iii)

An increase in the revenue of fabrics and trading business from
approximately RMB38.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
RMB78.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The growth was
primarily fueled by an expansion in the fabric trading business, which
benefited from the adoption of new online platform trading activities,
opening new channels for fabric and clothing trading.

a decrease in the revenue of securities brokerage services and margin
finance from approximately RMB3.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to nil for the year ended 31 December 2023 can
be attributed to the subsidiaries that were engaging in securities
brokerage services, which became an associate of the Group on 18 May
2022. Million Federal International Limited (“Million Federal”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Million Federal Group”) were principally engaged in
brokerage services. The Group decreased its equity interest in the Million
Federal Group from 60% to 40% by disposing of 20% of the entire
issued share capital on 18 May 2022, and Million Federal subsequently
became an associate of the Group; and

a decrease in the revenue of media, cultural and entertainment business
from approximately RMB35.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to RMB26.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This
drop in revenue can be attributed to a decline in sponsorship income and
shooting and broadcasting income, which was caused by the uncertain
economic environment and intense business competition in the market.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

Gross Loss and Net Loss
The Group recorded a gross loss of approximately RMB22.5 million (2022:

gross loss of RMB25.6 million). The Group recorded a net loss of approximately

RMB164.6 million, as compared to a net loss of approximately RMB214.3

million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in the audited

consolidated loss was mainly attributable to the net effect of:

(if)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The gain on disposal of a subsidiary, namely L2 Y BEE X LEER
R 2 &) of approximately RMB21.8million;

a decrease in the impairment loss on right-of-use assets of approximately
RMB16.3 million as compared to the last year;

a decrease in the impairment loss on property, plant, and equipment of
approximately RMB3.7 million as compared to the last year;

an absence of the loss on disposal of a subsidiary, namely Million Federal
International Limited, of approximately RMB8.2 million as recognised in
the last year;

a decrease in the impairment loss on intangible assets of approximately
RMB17.6 million as compared to the last year;

an absence of the gain on de-consolidation of a subsidiary, namely Asia
Television Digital Media Limited, of approximately RMB35.1 million as
recognised in the last year;

the net gain of RMB4.7 million on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss recognized during the year of 2023 as compared to the net
loss of RMB21.4 million on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss recognized during the last year; and

a decrease in the administrative and operating expenses of
approximately RMB9.7 million as compared to the last year due to the
adoption of stringent cost control measures.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year (2022:
Nil). The Board resolved not to declare the payment of any final dividend for
the year (2022: Nil).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EFREE(R)

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had engaged in four

business streams including (i) the processing, printing and sales of finished

fabrics and subcontracting services and the trading of fabric and clothing

business (the “Fabrics and Trading Business”); (ii) the money lending business;

(iii) securities investment and securities brokerage services business (the

“Investments and Brokerage Services Business”); and (iv) media, cultural and

entertainment business.

An outline of the business review of the four business streams is described

below:

()

(i)

(iii)

6

Fabrics and Trading Business

An increase in the revenue of fabrics and trading business from
approximately RMB38.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to RMB78.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The growth
was primarily fueled by an expansion in the fabric and clothing trading
business, which benefited from the adoption of new online platform
trading activities, opening new channels for fabric and clothing trading.

The loss from the reportable segment saw a rise, going from
approximately RMB2 million for the year ending 31 December 2022 to
about RMB18.4 million for the year ending 31 December 2023. This
increase can be attributed to higher direct costs exerting continued
pressure on the gross profit margin, alongside the narrow gross profits
experienced in the online trading market.

Money Lending Business

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of the loan
receivables were nil (as at 31 December 2022: nil). During the year of
2023, no new loans and loan facilities were granted. During times of
economic uncertainty, the Company would implement cautious and
prudent measures and tighten the credit policies, and decrease the
proportion of money lending business with high value customers.

Investments and Brokerage Services Business

To enhance the financial performance, the Group held listed securities as
investment during the year. During the year, the Group has no disposal
of listed securities (2022: disposed of listed securities with carrying
amount of approximately RMB126,000 and recognised the realised gain
of approximately RMB63,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of the Group’s listed
securities held for trading at fair value is approximately RMB14,008,000
(As at 31 December 2022: RMB9,151,000). The Group managed a
portfolio of securities listed in Hong Kong and overseas.
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(iv)

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Group recorded nil of revenue from brokerage services business
for the year (2022: RMB3.1 million). The decrease is mainly due to the
subsidiaries that were engaging in brokerage services, which became an
associate of the Group on 18 May 2022. Million Federal International
Limited (“Million Federal”) and its subsidiaries (the “Million Federal
Group”) were principally engaged in brokerage services. The Group
decreased its equity interest in the Million Federal Group from 60%
to 40% by disposing of 20% of the entire issued share capital on
18 May 2022, and Million Federal subsequently became an associate
of the Group. Details of the disposal are set out in note 33(b) to the
consolidated financial statements and the announcements of the

Company dated 18 May 2022 and 21 June 2022.

Media, Cultural and Entertainment Business

Revenue of the media, cultural and entertainment business decreased
from RMB35.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
RMB26.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This drop
in revenue can be attributed to a decline in sponsorship income and
shooting and broadcasting income, which was caused by the uncertain
economic environment and intense business competition in the market.
The reportable segment loss decreased from RMB39.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB37.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 due to the adoption of stringent cost control measures.

The Group postponed the live-streaming e-commerce market business
plan following challenges encountered during initial operations in mid-
2023. As part of its strategic plan to expand its revenue streams in
the media sector, the Group intends to diversify by venturing into the
production of short videos. This initiative aims to broaden the range of
income sources and capitalize on the growing demand for video content.

The short-term strategy for our media, cultural and entertainment
business is to expand its multiple digital platforms and seek investment
opportunities in film rights. Our goal is to establish a high-quality
e-commence platform with strong customer base. In the long run, we
aim to expand vertically to provide our customers with a “one-stop”
solution from creative production to media delivery. In the medium to
long term development, it is expected that our platform will cover other
Chinese-Speaking regions. We will focus on developing the media,
cultural and entertainment business in different regions.

(iv)
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

58S ()

LONG TERM CORPORATE STRATEGIES

Being heavily invested in media, cultural and entertainment business, the
Group aims to expand vertically to provide our customers with a “one-stop”
advertising solution from creative production to media delivery. In the medium
to long term development, it is expected that our platform will cover other
Chinese-Speaking regions. We will strategically focus on developing China and
Hong Kong before moving on to other countries with large populations.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Despite the headwinds and challenges ahead, we will continue to enhance our
corporate transparency and strengthen our corporate governance and internal
control. We will take every opportunity to optimise our business to enrich the
value of the shareholders of the Company. With the concerted efforts of the
management and the staff of the Group, we are confident and optimistic about
the Group's future growth and outlook.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group and the Board, we would like to express uttermost
gratitude to our employees for all your effort and contribution. We would also
like to thank our Shareholders, investors, business partners and customers who
have been offering great support and assistance to us. We are confident about
the future development prospects of the Group and will continue to forge
ahead with innovative development and generate ideal investment returns for
Shareholders.

Mr. Liu Minbin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

* for identification only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Asia Television Holdings Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) had engaged
in four business streams including (i) the processing, printing and sales of
finished fabrics and subcontracting services and the trading of fabric and
clothing business (the “Fabrics and Trading Business”); (ii) the money lending
business; (iii) securities investment and securities brokerage services business
(the “Investments and Brokerage Services Business”); and (iv) media, cultural

and entertainment business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMB105.3 million (2022: RMB77.1 million), a significant
increase of approximately 36.6% compared to the year before. The increase in
the revenue is mainly due to:

(i) An increase in the revenue of fabrics and trading business from
approximately RMB38.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
RMB78.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The growth was
primarily fueled by an expansion in the fabric trading business, which
benefited from the adoption of new online platform trading activities,
opening new channels for fabric and clothing trading.

(i)  a decrease in the revenue of securities brokerage services and margin
finance from approximately RMB3.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to nil for the year ended 31 December 2023 can
be attributed to the subsidiaries that were engaging in securities
brokerage services, which became an associate of the Group on 18 May
2022. Million Federal International Limited (“Million Federal”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Million Federal Group”) were principally engaged in
brokerage services. The Group decreased its equity interest in the Million
Federal Group from 60% to 40% by disposing of 20% of the entire
issued share capital on 18 May 2022, and Million Federal subsequently
became an associate of the Group; and

(iii)  adecrease in the revenue of media, cultural and entertainment business
from approximately RMB35.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to RMB26.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This
drop in revenue can be attributed to a decline in sponsorship income and
shooting and broadcasting income, which was caused by the uncertain

economic environment and intense business competition in the market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEBHRE S (R

Gross Loss and Net Loss
The Group recorded a gross loss of approximately RMB22.5 million (2022:

gross loss of RMB25.6 million). The Group recorded a net loss of approximately

RMB164.6 million, as compared to a net loss of approximately RMB214.3

million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in the audited

consolidated loss was mainly attributable to the net effect of:

)

(if)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

10

The gain on disposal of a subsidiary, namely 2RI BB XLEESR
fR 72 7] of approximately RMB21.8million;

a decrease in the impairment loss on right-of-use assets of approximately
RMB16.3 million as compared to the last year;

a decrease in the impairment loss on property, plant, and equipment of
approximately RMB3.7 million as compared to the last year;

an absence of the loss on disposal of a subsidiary, namely Million Federal
International Limited, of approximately RMB8.2 million as recognised in
the last year;

a decrease in the impairment loss on intangible assets of approximately
RMB17.6 million as compared to the last year;

an absence of the gain on de-consolidation of a subsidiary, namely Asia
Television Digital Media Limited, of approximately RMB35.1 million as
recognised in the last year;

the net gain of RMB4.7 million on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss recognized during the year of 2023 as compared to the net
loss of RMB21.4 million on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss recognized during the last year; and

a decrease in the administrative and operating expenses of
approximately RMB9.7 million as compared to the last year due to the
adoption of stringent cost control measures.
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(i)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS REVIEW

Fabrics and Trading Business

An increase in the revenue of fabrics and trading business from approximately
RMB38.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB78.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The growth was primarily fueled by an

expansion in the fabric and clothing trading business, which benefited from the

adoption of new online platform trading activities, opening new channels for

fabric and clothing trading.

The loss from the reportable segment saw a rise, going from approximately
RMB2 million for the year ending 31 December 2022 to about RMB18.4 million
for the year ending 31 December 2023. This increase can be attributed to

higher direct costs exerting continued pressure on the gross profit margin,

alongside the narrow gross profits experienced in the online trading market.

Money Lending Business

(i)

Business model

The Group commenced the Money Lending Business in 2015 and the
Group has operated this business for around 8 years. The Money Lending
Business is engaged in the provision of loan financing and the revenue
from the Money Lending Business is comprised of loan interest. The
loans have provided in forms of term loans and loan facilities.

The Group mainly targets at individual customers and corporate
customers locate in Hong Kong, Macau and the People’s Republic of
China.

The customers are mainly introduced by the management of the Group
(the "Management”) and the existing borrowers.

The Group lends out the loans by using its internal resources.

In determining the terms of the loans for individual and corporate term
loans and loan facilities granted by the Group, the Group has established
and adopted the following policy. Depends on the type of the loans, the
loan amount, the financial capabilities and the reputation of borrowers
and/or guarantors, the interest rate per annum of the loans will be
ranging from 13% to 14% and terms ranging from 3 months to 1 year.

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of the loan
receivables were nil (as at 31 December 2022: RMB nil). During the year
of 2023, no new loans and loan facilities were granted. During times
of economic uncertainty, the Company would implement cautious and
prudent measures and tighten the credit policies, and decrease the
proportion of money lending business with high value customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EHE R R 2 W (])

Set out below is the summary of the 2 outstanding loans as at 31 BE-_TS-_=F+-_A=+—BZmMHEXE
December 2023: BETHOBMEHINAT
(Collaterals/
Personal Independent
Principal Guarantee/ Third Party
amount Corporate - hoth borrower(s)
(RMB) Guarantee and/or guarantor(s)
Name of borrower Identity  Contract date Due date Renewal contract record &% Interestrate Terms  HHT/BAER/ BUE=H
ERALE 56 =8 58 AHENER (ARE) flz £5 DR (BRAR/ZHRA
Hua Wei International Security ~ Corporation 24 October 2016 31 March 2022 23 January 2017 - 22 April 2017, 12,617,000 14% 1Year  Personal Guarantee Yes
Management Limited 22 April 2017 - 31 March 2018,
2l CE-AETACTEAR ZECIEZATT-R 1Al 2018-31 March 2019, -£ AAER R
EGARZYEEARAR 1 Aprl 2019 - 31 March 2020;
1 April 2020 - 31 March 2021; and Corporate Guarantee
1 April 2021 - 31 March 2022 (note 2)
R-tE-AZTERE REER (hit2)
ZE-tEmAZTIR:
ZE-tFMAZTZRE
“E-\E=R=1+-H:
“E-\¥mA-BE
Z5-MEZR=1-R:
“3-NEBA-RE
‘%‘%EIHZ+—E1
ZZ_ZEMA-BE
“E-FZRZT-RIR
ZE_-EmA-BE
It Jabak Y
Client A Individual 3 Febr uayZO 2 February 2017 Not Applicable 9,012,000 13% 1Year N Yes
EPA fiA “E-RECRTR CE{ECACR TR - 4 R
Note: Bt
1. Hua Wei International Security Management Limited and the Company 1. EEAR TR EB AR AT EAATERY

were negotiating on the repayment schedule of the outstanding loan.

2. In March 2023, a safety management and consultancy service company 2.

registered in Hong Kong has pledged its equity interests as additional
collateral for the loan.

3. Client A had been liquidated and the Group had taken legal proceedings g

against Client A to collect the loan.

12 ASIATELEVISION HOLDINGSLIMITED | E i ER Z R B R 2 |

RE KB AR R ETTRER -

R-ZB-ZF=ZA —HAREBEEMOR2
B RFARBDRERERE - AERE
HESMER G -

BEFARER BAKEERAEPARIUA
REFFRLAM R E TR o



(i)

(iii)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Credit risk assessment policy
The Group had adopted the credit risk assessment for the potential
customers by taking the following steps:

a) The Group will conduct the know-your-client procedure,
which consists of background check, obtaining and review of
identification documents (such as identity card for individuals,
business registration and/or the certificate of incorporation for
corporate customers) and conduct public search.

b) The Group will then assess the creditworthiness of the potential
customers by taking into account the customer’s occupation,
financial condition, asset portfolio and credit history.

- For individual customers, the Group will assess their
financial capabilities by reviewing their asset portfolio as
well as their background and public reputation;

- For corporate customers, the Group will assess their
financial capabilities by reviewing their financial statements,
business potential and/or asset portfolio.

Management’s discussion on movements in loan
impairments (and write-offs) and the underlying
reasons

The Group has adopted the following impairment policy for the
outstanding loans:—

For each of the non-overdue loans, rate of expected credit loss was
determined with reference to the contractual interest rate of each loan,
market risk-free rate, expected GDP growth rate and the remaining
terms of the loan. Expected credit loss will be assessed individually for

each loan.

For each of the overdue loans, breach of payment terms is an indicator
that the borrowers will be unable to repay the loan balance in the view
of Management, full impairment will be made if the loan receivables
were due over 90 days with no repayment plan provided by the

borrowers.

Accordingly, with reference to the impairment policy, the Group
made reversal of impairment loss (net) for loan receivables (the “Loan
Impairment”) of nil during the year ended 31 December 2023.

(i)

(iii)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEBHRE S (R

(iv)

14

The Board is of the view that the provision of the Loan Impairment
is in compliance with the relevant requirements under the Group's
impairment policy and accounting policies and the Loan Impairment
gives a fairer view of the financial conditions and operation results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Internal controls in terms of credit approval, ongoing
monitoring of loan recoverability and loan collection
After completion of the credit risk assessment, the loan application will
be reported to the Management for approval. After obtaining of the
aforesaid approval, the relevant loan document will be executed.

For ongoing monitoring, the Group will closely monitor repayment on
the scheduled dated. In general, the Group will arrange call with the
existing borrowers on a quarterly basis to understand if there is any
material deterioration in the client’s financial capabilities. Any delay in
scheduled repayments will be immediately reported to the Management,
which will determine what action should be taken.

For secured loans of both individual and corporate customers, the Group
would consider the value of the collaterals and grants loans with a
loan-to-value ratio (the “LTV Ratio”) of no more than 70%. During the
post-loan monitoring process, the Group would notice the value of the
collateral and the actual LTV Ratio with respect to the loans advanced.
If the LTV Ratio is over the acceptable level (i.e 70%), the Group may
require the borrower to deposit additional collateral or realise the value
of the collateral in order to bring the LTV Ratio back to acceptable level.

In event that there is delay in repayment of the loans, the Group will
contact the borrowers and issue the demand letters to the borrowers.
The Management will discuss in details with the borrowers for reasons
of the late repayment and plans for repayment. After considering
all circumstances available to the Group, with limitation to reasons
for late payment, recent financial capabilities of the borrowers, the
market conditions, the attitudes of the borrowers and subsequent
payments made by borrowers, the Management will determine whether
it constitute a delinquent loan and whether the Group should take
further legal actions against the borrowers. Generally, when the loan is
overdue for more than 3 months, a demand letter will be served to the
borrower. If no concrete response is received, legal proceedings may be
commenced against the borrower. The Group may take legal actions to
collect the loan if necessary.

(iv)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

For post-loan monitoring, the Group should conduct annual review on
each loan which remains outstanding and if the Group notices that
there is a material deterioration in the borrower’s financial position, the
Group may require repayment from the borrowers. In the event that the
borrower fails to respond to the request as mentioned above, the Group
may take appropriate legal actions for debts which have been due for a
long period.

Investment and Brokerage Services Business

To enhance the financial performance, the Group held listed securities as
investment during the year. During the year, the Group has no disposal of
listed securities (2022: disposed of listed securities with carrying amount of
approximately RMB126,000 and recognised the realised gain of approximately
RMB63,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of the Group's listed securities
held for trading at fair value is approximately RMB14,008,000 (As at 31
December 2022: RMB9,151,000). The Group managed a portfolio of securities
listed in Hong Kong and overseas.

The Group recorded nil of revenue from brokerage services business for the
year (2022: RMB3.1 million). The decrease is mainly due to the subsidiaries that
were engaging in brokerage services, which became an associate of the Group
on 18 May 2022. Million Federal International Limited (“Million Federal”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Million Federal Group”) were principally engaged
in brokerage services. The Group decreased its equity interest in the Million
Federal Group from 60% to 40% by disposing of 20% of the entire issued
share capital on 18 May 2022, and Million Federal subsequently became an
associate of the Group. Details of the disposal are set out in note 33(b) to the
consolidated financial statements and the announcements of the Company
dated 18 May 2022 and 21 June 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EHE R R 2 W (])

Media, Cultural and Entertainment Business

Revenue of the media, cultural and entertainment business decreased from
RMB35.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB26.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. This drop in revenue can be attributed to
a decline in sponsorship income and shooting and broadcasting income, which
was caused by the uncertain economic environment and intense business
competition in the market. The reportable segment loss decreased from
RMB39.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB37.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 due to the adoption of stringent cost

control measures.

The Group postponed the live-streaming e-commerce market business plan
following challenges encountered during initial operations in mid-2023. As
part of its strategic plan to expand its revenue streams in the media sector, the
Group intends to diversify by venturing into the production of short videos.
This initiative aims to broaden the range of income sources and capitalize on
the growing demand for video content.

The short-term strategy for our media, cultural and entertainment business
is to expand its multiple digital platforms and seek investment opportunities
in film rights. Our goal is to establish a high-quality e-commence platform
with strong customer base. In the long run, we aim to expand vertically to
provide our customers with a “one-stop” solution from creative production
to media delivery. In the medium to long term development, it is expected
that our platform will cover other Chinese-Speaking regions. We will focus on

developing the media, cultural and entertainment business in different regions.

Impairment Loss In Respect of The Right-Of-Use Assets In
Relation to The Media Cash Generating Unit

The Company engaged an independent professional qualified valuer, Valtech
Valuation Advisory Limited (the “Valuer”), to conduct valuations to determine
the value in use of the cash generating unit in Media segment (the “Media
CGU") for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. The Company
provided the Valuer a financial forecast for each of the year ended 31
December 2022 (the “2022 Forecast”) and 2023 (the “2023 Forecast”) based
on the latest performance and future business plan of the Media segment. The
figures in the 2023 Forecast were estimated with a more prudent approach
after taking into account the past performance and the Management's
expectations for the market development.
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i)

(i)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The key assumption changes for the 2022 Forecast
and 2023 Forecast were mainly attributable to:

a)

An absence of the advertising, the broadcasting and sponsorship
income in Malaysia under the 2023 Forecast when compared
to that of the 2022 Forecast. This shortfall is attributed to the
Malaysian market’s performance falling short of expectations. In
response, we have redirected resources to more effective markets
and scaled back operations in Malaysia as a measure of caution.

Decrease by the range from RMB7 million to RMB11 million
revenue in livestreaming e-commerce market for the five-years
forecast under the 2023 Forecast when compared to that of the
2022 Forecast in the estimated income. This adjustment is due
to the postponement of the live streaming e-commerce market
business plan from the second half of 2023 to the year 2025,
following challenges encountered during initial operations in mid-
2023.

Reduce the gross profit margin projections for the live streaming
e-commerce market to 6.4% for the first year and 16.45% for
the subsequent years. This adjustment reflects the lower initial
gross profits anticipated as we enter the new market and strive to
capture market share in the initial phase.

Increase by the range from RMB11 million to RMB13 million for
the five-years forecast under the 2023 Forecast when compared
to that of the 2022 Forecast in the estimated income. This rise is
attributed to enhanced sponsorship and broadcasting revenues
generated from the production of short videos.

Management’s assessment on the basis of valuation
in respect Media CGU and the impairment.
During the year, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of a

media cash generating unit (“CGU") mainly comprises of ATV and its

subsidiaries, which are engaged in entertainment and media services

and represented the media, cultural and entertainment reportable

segment of the Group and as a result recognised impairment losses on

property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
of approximately RMB3,493,000, RMB 15,635,000 and RMB8,251,000.

Below details is the impairment assessment of the Media CGU.

i)

(i)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEBHRE S (R

18

The key assumptions used by management in setting the financial
budgets for were as follows:

a)

The board realize that the pre-tax discount rate calculated by using
weighted average cost of capital (i.e. post tax discount rate) was
applied.

The board has obtained understanding on the methodology
adopted, source of reference of the inputs and the calculation to
derive the post-tax discount rate, i.e. Weighted Average Cost of
Capital ("WACC");

It is the board’s understanding that the valuer adopted the
Modified Capital Asset Pricing Model for the discount rate
calculation. The key inputs and source of reference include:

EREEHEMBRERRKANEIZRRM
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Risk Free Rate Bloomberg Bloomberg is a well-known database which
considered as reasonable.
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Beta Bloomberg Bloomberg is a well-known database which
considered as reasonable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEW RS i (R)

The Board further compared the discount rate adopted in current
year and last year. The movement is explained by the valuer and
considered as acceptable.

The management has adopted a more cautious approach due to
the challenging economic environment, which contributed to the
reduction in advertising, broadcasting, and sponsorship income
from RMB35.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
RMB26.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The board
has thoroughly assessed the projected decrease in the context
of the evolving environment that the Group is expected to face.
The expected growth rate for this particular revenue source is
estimated to be 2.5% following the year 2023. This growth rate
has been verified by the board, using the Hong Kong Inflation
growth as per the International Monetary Fund projection.

To diversify the income stream of the media segment, the
Company planned to introduce production of short videos during
the year of 2024. This new venture is expected to generate
additional revenue, thereby enhancing the Company’s financial
performance in the future. The board has carefully evaluated
the short videos proposal submitted by the corresponding
management team. The anticipated growth rate for this specific
revenue stream is projected to be 3.7% following the year 2024.
The growth is expected by referring to the estimated media
industry growth rate from market researches. This growth rate has
been verified by the board, obtained from reliable sources such as
Statista, PwC's research and Citylinkers.

The livestreaming project has been rescheduled and is now
planned for implementation in the year 2025 due to challenges
encountered during the initial operations in mid-2023. The
board has thoroughly evaluated the proposal put forth by the
management team responsible for this project.

Based on the assessment, the anticipated growth rate for this
specific revenue stream is projected to be 15.3% starting from the
year 2025. The board has verified this growth rate by referencing
average growth rates obtained from reliable sources such as
Statista, Icecat, and IBISWorld.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
THE GROUP

Memorandum of Understanding in relation to proposed
acquisition of 30% equity interest of Hangzhou Yuanhou
Tianxia Technology Company Limited

On 20 January 2023, the Company and the Vendor entered into the
Memorandum of Understanding pursuant to which the Vendor proposed to sell
and the Company proposed to acquire 30% of the equity interest in Hangzhou
Yuanhou Tianxia Technology Company Limited (the “Target Company”). The
Target Company is located in the Zhejiang Province, the PRC, and is engaged
in the provision of blockchain-related technical services and Internet product
development services.

The initial proposed amount of USD5 million as the consideration of the
proposed acquisition is subject to further negotiation, thorough due diligence
review and the signing of a formal sale and purchase agreement between the
parties on or before 18 June 2023.

As no formal sale and purchase agreement has been entered into between
the Company and the Vendor in connection with the proposed acquisition
of 30% equity interest in the Target Company within the validity period, the
memorandum of understanding has been automatically terminated.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
20 January 2023.

Disposal of a subsidiary

On 7 April 2023, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to dispose of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, £ 2 (J& ) to an
independent third party at a consideration of HK$100,000. The principal
activity of 2 (EII) is engaged in trading, which had no significant impact
on the turnover and results of the Group. The disposal was completed on 7 July
2023. Details of disposal are set out in note 33(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

THE REMEDIAL ACTIONS TO BE UNDERTAKEN
RELATED TO MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED
TO GOING CONCERN

The management has drawn attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements with respect to the Group’s ability to continue as going concerns.
The Group's recorded a net loss of approximately RMB164,624,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and as at 31 December 2023, the Group was
in net liabilities position of approximately RMB690,703,000 and its current
liabilities exceeded the current assets by approximately RMB710,495,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The Group also has defaulted in repayment of loans and other borrowings
with outstanding amount of approximately RMB236,909,000 which were
included as part of current liabilities as at 31 December 2023. These events
and conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
doubt about the Group's ability to continue as going concern.

The directors of the Company have taken the following measures to mitigate
the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position of the Group:

(i) A potential investor, has committed to provide continuing financial
support to the Group to enable it to meet its financial obligations as
they fall due for the foreseeable future;

(i) Actively negotiating with lenders to renew loans and borrowings that
have fallen due;

(iii) Implementing comprehensive policies to monitor cash flows through
cutting costs and capital expenditure;

(iv) Exploring the possibility of disposing certain non-core assets;

(v) On 17 May 2023, the Company entered into supplemental
subscription agreement with Nanotechnology Singapore Pte. Ltd.
("Nanotechnology”), an independent third party, pursuant to which
Nanotechnology has conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue convertible bonds in
an aggregate principal amount of HK$300,000,000 at conversion
price of HK$1.0 per conversion share following the effective share
consolidation on 21 December 2023;

(vi) Approaching potential investors to raise additional funding from the
capital markets; and

(vii) The Directors of the Company anticipates that the Group will generate
positive cash flows from its operations in the foreseeable future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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The management has commenced to look into related development
opportunities such as diversified source of income and is processing the
following actions to improve the financial performance of the Group:

(i) negotiating with third parties to jointly organise music events and
produce film rights;

(ii) negotiating with third parties to invest in film rights;

(iii) revitalizing and developing the mobile application and OTT platform for
different regions; and

(iv) implementing policies to monitor cash flows through cutting costs and
capital expenditure.

Based on the Group’s cash flow projections, taking into account of
effectiveness and feasibility of the above measures covering a period of twelve
months from the end of the reporting period prepared by the management,
the Directors of the Company consider the Group would be able to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
within the forecast period. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total assets of approximately
RMB126.9 million (2022: RMB173.9 million) which were financed by current
liabilities of approximately RMB814.8 million (2022: RMB686.6 million), and
non-current liabilities of approximately RMB2.9 million (2022: RMB7.5 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and bank balances were
approximately RMB13.9 million (2022: RMB3.6 million). As at 31 December
2023, the secured bonds were fixed-rate and were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") whereas loans from other financial institution and
other borrowing were fixed-rate loan and denominated in HK$. The Group’s
borrowings were secured by property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, rights-of-use
assets, inventories, trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances and cash of the Group.

The current ratio, being a ratio of total current assets to total current
liabilities, was approximately 0.1 (2022: 0.1). The gearing ratio, being a ratio
of borrowings (comprising leases liabilities, bond payables, convertible bonds,
bank loans, loans from other financial institutions and other borrowings) to
total assets, was 280% as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 198%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year, the changes of share capital structure of the Company were as

follows:

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 19 December
2023 ("2023 EGM"), an ordinary resolution was duly passed under which every
10 existing issued and unissued ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company as of 21 December 2023 was consolidated
into 1 ordinary share of par value of HK$1.0 each (the “Share Consolidation”).
The authorized and issued share capital of the Company were reduced
after the Share Consolidation. The total number of authorised shares of the
Company decreased from 20,000,000,000 ordinary shares to 2,000,000,000
ordinary shares and the total number of issued shares decreased from
10,925,668,000 ordinary shares to 1,092,566,800 ordinary shares.

A special resolution of the capital reorganisation (comprising the capital
reduction and the share subdivision) (the “Capital Reorganisation”) had been
also passed at the 2023 EGM. However, the Capital Reorganisation is still
conditional upon the satisfaction of certain conditions as set out in the circular,
including without limitation the grant of the order by the Court and the
registration by the Registrar of Companies of the Cayman Islands. Therefore,
the Capital Reorganisation may or may not proceed. The legal advisors to
the Company (as to Cayman Islands law) will apply to the Court for hearing
date(s) to confirm the Capital Reduction and further announcements will be
made by the Company as soon as practicable after the Court hearing date(s) is

confirmed.

LITIGATIONS

I. Litigation in Relation to Statutory Demands
Reference are made to the announcements of Company dated 21
October 2019, 24 October 2019 and 28 October 2019 (the “Statutory
Demands Related Announcements”) in relation to, inter alia, the
commencement of litigations in relation to two alleged outstanding
debts.

As disclosed in the Statutory Demands Related Announcements, on
9 October 2019, a statutory demand under section 178(1)(A) of the
Ordinance (“Statutory Demand |”) was served on the Company by a
creditor (the “Creditor I”) to demand the Company to repay the alleged
outstanding debt in the amount of HK$222,707,496 (the “Debt") within
3 weeks after service of the Statutory Demand I. After the expiry of the
3-week period after the services of Statutory Demand |, the Creditor | may
present a winding-up petition against the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Creditor | has agreed that they would not present the winding-up
petition immediately if the Company could repay part of the outstanding
debt, and expected the Company to repay the remaining outstanding
debts after the completion of the connected transaction in relation
to subscription of convertible bonds under specific mandate with the
estimated gross proceeds of approximately HK$400 million as stated in
the announcement dated 24 September 2019.

As at the date of this announcement, the Company is still proactively
engaging in negotiations with Creditor | for better terms on the
repayment schedule and for the avoidance of the potential winding-
up petition. The Company is also negotiating with various other lenders
for new credit lines in order to improve the cashflow position of the
Company.

Reference are made to the announcements of Company dated 7 April
2020 and 12 May 2020 (the “2020 Statutory Demand Announcements”)
in relation to, inter alia, the commencement of litigation in relation to the
alleged outstanding debts.

As disclosed in the 2020 Statutory Demand Announcements, on
23 March 2020, a statutory demand under section 178(1)(A) of the
Ordinance (“Statutory Demand II”) was served on the Company by a
creditor (the “Creditor II") to demand the Company to repay the alleged
outstanding debt in the amount of HK$45,978,301.36 (the “Debt II")
within 3 weeks after the service of the Statutory Demand Il. After the
expiry of the 3-week period after the services of Statutory Demand II,
Creditor Il may present a winding-up petition against the Company. On
12 May 2020, the Company has reached a settlement agreement (the
“Settlement Agreement”) with the Creditor Il. Pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the Settlement Agreement, the Company shall pay and
discharge the outstanding debts to the Creditor Il in accordance with
the repayment schedule in the Settlement Agreement. As a result, the
Statutory Demand Il was withdrawn by the Creditor Il with immediate
effect. However, on 11 August 2020, the Statutory Demand Il under
the Ordinance was served on the Company by the Creditor Il again to
demand the Company to repay the outstanding debt and the accrued
interests of the Debt II.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Litigation in Relation to writ of Summons

On 22 May 2020, Asia Television Limited, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, received a writ of summons under
action number HCA 774/2020 (the “Writ of Summons”) together
with statement of claim issued in the Court of First Instance of High
Court of Hong Kong by HONG KONG SCIENCE TECHNOLOGY PARKS
CORPORATION (the “Plaintiff”) against Asia Television Limited, as
defendant (the “Defendant”). According to the Writ of Summons, the
Defendant purchased the property located at 25-37 Dai Shing Street, Tai
Po Industrial Estate, Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong (the “Property”)
in September 2005 and signed the deed of variation (the “Deed of
Variation”) with the Plaintiff. According to the Deed of Variation and
the lease documents, the Defendant must abide by certain terms when
using the Property, including only for television programme and film
production, broadcasting programme, distribution, publications, multi-
media entertainment and other related business. Otherwise, an additional
premium of HK$3,721.00 needs to be paid daily (the “Additional
Premium”), and the Plaintiff also has the right to re-enter the Property.
The Plaintiff believed that the Defendant violated the terms of the lease
documents and the Deed of Variation, so it requested the Defendant to
return the Property and recover the additional premium from 1 August
2017. The Plaintiff claims against the Defendant, among others (i) vacant
possession of the Property; (ii) additional premium at HK$3,721.00 per
day from 1 August 2017 to 22 May 2020; (iii) mesne profits from 23
May 2020 to the date of the Defendant delivers vacant possession of the
Property to the Plaintiff; (iv) costs on an indemnity basis; and (v) further or
other relief as the Court may order.

The Defendant is seeking legal advice in respect of the above proceeding
in HCA 774/2020 and would defend its position. The Company will make
further announcement(s) to update the shareholders of the Company
and the potential investors on any significant development regarding the
above claim as and when appropriate. There was no other development
for this litigation during the reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EHE R R 2 W (])

lll. Winding Up Petition

The Company received a winding up petition from FCG Venture Limited
Partnership (the “Petitioner”) issued from the High Court of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”) that the Company
may be wound up by the High Court on the ground that the Company
is unable to pay its debts of approximately HK$71,000,000 together
with interests until full payment, being the outstanding principal of
HK$50,000,000 and the accrued interests of HK$21,000,000 together
with interests until full payment. The Petitioner is a convertible bond
holder and the convertible bond bears interest at a rate of 6% per annum
with a maturity on 28 September 2023.

On 28 February 2024, the High Court ordered that the Petition be
withdrawn.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has no significant capital commitments
(2022: Nil) in respect of purchases of property, plant and equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND EXCHANGE RISK
EXPOSURE

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has no significant contingent
liabilities.

EMPLOYMENT
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had about 196 employees (2022: 118
employees) in Hong Kong and in the PRC.

Remuneration packages for the employees were maintained at a competitive
level of the jurisdiction within which the employees were employed to attract,
retain and motivate the employees and were reviewed periodically.

In addition, during the year, the Group maintained a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the eligible participants for
their contributions to the Group. The share option scheme was adopted at the
annual general meeting of the Company on 15 June 2016.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Minbin, aged 61, is currently an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board of the Company. He joined the Group in December 2022. He is
a substantial shareholder of EREFRIEAREEXEBBMR AR (the "E
FEEF ") which engaged in the retailer and wholesaler of health and personal
care products. Mr. Liu graduated from Dalian Maritime University with a
Bachelor Degree in electrical engineering (ship). He possesses over 30 years
of experiences in industrial sector, involving real estates, education, culture,
aviation, and other fields. He specialises in the formulation and development
of corporate strategic planning, corporate management, and daily operations.
Furthermore, with over 20 years of experiences in financial investment and
capital operation, Mr. Liu is well-versed with the financial markets and
capital markets domestically and overseas, in addition to relevant laws and
regulations.

Mr. Leong Wei Ping, aged 47, is currently an executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Leong joined the Group in January 2020. He holds a Bachelor
Degree of Commerce in Accounting and Finance from Curtin University of
Technology, Perth, Australia, and a Master Degree of Commerce in Accounting
and Finance, from Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia. As advised
by Mr. Leong, he started his professional career with various established
professional firms including Big Four accounting firms, KPMG. During his
tenure with these professional firms, he specialised in statutory and internal
auditing, advisory works including initial and secondary offering, domestic
and cross-border mergers and acquisitions. In addition, he regularly advised
the board of directors with respect to their fiduciary responsibilities and
corporate governance matters and he is able to contribute his corporate
expertise to the board towards continuous improvement. Mr. Leong also
has extensive experience in international business operations, particularly in
emerging markets, and a demonstrated capability in strategic planning and
organizational development.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREERCERE(R)

Mr. Sze Siu Bun, aged 56, is currently an executive Director of the Company.
He has about 23 years’ experience in printing and dyeing industry. He has
joined the Group since 2005. He is involved in the overall management of the
Group and is responsible for overseeing daily management of the Group.

Ms. Sun Tingting, aged 34, is currently an executive Director of the Company.
She joined the Group in June 2019. She is the executive associate Dean
of Beijing Institute of Applied Technology. She holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business Administration from Beijing University of Applied Technology. As
advised by Ms. Sun, she has extensive experience and networking resources in
finance, corporate governance, strategic planning and education.

Ms. Tang Po Yi, aged 31, has been appointed as an executive Director of the
Company with effect from 15 September 2021. She holds a Bachelor Degree
in Economics and Business from University College London and MSc in Political
Economy of Europe, London School of Economics and Political Science. After
graduation, Ms. Tang had been working in Deloitte Hong Kong. Ms. Tang had
joined the Group as the Business Development Manager of Asia Television
Digital Media Limited, a wholly owned company of the Group, since June 2017.
She was appointed as a non-independent non-executive director of Yong Tai
Berhad (Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, stock code: 7066) in January 2018.
Ms. Tang is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Ms. Zha Mengling, aged 33, has been appointed as an executive Director of
the Company with effect from 30 March 2023. She graduated from Swinburne
University of technology in Melbourne of Australia and obtained a Bachelor
of Commerce (Human Resource Management) degree in October 2014.
She has extensive experience in human resource management and business
development. Ms. Zha has been appointed as Fashion Accessories wholesaler
of Engelite Pty Ltd since September 2014.

Mr. Zha Xiaogang, aged 57, has been appointed as an executive Director
and co-chairman of the Company with effect from 8 December 2023. He
completed the course on Business Administration from China University of
Geosciences of China (Network Education) in July 2017. He was certified as
a Senior Economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel Department in November
2007. Mr. Zha has extensive experience in corporate strategy and business
management. From July 1986 to March 2000, he has successively served as
the workshop supervisor, branch factory director, deputy factory director and
factory director of Zhangjiagang Woolen Sweater Factory. Since April 2000,
he has been the Chairman and General Manager of Jiangsu Lianhong Textile
Company Limited.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EFREREERZEE(R)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Han Xingxing, aged 42, is currently an independent non-executive Director
of the Company, the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”) and a member of the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) of the Company. Ms. Han joined the Group in September 2015.
Ms. Han holds a bachelor degree of Information Warfare Technology from
Northwestern Polytechnical University. Ms. Han has over ten years senior
management experience in the field of information technology development
and investment. Ms. Han has been the general manager of Qianhai Honghu
Tairui Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited (B8 %48 & Is B ORI
ﬁlg /\
Technology Trading Company Limited (;
September 2012 and July 2014.

) since August 2014. She was the vice-president of Shenzhen Bio

AT EAERE 5B R AF]) between

Mr. Li Yu, aged 51,
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination

is currently an independent non-executive Director, the

Committee and the Audit Committee. Mr. Li obtained a Master in Business
Administration from Asia Metropolitan University. Mr. Li had been working as
a journalist and editor in various multi-media institutions and companies. From
2007 to 2012, Mr. Li served as the deputy general manager in Guangzhou Jiadi
Culture Communication Co., Ltd (BINETHX(LEEBRQF)
Mr. Li focused on participating in social cultural development and investment

. Subsequently,

management business. Mr. Li has extensive experience in corporate culture
development, brand promotion as well as corporate sales and marketing

management.

Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William, aged 42, is currently an independent non-
executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Lau joined the Group in December 2022. Mr. Lau has over 14
years of experience in accounting, finance, and consulting. Mr. Lau has been
an independent non-executive director of Huisen Household International
Group Limited (Stock code: 2127) from 2 December 2020 to 7 April 2022. Mr.
Lau has been an independent non-executive director of Flying Financial Service
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8030) from 11 March 2022 to 5 December 2022.
Mr. Lau became a member of the CPA Australia in December 2010, a member
of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants in July 2012 and an
associate of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants in June 2011.
He obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business (Accountancy) and a degree of
Master of Business (Marketing) from the Queensland University of Technology
in October 2002 and October 2003 respectively. Mr. Lau has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Zhengwei Group Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 2147) since December 2022.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREERCERE(R)

Mr. Lu Zhigiang, aged 48, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 8 December 2023.
He graduated from Aviation Engineering Institutes of Nanchang (currently
known as Nanchang Hangkong University) of China with a bachelor’s degree
in Forging Technology and Equipment in July 1997. He obtained a master
degree of Business Administration from Central State University of the United
States of America in February 2002. He awarded the degree of the Master of
Science in Supply Chain and Purchasing Management organised by Audencia
NANTES.Ecole de Management in April 2003. He was an Rajawali Foundation
Institute for Asia Fellow of Harvard University of the United States of America
from August 2018 to July 2020. He has extensive experience in corporate
management and investment. From January 2017 to January 2020, Mr. Lu
served as an executive director of Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited
(stock code: 858), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Currently, He
is an independent non-executive Director of Leoch International Technology
Limited (stock code: 842), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. He is also an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Hong Kong Life Sciences and Technologies Group Limited (stock
code: 8085), the shares of which were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
but were delisted on 14 September 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wei Gang, aged 63, has been appointed as the chief executive officer of
the Company with effect from 10 November 2023. He completed the course
on Industrial Styling Design from Changchun Normal College in July 1985. Mr.
Wei has extensive experience in corporate strategy, consulting management,
mergers and acquisitions, and business management. From August 1985
to February 1989, he has worked as a staff of the Publishing Management
Office of Jilin Provincial Press and Publication Bureau. From February 1989 to
June 1997, he has successively served as the editor, deputy supervisor and
supervisor of the album editing room of Jilin Fine Arts Publishing. From July
1997 to July 2002, he has worked as a supervisor of the editorial department
and marketing manager of Youth Development Foundation of the Communist
Youth of Sanchen Cartoon Group Co., Ltd. From July 2002 to July 2004, he has
worked as the chief marketing officer of 21CN Cybernet Corporation Limited
(currently known as Alibaba Health Information Technology Limited) (stock
code: 241), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
From August 2004 to May 2009, he has worked as the chief executive officer
of Beijing Zhongka Century Education Technology Co., Ltd. From June 2009 to
December 2013, he has worked as the senior partner of Hejun Venture Capital
Group. From January 2014 to December 2015, he has worked as a partner of
DFJ China Fund. From January 2016 to February 2021,
chairman of Australian Tourism and Culture Group. Since March 2022, he has

he has worked as the

joined the Group by working as the chief executive officer of ATV Future Digital
Media (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements. Further discussion of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely
future development in the Group's business, can be found in the Management
Discussion and Analysis set out in pages 9 to 26 of this annual report. This
discussion forms part of this Report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in pages 100 to 101 of this
annual report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year (2022: Nil) and the Directors do
not recommend a payment of final dividend for the year (2022: Nil).

There is no arrangement under which a shareholder has waived or agreed to
waive any dividend.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s convertible bonds, share capital
and share options and during the year are set out in notes 27, 29 and 30
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of other equity-linked agreements are included in the section “Share
Option Scheme” contained in this Report of the Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company does not have reserve available for
distribution. Under the Company Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company
may make distributions to its members out of the share premium in certain
circumstances subject to the provisions of the articles of association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EFEREHE)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed securities held for trading, at fair value

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held listed securities held for trading at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately RMB14,008,000, particulars
of which are set out below:

No of shares

BAVEFABRRZUBEE
FEEE 2 RS (RAFES)

RZE_=ZF+_A=+—H8 AEEHEEA
FEFAABREZHEEBEZ LTEHFHARE

14,008,000 * BEAFEHINOT -

Unrealised loss

held by on change in
the Group fair value for
as at % of Market the year ended
31 December  share capital value at 31 December % of
2023 owned by 31 December 2023 the Group's
rEE the Group 2023 BE-Z-=F total assets
RZBZ=F AKE R-Z-=f +ZA=t-H HAEE
Stock code Name of Securities +=A=t+-8 BEN +TZA=1+-B LEENKER HEE
BRI EEEH FENRGHEE RABA WhE ATFEZDER BAL
(Note 1) (Note 1)
(Hizt1) (Hizt1)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFr AREFr
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad,  Yong Tai Berhad 27,364,200 7.23% 12,514 4,140 9.86%
stock code: 7066 KAEE ordinary shares
SRABEES R HHAMIARSE - 27,364,2008%
7066 EER
Other listed securities held for 1,494 611 1.18%
trading, at fair value
HihEEE FTES
(BAFE)
Total 14,008 4,751 11.04%
w@st
Notes: Htat
1. The carrying amount, market value as at 31 December 2023, unrealized losson 1. EXRWEEE R-_ZT-_=F+_A=+—-HKMH

change in fair value and the percentage of the Group’s total assets in the the above
table have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly figures shown as

totals may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures preceding them.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Investment strategy

The Group will adopt preservation strategies to meet the challenges posted
by the market to improve the performance and maximize the returns of
shareholders as a whole.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers accounted
for approximately 54.9% of the Group’s total turnover, and sales to the
largest customer included therein accounted for approximately 19.9% of the
Company’s total sales.

Aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 41.8% of the Group's total purchases, and purchases from
the largest supplier included therein accounted for approximately 13.4% of the
Company'’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders, which to
the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s total
number of issued shares, had a beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five
largest suppliers and customers.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out in page 236 of the annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EFEHE(R)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Liu Minbin (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Zha Xiaogang (Co-Chairman)
(appointed on 8 December 2023)
Mr. Leong Wei Ping RIEEFF 5 A *
Mr. Chan Wai Kit (resigned on 30 March 2023)
Mr. Sze Siu Bun
Ms. Sun Tingting
Ms. Tang Po Yi
Ms. Zha Mengling (appointed on 30 March 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Ms. Han Xingxing

Mr. Li Yu

Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William

Mr. Lu Zhigiang (appointed on 8 December 2023)

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Articles of Association.

As at the date of this report, Mr. Zha Xiaogang and Mr. Lu Zhigiang who were
appointed as Directors of the Company on 8 December 2023, shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance with Article 86(3) of the
Articles of Association, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election of
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In addition, in accordance with Article 87(1) and (2) of the Articles of
Association, Ms. Tang Po Yi, Mr. Sze Siu Bun and Ms. Sun Tingting will retire
from the Board at the forthcoming annual general meeting, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

None of the Directors has entered or has proposed to enter into any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of compensation
other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the period under review.

* for identification only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 27 to 30 of this

annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors or
chief executives of the Company or their associates in any shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Cap. 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

EFEHRE)

EECEE

EREVREFBERNAFRF27E30H -

EERRSTHRAEZES
RIBZ=F+-A=+—H0  BERAQAKEE
EHIFRSTIBRZ KRB G ([ESRBAE %D
FEIGMEMFE 2 ELMARLE  FRE LT
BRI ERCIPAH 2 LT BT AERETESRRHH
ST A (MRETA ) MAMG AR B R FTZ
BE ARFEEFRRTRAERBENBREA
ITRARBREBBEE(RE S RAEEHEXV
Mz ER)NEMMRL - BERD RERETER
EfER KR - TR

Approximate percentage
of the issued share
capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2023

Total Interests (%)
held EARARR=E==F
Capacity in which (Note 1) +ZA=+—H
Name of Director the Interests are held Nature of Interest Bk BRITRAZHEABTIL
EEong BEEZZSH EEtHE (Bat1) (%)
Leong Wei Ping Beneficial owner Underlying Interest (Note 2) 2,900,000 (L) 0.27
RETYH ExERA TR (f712)
Sun Tingting Beneficial owner Underlying Interest (Note 2) 2,900,000 (L) 0.27
Figte EREAA TR (M 52)
Tang Po Yi Beneficial owner Underlying Interest (Note 2) 2,900,000 (L) 0.27
HER ExERA TR (f712)
Liu Minbin Beneficial Owner Ordinary shares of HK$1 each (Note 3) 183,713,200 (L) 16.81
2508 ERBAA FREE BT ERRAE3)
Notes: BisE
1. The letters “L” and “S” denote long position and short position in the shares of the 1. [LIR TSIFARRERARBRMND ZI1F B RAE -
Company respectively.
2. Being unlisted physical settled share options to acquire ordinary Shares, further 2. ENEELT BRI ELTEYEEBRE - &P

details of which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

3. These 183,713,200 shares owned by Mr. Liu Minbin as beneficial owner.

* for identification only

TEHN T [RBRAR R &) | — 47

3. G e 4 B5%183,713,200 80 2 BB A ©

* EHER)
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EFEREHE)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), (a)
which had been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
(b) which were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or (c) as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S
INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or a controlling shareholder of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at
the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company has taken out appropriate insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers for protection against potential legal actions. The Board shall
review the insurance policy every year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors have an interest in any business constituting a competing
business to the Group.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the current independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation in respect of his/her independence
during the year pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. All the current
independent non-executive Directors have confirmed that they have been and
are independent since their appointment and as of the date of this annual
report.

BMIAEFRBEEEN R-BE-_=F+_-A=+—
A BEEFRAQAESTHRABRARFHE
FEEE AR (EERESRAEKGIEXVE) ZFE
Ik - BERMDKEREF RS ()IREFH LS
EIRBIEXVEET R8N FBME AR R R
EfEESAR (RERSREZFRBEEZ
BRKXEERERARBNRERAR) - b)K
NRBEFEF KA GAIEI2EMEFE 2 B LM
Frasg 2 s sA B - (ORI ESFRIZAH
SARRB R R 2 EAERIAE ©

EERERBRRARERAHZE
m

RARLEERMERRRBEITLAAREEHE
RN EP BRI HEREREERERMNFLE A
MARERZEREL -

R ZMIERX
ARFEAEFRBMABRBABRRARBE
ERITDRIRN - EERATTERAMRE -

EERBREEBER
SEEMERRAREBAET 2 EAEBIEE
s -

BYFPTES 22BN

AAREERERREBLIFNTESRIELTRA
E3BRZAERFAREBLINHBLZFE
BRE - 2RREBUFNTEFCHERREEE
ZEZHARELINAFRAHA—ERMB A ITEEL
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, to the best knowledge of the Company, the
following persons (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company)
had, or were deemed or taken to have interests and/or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company, which would be required to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

EFEHRE)

FERR

R-TE-_=F+=-A=+—8 ' A2 7HM "

TAT(ERAREZHLZRTHAERINRAR

E’]H%"i*ﬁ%ﬁ%f"ﬁﬁlTﬁﬁi%&%ﬁ%%%&aﬂ‘ﬁ%ﬁ%

=R B AR %&%@E%WU%XV*B%Z
R3D Bz EX AR RBZABERESIZAD

$Eé?)§a5%&,ﬁﬁh 154515336 \%2,\TEZ§‘;.EH%.:E§5‘

Approximate
percentage of

the issued share
capital of the
Company as a

31 December 2023

*

(%)
(Note 8)
LN
RZBZ=fF
Capacity in which Total Interests held +=ZA=+-H
Name of substantial the Interests (Note 1) ERTREZ
shareholder are held Nature of Interest =AY £ BB D (%)
TERRZBE/EB BEERZEH BEHE (Higt1) (F1i28)
Deng Junjie Interest of Controlled Ordinary shares of 77,008,400 (L) 7.05
Corporation HK$1 each
A ZEERER SREEVETZ SRR
Honghu Capital Beneficial Owner Ordinary shares of 77,008,400 (L) 7.05
(Note 2) HK$1 each
EREX(MH2) BREAA SREEVETZ SRR
Ma Fai (“Mr. Ma") Interest of Controlled Ordinary shares of 181,500,000 (L) 16.61
Corporation HK$1 each
BRIEEED ZEEEER SREEVETZ SRR
China Special Economic Zone Beneficial Owner Ordinary shares of 181,500,000 (L) 16.61
Development Limited HK$1 each
("CSEZD") (Note 3)
THEERRERARAF BREAA BREBIVETZEER
([HESBER]) (HH3)
FCG Venture Limited Partnership Beneficial Owner Underlying interest (Note 4) 150,000,000 (L) 13.73

Fund (“FCG Venture”)
BEHEERAREAS
(TeE#E])

for identification only

ERREA

B R (M)

> EHES
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EREHER)

Approximate
percentage of

the issued share
capital of the
Company as a

31 December 2023

(%)
(Note 8)
LN
R-BZZH
Capacity in which Total Interests held +=ZA=+-H
Name of substantial the Interests (Note 1) ERITREZ
shareholder are held Nature of Interest =AY £ BB D(%)
TERRZHE /BB HEERZHH BEHE (Hist1) (Hiits)
YG Capital Management Limited Investment Manager Underlying interest (Note 5) 150,000,000 (L) 13.73
("YG Capital”)
—EEAREBRERAT RERKE BB (Hat5)
([—fE&XK])
Opportunity Venture (Asia) Limited ~ General Partner Underlying interest (Note 6) 150,000,000 (L) 13.73
("Opportunity Venture”)
BBEXR(TEMERDA EEET TN MR (fite)
([HBER(TM)])
Oriental Textile Products Limited Beneficial Owner Ordinary shares of HK$1 each (Note 7) 110,000,000 (L) 10.06

RAHBERDA BREAA BREEBVETZ ERR(W7)
Notes: Btat -
1. The letters “L” and “S" denote long position and short position in the shares of the 1. [LIRTSIFEDRIRKRRARBRMD ZFE AR °

Company respectively.

2. Honghu Capital is wholly-owned and beneficially owned by Mr. Deng Junjie. 2. BRERHEBEANLELEEEREA -

3. CSEZD is an investment holding company incorporated under the laws of Hong 3. FREESREE—BRESSEETMERINIEE
Kong, 100% of the issued share capital is directly held by Build Rise Capital HRAT  EEBITRANI100% HIZHEEARER

Group Limited (“Build Rise”). Build Rise, a company incorporated in Republic of ﬁﬁﬁ (g | aEREEs  EEER—RHEES

Seychelles, is wholly-owned by Mr. Ma. Accordingly, Build Rise and Mr. Ma are
deemed to be interested in the 181,500,000 Shares held by CSEZD by virtue of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance.

On 28 December 2020, Opportunity Venture, as the General Partner of FCG
Venture, acquired the convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$150,000,000 at the Conversion Price of HK$0.1 per Conversion Share at a
consideration of HK$150 million.

YG Capital is the investment manager of FCG Venture, and YG Capital is
approximately 66.67% beneficially owned by Yplison Asset Management (Cayman)
Limited (“Yplison Asset Management”). Therefore, both YG Capital and Yplison
Asset Management are deemed to have an interest in the underlying shares in
which FCG Venture has invested.

ASIATELEVISION HOLDINGSLIMITED | E i ER Z R B R 2 |

HMBEEMATHAR  HEEE2EHE - B
tt REBE(EHFRBEEN)  FREELERRA
HHBAPBELERFRRE181,500,0008% A% (5 &)
WS o

RZZT_TF+-A=+N\B #EBER(EN)
BIERBY TBABA - ABREHIRG0.1ETH
R (E U A& 4585 150,000,0007% 7T A A #2 A%
&% + {8/5150,000,000/ T °

—EEAREBIEHEZIRELE M —EEERLY
66.67% E Yplison Asset Management (Cayman)
Limited ([ Yplison Asset Management ) E 254 -
At — {5 & AR K Yplison Asset Management¥#45
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

6. Opportunity Venture is the General Partner of FCG Venture, and Opportunity
Venture are 50% owned by Mr. Cheung Wai On Simon (“Mr. Cheung”) and 50%
owned by Ms. Chan Wah Man Carman (“Ms. Chan”). Therefore, Opportunity
Venture, Mr. Cheung and Ms. Chan are deemed to have an interest in the
underlying shares in which FCG Venture has invested.

7. Oriental Textile Products Limited is an investment holding company incorporated
under the laws of Hong Kong, 100% of the issued share capital is directly held by
Zhang Jingyuan. Accordingly, Zhang Jingyuan is deemed to be interested in the
110,000,000 Shares held by Oriental Textile Products Limited by virtue of the SFO.

8. As at 31 December 2023, the number of issued ordinary shares of the Company
was 1,092,566,800.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors were not
aware of any persons who/entities which had any interest or short position in
the Shares and underlying Shares, which were required to be recorded in the
register at interests of the substantial shareholders required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who work for the interests of the
Group.

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted at the
annual general meeting of the Company (the “2016 AGM") on 15 June 2016.
The Share Option Scheme became valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing from the date of the 2016 AGM. Eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme include (a) full time or part time employees of our Group
(including any Directors or directors of any subsidiary or any invested entity);
(b) any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents, advisers, service providers;
and (c) any person who, in the sole discretion of the board of directors, has
contributed or may contribute to the Group. The Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date it was
adopted. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately 2
years.

EFEHRE)

6. HWBER(TEMN AfERBZ EREEA  Mikd
BAR(EM)50%HRERTEE(RESE]) R50%
HREGLT (Rt )ERER  ARKBER
(M) ~ REARBRLZLHER BN EIE KBTI
B2 BERD P EA R

7. BHHBERAR A HEBREESAETMAL
B EERDF  H100% M E FHITRANH RS M
TEBEEER - Bt - RIBCEHF RIS EG) -
REREEHERRARRRAGBERARMER
110,000,000/ A& {7 A #E A #E 4 o

8. RZZE-_=F+-_A=+—8 ' ARRINEEITY
B4 H A1,092,566,8000% °

B EXHEEEN BE_TE_=F+_A=+—
A #FUTHAREMAL ERRREZS LD
BEPIE3BRARKEARAEAFENTIERR
B RO M O R 25 O B0 SRABRE AL D AR B (E (T B

NN
KB o

fBRESE
ARFR BRI 8 - MR AKEEY T
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EFEHE(R)

An offer of the grant of any option under the Share Option Scheme may
be accepted within 21 business days from the date of grant together with
a remittance of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof. No
option shall be granted to any eligible person if any further grant of options
would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such person in the 12 months period up to and
including such further grant would exceed 1% of the total number of shares
in issue, unless such further grant has been duly approved by the Company’s
shareholders in general meeting.

The exercise price of the option shall be determined at the discretion of
the board of directors which shall be not less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 99,256,680 shares, being 10.0% of
992,566,800 shares in issue as at the date of approval of the Refreshment on
21 July 2021.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of securities available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme pursuant to its terms was 99,256,680 Shares,
representing in aggregate approximately 9.08% of the Company’s issued share
capital.

40 ASIA TELEVISION HOLDINGS LIMITED | = i &
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ERTHER)

Details of the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme for the #HE_Z_=F+_-A=+—HILFE - BEERK
year ended 31 December 2023 were as follows: HERTEIR LB BT

Number of share options

BREYE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1 January 31 December
2023 2023
Bz Granted Exercised Lapsed BZE
—EC-=E during during during —EC-=H
Name Date of grant —H—H the period the period the period +=A=+—H
] A i RATE HREH HRTE HREY e RATE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Leong Wei Ping 21 May 2021 2,900,000 = = S 2,900,000
REIP K —Z-—-FRA=1+—AH
Mr. Chan Wai Kit 21 May 2021 2,900,000 - - 2,900,000 -
BRIEHTE “E--FRA-1+—H
Ms. Sun Tingting 21 May 2021 2,900,000 - - - 2,900,000
Bislg i+ —Z-—-FRA=1+—H
Ms. Tang Po Yi 21 May 2021 2,900,000 - - - 2,900,000
HEhat —Z-—-FRA=1+—H
Sub-total 11,600,000 - - 2,900,000 8,700,000
NEt
Employees in aggregate 21 May 2021 5,800,000 - - - 5,800,000
EE& 2 -FRA-t+—H
Total 17,400,000 - - 2,900,000 14,500,000
st

Note: The Share Consolidation became effective on 21 December 2023 and leaded Kt - BROABHR-ZZBZ=F+A=+—RH&EH &

to adjustments to the exercise price and/or the number of Shares falling to be BATIE(E R/ AR B BB AR 5 8 2 IR R AR 1T
issued upon exercise of the outstanding options in accordance with the terms and RITEERERERITHRMEE LA -

conditions of the Share Option Scheme.
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EFEREHE)

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Share Option Scheme”, at no time during
the year was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or the chief executives
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, and neither the
Directors nor the chief executives, nor any of their spouses or children under
the age of 18, had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or
any had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Remuneration for each of the Directors are determined based on, among
others, emoluments paid by comparable companies, his/her time of
commitment and responsibilities towards the Company and whether the
remuneration package is competitively attractive to retain him/her as director.

There were no compensation paid during the financial year or receivable by
Directors or past Directors for the loss of office as a director of any member of
the Group or of any other office in connection with the management of the
affairs of any member of the Group distinguishing between contractual and
other payments.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group's qualifying employees in Hong Kong participate in the Mandatory
Provident Fund (the “MPF") in Hong Kong.

The assets of the MPF are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of trustee. The Group and each of the employees make
monthly mandatory contributions to the MPF schemes.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to
the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Directors and based
on the information publicly available to the Company, there is a sufficient
public float as required by the Listing Rules.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the reporting period ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries, had repurchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed
shares.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of
Directors are set out below:

1. Mr. Chan Wai Kit has resigned as an executive Director and one of the
Authorised Representatives of the Company with effect from 30 March
2023.

2. Ms. Tang Po Yi has been appointed as one of the Authorised
Representatives of the Company with effect from 30 March 2023.

Save for the above, there is no other change in information of the Directors as
at the date of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. Other than the Loans under the Loan Agreements,
the Group did not have other transactions constitutes connected or
continuing connected transactions of the Company which are not exempt
from the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY
1. Objective
1.1 The objective of the Company’s dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) is to allow Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future
growth.
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EFEHE(R)

2. Factors to be considered

2. EZEMER

2.1 The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends 21 BREBAHGEREMARAEEAEER
to the Shareholders, subject to the Articles of Association and all FERETHIREE  EFARBER
applicable laws and regulations and the factors set out below. IR RIRERES -

() The Board shall consider the following factors of the Group () EZEFEATRFEZREREF
before declaring or recommending dividends: JEEREAEEMUTHEZE

the Group’s results of operations and cash flows; REFERKEEENE S
m

the Group’s future prospects; REBEXREFR

general business conditions; —RREFBAMR

the Group’s capital requirements and surplus; AEENEREZEXRNA
7

contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends AR B ) A% ER sk B B A A

by the Company to its Shareholders or by subsidiaries MARAXNEREHE L

to the Company; R

taxation considerations; HIEEE

possible effects on the Company’s creditworthiness; AREHARNTNEEES
R E

statutory and regulatory restrictions; and ETEFEE RS AN

any other factors the Board may deem relevant. EEgA R AEENE
A EMFEZE -

(i) Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the iy  REBAREBOM SRR g
conditions and factors as set out above, dividends may be HREZ BEGREMBFE
proposed and/or declared by the Board for a financial year s HREE R HREIREE
or period:

. interim dividend; o HHIRE
. final dividend; . REARR S,
. special dividend; and o FRIRE A
. any distribution of net profits that the Board may e EHEFFHRABEEMNE
deem appropriate. AFFE A A
3. Review of the Dividend Policy 3. REBEz®E

3.1 The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time 3.1 ESCREERERTRRITARKRE

to time. BR ©
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DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend (2022: Nil) for
the year.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 21 June
2024 to Wednesday, 26 June 2024 (both days inclusive) for the purpose
of determining shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. In order to qualify for attending and
voting at the annual general meeting, all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificate must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar and
transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 20 June
2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
although there are no restrictions against such rights under company laws in
the Cayman Islands.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are set out in
the section “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 47 to 61 of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Details of the Company’s environmental policy and performance are set out in
the section “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 62 to 93
of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Details of events after the reporting period are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established by the Board with written terms of
reference which are consistent with the provisions set out in the relevant
section of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held
three meetings to consider, among other things, the financial reporting
matters. The Audit Committee is principally responsible for reviewing the
Company’s accounting principles and practices, discussing audit findings, risk
management and internal controls, and financial reporting matters with the
management of the Company. As at the date of this annual report, the Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Lau Jing Yeung William (as chairman), Ms. Han Xingxing, and Mr. Li Yu.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EFEHE(R)

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee is of the opinion that the preparation of such results are in
compliance with the relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations and
that adequate disclosures have been made.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules (the "CG
Code”) and are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. Under its amended terms of reference dated 1 January 2019,
the Audit Committee is required, amongst other things, (1) to oversee the
relationship with the external auditors, (2) to review the Group's preliminary
results, interim results and annual financial statements, (3) to monitor the
integrity of the financial statements of the Group, (4) to review the scope,
extent and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system, internal audit
and risk management matters, and (5) to review the Group's financial and
accounting policies.

AUDITOR

An nomination proposal will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint KTC Partners CPA Limited as auditor of
the Company.

The Company has changed its external auditors on 17 January 2023. For

details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 17 January
2023.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Liu Minbin
Co-Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance standard
and procedures to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure
in the interest of its shareholders. The corporate governance principles of the
Company emphasise a quality board, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs management
of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to ensuring that its objectives
are met. The Board is committed to maintaining and developing robust
corporate governance practices that are intended to ensure (i) satisfactory and
sustainable returns to Shareholders; (ii) that the interests of those who deal
with the Company are safeguarded; (iii) that overall business risk is understood
and managed appropriately; (iv) the delivery of high-quality products and
services to the satisfaction of customers; and (v) that high standards of ethics

are maintained.

Recognizing the importance of a publicly listed company’s responsibilities
to enhance its transparency and accountability, the Group is committed to
achieving high standards of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the principles and
code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to review such
practices from time to time to ensure that they comply with the CG Code and
align with the latest developments.

The Directors are in the opinion that the Company has complied with the
applicable code provisions in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERELHS(R)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance. The
management are delegated with the authority and responsibilities by the Board
for the day-to-day management and operations of the Group. In addition, the
Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees.
Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information in relation
to the Company as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”), if and when required, with a view to
ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. There are established procedures for Directors to seek independent
professional advice for them to discharge their duties and responsibilities at the
Company'’s expenses, where appropriate.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, training
and continuous professional development of Directors, and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with respect of the code provision in the CG Code and
disclosures in this report.

Composition

The Board currently comprises seven executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors from different business and professional fields. The
Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business and professional expertise, experiences and
independent judgement to the Board for its efficient and effective delivery of
the Board function.

The compositions of the Directors in office during the year and up to the date
of this annual report are set out in the “Report of the Directors” on page 34 of
this annual report.

The Board is principally responsible for formulating business strategies and
monitoring the performance of the business of the Group. The Board decides
on corporate strategies, approves overall business plans, evaluates the
Group's financial performance and management and reviews the financial
and internal control system. Other than the daily operational decisions which
are delegated to the management of the Group, most of the decisions are
taken by the Board. Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the Group's
management include the implementation of strategies approved by the
Board, the monitoring of operating budgets, the implementation of internal
control procedures and the ensuring of compliance with relevant statutory
requirements and other rules and regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Chairmen, Chief Executive Officer and Directors

At the date of the report, Mr. Liu Minbin and Mr. Zha Xiaogang are the Co-
Chairman of the Board and Mr. Wei Gang is the chief executive officer of the
Company (the "Chief Executive Officer”). The roles of the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer are served by different individuals to achieve a balance
of authority and power. The main responsibility of the Chairman are to lead
the Board and manage its work to ensure that it effectively operates and
fully discharges its responsibilities. Supported by the members of committees
of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group's business, recommending strategies to the Board,
and determining and implementing operational decisions.

Directors’ and Officer’s Insurance

The Company has purchased the directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for
the members of the Board for the year to provide protection against potential
claims arising from the lawful discharge of duties by the Directors.

Non-Executive Directors

All the existing independent non-executive Directors were appointed for a
specific term. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term, subject to
renewal, retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Confirmation of Independence

Throughout the period and up to the date of this report, the Company
has complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10 of the Listing Rules.
It requires that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has received written annual
confirmation from each independent non-executive Director of their
independence pursuant to the requirements of rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. As such, all independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERELHS(R)

Mechanism for ensuring independent views and input
The Board has in place a mechanism for ensuring independent views and input
are available to the Board. The Board currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors. They have full and timely access to the Group's
information, and are entitled to seek advice from the company secretary as well
as independent professional advisers at the Company’s expenses in appropriate
circumstances. These independent non-executive Directors provide a balance
in the Board, bring in view and opinion independent of the executive Directors
and the management, and oversee the Group's operation and corporate
action.

Periodic review and evaluation are also being conducted to assess the Board
and management’s performance, monitoring and enhancing the effectiveness
of the Company’s governance structure and mechanism.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract or letter of appointment with the Company for
a specific term. Such term is subject to her/his re-appointment by the Company
at an annual general meeting upon such Director’s retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and offering herself/himself for re-election.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election and any Director appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election. Also, pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, at least one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if
their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

Compliance with the Model Code for Directors’ Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
its model code for securities transactions by Directors. Having made specific
enquiries, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code during the period ended 31 December 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Directors’ continuous training and development

The Directors are committed to comply with the CG Code C.1.4 concerning
continuous professional development and understand the importance to
constantly enhance and refresh their knowledge and skills. In this connection,
the Directors have attended formal training seminars and/or study related
materials relevant to directors’ duties and responsibilities during the year. All
Directors have confirmed that they have met the minimum requirements under
the CG Code C.1.4 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and provided such
training record to the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of Directors’ and the Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration are set out
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Accordingly to Code E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of other
members of senior management (other than Directors) by band for the year

ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration bands
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the following Board committees to oversee the
particular aspects of the Group’s affairs.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERELHS(R)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with, where applicable, the CG Code of the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William and with
Ms. Han Xingxing, and Mr. Li Yu as members. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are, among others, to review the financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control system of the Group, to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditors, to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditors, to review and monitor the external
auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standard, and to review the annual and
interim financial statements and accounting policies of the Group. The Audit
Committee meets at least twice a year to carry out the aforesaid primary duties.
Minutes of the meetings are kept by the Company Secretary of the Company
at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong.

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and their attendance
were as follows:
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Meeting attended/
Eligible to attend

Independent Non-Executive directors EHEZEE
BUKHITES HEERHEZER
Ms. Han Xingxing BEEL 3/3
Mr. Li Yu $£ﬁ$ 3/3
Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William BIEHEE 3/3
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with, where applicable, the CG Code of the Listing
Rules. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Li Yu and with Ms. Han Xingxing
and Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William as members. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are, among others, to make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management remuneration and to determine with delegated
responsibility the remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management. In fulfilling the functions, the Remuneration Committee will
take into consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
respective time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and senior
management and whether the remuneration packages are competitively
attractive to retain the Directors and senior management. The Remuneration
Committee meets at any time when necessary and desirable to carry out the
aforesaid duties but in any event at least once a year. Minutes of the meeting
are kept by the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the year and their
attendance were as follows:
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Meeting attended/
Eligible to attend

Independent Non-Executive directors EHEZEE
BUKHITES HEERHEZER
Mr. Li Yu FTREE 5/5
Ms. Han Xingxing BEELTL 5/5
Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William BIEHEE 5/5
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERELHS(R)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with, where applicable, the CG Code of the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors and is chaired by Ms. Han Xingxing and with Mr. Li Yu and
Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William as members. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are, among others, to review the composition of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorship. With a view to achieving and maintaining a sustainable and
balanced development, the Company sees diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. The Nomination Committee meets at any time when necessary
and desirable to carry out the aforesaid duties but in any event at least once
a year. Minutes of the meeting are kept by the Company Secretary at the
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the CG Code, listed issuers are required to adopt a board diversity
policy. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development of
our Group. In designing the Board’'s composition, board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board
Diversity Policy is reviewed annually by the Nomination Committee, and where
appropriate, revisions will be made with the approval from the Board.

The members of the Nomination Committee during the year and their
attendance were as follows:
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Independent Non-Executive directors CSHEzEE
BUKHTES HEERLEEZEE
Ms. Han Xingxing BEELT 5/5
Mr. Li Yu FEREE 5/5
Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William BlFmEE 5/5
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Nomination Policy and Procedure

The Board should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. To
ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, there should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans
in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical
review of such plans. The appointment of a new director (to be an additional
director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment of
directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation of the
proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall
be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the effective
carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out

as follows:

(@)  participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conducts;

(b)  taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(¢)  serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for non-executive
director) and other relevant Board Committees, if invited;

(d)  bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board,
giving the Board and any committees on which he or she serves the
benefit of his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and
qualifications and diversity through attendance and participation in the
Board/committee meetings;

(e)  scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance;

(f)  ensuring the committees on which he or she serves to perform their
powers and functions conferred on them by the Board; and

(g) conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
constitutional documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or
the Listing Rules, where appropriate.
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Gender diversity in the workforce

As at 31 December 2023, among our workforce (including senior
management), 69.4% are male and 30.6% are female. We advocate in
creating a diverse and respectful working environment, oppose any form
of discrimination, and strive to provide an inclusive, safe, diverse and anti-
discriminatory work environment for employees of all backgrounds. We treat
candidates and employees with equal respect regardless of race, gender,
age and marital status, and consider only their ability and suitability for the
position, and are committed to ensuring that the recruitment and promotion
process is free from discrimination. Notwithstanding the fact that we have not
set a measurable objective for achieving gender diversity at the workforce level,
the Company is committed to the approach based on merits and diversity,
aiming to provide equal consideration and opportunities to all qualified
candidates regardless of gender in terms of hiring and promotion process.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board holds at least four meetings in a financial year and meets at any
other times as and when required, among others, to review financial and
internal control, risk management, corporate governance, company strategy
and operating performance of the Group. Minutes of the Board meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary for record and are available for inspection by
the Directors and auditors of the Company.

The individual attendance record of each Director in office during the year
ended 31 December 2023 at the Board meetings and general meetings is set
out below:

EENHRIZ Tt
R-ZB-=F+-A=+—0 BRaLEEEN
BEET  69.4% 5B 30.6% AL - HFIH
hiTE—EZ TR EREEMNTERE  BREAH
BRNEE  ATESSHNEERE—MBAEE - %
2 ZRNRREGHIERE - BHTSHEME
RIBAREES - THEERER - 45 - Fit RERM
EmEANHT  EEREEIRETESZBRA -
BHNBREELEAREFARTIEMN - AR
MEREBE®R L28 —@AI 2052 Tk B
2 EBAARARELEEBIHUIERBALRAREZT
bR - B ERAREANARES - Tkl
MEEEBARRRHRIEHRS -

EXZEERRRRAE
EFENEEAVBREFERLBITORGE  TEN
BRETRINEGE  NW(EPEE) RN AEEZ
PR MRS - RRER - REER - A ERE
REERE -EFQERLCBARANMERTF - T
HEERARBREEEA -

REE-ZT-=F+-_A=T—HIFEERAZE
EENEFTERARRARGZHEBEBRETI
T~

Meetings attended/
Eligible to attend

CHEZEE
BEEREEZEE
Board General
Name of Directors Meetings Meetings
EEHE EEgg; BRRXE
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Leong Wei Ping I FF 5L 4 * Leong Wei Ping 232 ¥ 9 4 * 18/18 272
Mr. Chan Wai Kit PR (& i 55 A
(resigned on 30 March 2023) (R=—FE-—=F=H=+HEHF) 2/3 0/0
Mr. Sze Siu Bun D S A 18/18 2/2
Ms. Sun Tingting Rigfg i+ 14/18 2/2
Ms. Tang Po Yi BE s+ 18/18 2/2
Mr. Liu Minbin (Co-Chairman) B\GOR I L (BT ) 18/18 1/2
Ms. Zha Mengling B2RLT
(appointed on 30 March 2023) (R-—FE-—=F=HA=+HEZ(F) 12/14 12
Mr. Zha Xiaogang (Co-Chairman) B/\BIEAE (B EEE)
(appointed on 8 December 2023) (RZE-_=F+_ANHEZT) 2/2 iVAl

56 ASIA TELEVISION HOLDINGSLIMITED | E H ER Z R AR 2 7



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRSE ()

Meetings attended/
Eligible to attend

EHEZEE
HeERLEEZES
Board General
Name of Directors Meetings Meetings
EENA EEgak BRERE
Independent Non-Executive Directors: BYFHTES:
Ms. Han Xingxing BEERLT 18/18 12
Mr. Li Yu FERE 18/18 22
Mr. Lau Jing Yeung William BIFimEE 18/18 2/2
Mr. Lu Zhigiang 5%%@5‘695
(appointed on 8 December 2023) (R=ZF=Z=FF+=ANHEZF) 172 171
All current Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with ~ FTBBRTEEHEETASERMAGH TETZR
the Articles of Association. JE °
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS EEERBAE
The Company has not set up a corporate governance committee. However, the AR RWERIPEELREE S - A EEED

Board has adopted the written terms of reference on Corporate Governance in
compliance with the CG Code of the Listing Rules and the Board is responsible
for performing the corporate governance duties set out therein. The Board
has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the Company’s code of conduct and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tang Yiu Kay resigned as the Company Secretary of the Company with
effort from 16 January 2023. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (“Mr. Ho") was appointed
as the Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 16 January 2023.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Ho has duly complied with
the relevant professional training requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

RIELTRUZEEERTARACEERZER
BERE TAERETETMHEZEEERRE -
EEGEEHRARRZEEEARERER EF
REMERABZBIIRSETERR  ARAN
BERREEREZHREER  ARBZIRT
A URARBFEEREARTAUZENRALE
ERMEMBCBEER -

DNEWE

BRELEFEARRZARWE BT =
— At RBRER - MBREE([RIEE])ERE
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FRE e
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FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group and have adopted the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and complied with the requirements of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards which also include Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. Save as disclosed in the section “Material Uncertainty
Related to Going Concern” contained in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”,
as at 31 December 2023, Directors are not aware of any other material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt
upon the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. As discussed in the
sections of “LITIGATIONS” and “THE REMEDIAL ACTIONS TO BE UNDERTAKEN
RELATED TO MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN"
contained in the “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS”, the Directors
have therefore prepared the financial statements of the Company on a going
concern basis accordingly.

The accounting systems and internal control of the Company are designed
to prevent any misappropriation of the Company’s assets, any unauthorised
transactions as well as to ensure the accuracy of the accounting records and
the true and fairness of the financial statements.

The Board also acknowledges its responsibility to present a balanced, clear
and understandable financial report with sufficient disclosures as required
under the Listing Rules, and to report to the regulators as to information
required to be disclosed pursuant to the statutory requirements. The reporting
responsibilities of the Company’s independent auditor are set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 94 to 99.

Risk management and internal control

The Board recognises it has overall responsibility of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and reviews their effectiveness
on an ongoing basis. The Board oversees the management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management internal control
systems.

Risk assessment and internal control

In assisting the Board for evaluating and determining the risks it is willing to
take in achieving its strategic objective, the Board has engaged an independent
advisory firm to conduct a risk assessment. The assessment adopted a risk
model, a framework for helping the Board to identify, evaluate and prioritise
the nature and extend of the business risks including strategic risks, operation
risks, financial risks as well as information risks. The assessment includes
interviewing the Directors and senior management along with qualitative
analysis to evaluate the significance and likelihood in occurrence of the risks.

B ISR R AR BRI
ESHUMBHRRZER
EERRANEALKRBERUYBRR AL KT
MEBEREMZERA  WETEBYBRS
EANRTE  BEEESAMOGRHAZELES
HEAMRRBURBEERAGIZREESR - K
(B ZBERE T [ARAKACENERNTEE
BRI -SHhEENADIN  RZZE-_=F+_A
=t—B BRI TABEAEMETEEARE
ZHBRERNBRERER 2 EHIRABRZ
BRMEEBR a0 [EIRE 5w Mo i Jh s
B [EFFA AN [ B AL L N ERTRE AR R
Mem e | S - Bt - ERERFELE
HEEREUARNBTZHBIHE -

AARN G RABEE S EN LADTEE
BBARAAREERS - ARRRE O R
RUBREERAL -

EEgMEREBEREAR BAW B ENM ISR
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eHA - FERELRELBAR  REKEE
B SEER - MEERU R BER Y E R
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BUREFEESTATERSR SR RAR S
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The management has reviewed the results of the risk assessment and has
provided a confirmation to the Board that the Group has effective risk
management and internal control systems to provide reasonable, though not
absolute, assurance for mitigating the risks that may deter the Group from
achieving its business objectives in any material aspects. The management
reviews and evaluates the design of internal controls in place and monitors
their effectiveness on a regular basis, and reports to the Audit Committee on
any significantly issues. The Group has established a defined management
structure with clear lines of reporting, limits of authority, operational policies
and procedures to ensure reliability of operational efficiency and safety,
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Inside information

The Company recognises the significance of consistent practices of fair
disclosure with the aim of disclosing inside information in a timely and
accurate manner. The Company has a policy with regard to the principles and
procedures for handling and disseminating its inside information in compliance
with the requirement under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) and the Listing Rules.

The handling and dissemination of inside information of the Company is strictly
controlled and remains confidential including but not limited by the following

ways:

o Restrict access to inside information, if practicable, to the highest level
of management/or to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know
basis;

. Reminder to employees who are in possession of inside information are

fully conversant with their obligations to preserve confidentiality;

o Ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place when the
Company enters into significant negotiations or dealings with third
party; and

3 Inside information is handled and communicated by designated persons

to outside third party. The Board and the senior management review
the safety measures regularly to ensure inside information is properly
handled and disseminated.

Internal audit function

The Group has engaged an external independent consultant to conduct the
annual review on the effectiveness of the internal control system. Review of the
Group's internal controls covering major operational, financial and compliance
controls, as well as risk management functions of different systems has been
performed on a systematic rotational basis on the risk assessments of the
operations and controls. No major issues on the internal control system have
been identified during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Based on the risk assessment, the risk management and internal control
systems that management has put in place, and the results of the internal
audits; the Board concluded that the Group has effective risk management
and internal control systems covering all material aspects including financial,
operational and compliance controls.

UNCERTAINTIES OVER GOING CONCERN

Pursuant to code provision D.1.3, the Board draws the attentions of
shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company to a situation where the
directors are aware of certain material uncertainties may cast significant doubt
on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Shareholders and stakeholders of the Company are advised to refer to the
Auditors’ report for the details of going concerns issues.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees paid and payable to the
Group's auditor, KTC Partners CPA Limited, in respect of their statutory audit
and other audit services provided to the Group were as follows:

RiERE  ERERTHEZRREE LA
EEES  RANEAER EFTQHEAEEZ
ERERBFABEERNREERREMEERE
Z BEME - 2ERAHRES -

FECENTHBRER
RETAIEXED 136 EFRHBRAREA
ARMBREEE  EEERNETEATABE
% MRSAEASEAREERARARFELE
pBES) -

BRABECETHBNFE  2BERRALARFFF
(EEEAEE S ClIE i

B2
RBE-_T-_=F+-A=+—BLLFE  %tEE
EEHMAEEsMEHEMARA R AL BRMH
ZEEEZREMEEZREMENRENTHRS S
BAMT :

Amount
-]
(HK$'000)
(F3%71)

Type of services BRIsESE
Statutory audit services EE BWIZARTS 1,600
Non-statutory audit services IEETE BAZ RIS -
1,600

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with the
Shareholders and is committed to providing clear and full performance
information of the Group to the Shareholders. Information in relation to the
Group is disseminated to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number
of formal channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Additional information of the Group is also available to the
Shareholders on the Group’s website. The Group values feedback from the
Shareholders to foster investor relationships.

REEME
EFSRNUERRESRIEBEREER  IB
AR ARAEBEXRRZEW - 2EEA - F
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The Board reviews the Shareholders’ communication policy on a regular basis
to ensure its effectiveness, particularly with regards to the requirements of
Part 2 in the CG Code. The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy during its meetings,
and are of the view that the Shareholders’ communication policy has been
effectively implemented and that the dissemination of information to the
Shareholders’ were effective based on the measures adopted above.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. The aforesaid written
requisition must state the objects of the meeting and must be signed by the
relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the Company’s head office in Hong
Kong at Room 515, 5/F., Tower A, New Mandarin Plaza, 14 Science Museum
Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a director
of the Company are available on the Group’s designated website for corporate
communications (www.atvgroup.com.hk).

Enquiries raised by any Shareholder can be forwarded to the Board at the
Company’s head office in Hong Kong at Room 515, 5/F., Tower A, New
Mandarin Plaza, 14 Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the 2023 AGM, a special resolution was passed to adopt the new Articles of
Association of the Company (the “New Articles”) in substitution for and to the
exclusion of the Memorandum and Articles of Association as amended on 22
May 2005. The New Atrticles is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BE MERELIHRS

INTRODUCTION

This year, we continue to present our report in accordance with the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ESG Reporting Guide ("ESG Guide"”), under
Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group primarily engaged in
business streams including (i) processing, printing and sales of finished fabrics
and subcontracting services and the trading of fabric and clothing business;
(i) money lending business; (iii) securities investment and brokerage services
business; and (iv) media, cultural and entertainment business.

Reporting Period

This report illustrated the Group's initiative and performance on the
environmental and social aspects for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023 (the “Period”).

Reporting Scope

Our report mainly covers a subsidiary of the Group in Fujian of the PRC, Xiefeng
(Fujian) Printing & Dyeing Co., Ltd. which is principally engaged in processing,
printing and sales of finished fabrics in the PRC accounting for 27% of the
Group total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 50%).
Compared with other segments of our Group, the operation in the mentioned
subsidiary directly generates industrial pollutants and thus addressing those
related ESG risks such as environmental liability risk are under our first priority.
The Group will continue to optimise and improve the coverage of disclosure in
this report.

Reporting Basis

This report was prepared in accordance to the ESG Guide set out in Appendix
C2 to the Listing Rules. The Group has complied with the disclosure
requirements of the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Guide.
During the process of preparation of this report, we summarized the Group's
performance in corporate and social responsibilities based on the principles of
“Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency”. Please refer to the table

below for our understanding and response to such reporting principles.

62 ASIA TELEVISION HOLDINGS LIMITED | 5 Ml &

=]
REE  BMBERE EHRRMERCMBAZEE
BMAXZMAERIRCGRE - & RERRERES)D
(MR35 - HEREBES DRIEARSE -

BE-_ZT_=F+_"A=+—HIEE A£EE
DREMEBOBORAMEMT - BNIEREE R

DEREIMERKKE SER  (DREER ; (i)
BERARELERT » R(v)EHE - XL RIREEE
7 o

& HA S

ABpEMMAEEE S -_=F—F—HEZZ
ZEFF+Z AT —HHEEA(HRESRBRDRERER
e ERBZEBRIERZ KRR -

HEEHER
AREFEREASEEEPRBEN—RHHNBA
A BE(EE)DNLEERAR - ZAREER
PEMERRAEZMNT - EEREE REBEE=
E=F+-A=+—RALEFELREEAKAZ
27% (2T == : 50%)  EAEEHE b 548
b FMB AR EEEEATESEY B
LEERZSHAMERE e RERRAR - WIRR
FRE - DEMOEZEE - ZJSEIH#JZZE%ﬁ
MEAREZBEBRER RS ZEE -

BEEE

ARBEREBE ETRUMRCQAAZRE  HER
ERESIRE - ARECETRE HERERNE
SIFTEL [ NETRARE RS2 B E R - RELULH
SE - RMAREIEEN 8t FER-FRMEIZ
RABETARENRCERMGEETEZRE -
FRARMYIRERVZBEREH IR - F25H
T e

EREZERARRA



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BiR MERERHRSE (R

Reporting Principles Definitions Our Response

HERA EE EMHNEHSR

Materiality The issues covered in this report should reflect  Through continuous communication with
BEEY the significant impacts of the Group on stakeholders, combined with the Group'’s

the economy, environment and society, or
the scope of assessments and decisions of
stakeholders being affected.
AREBEZFRERRAEFHEE - KRR
Rz BEXRTE HXPERNEZNHE

HERRE o
Quantitative The report should disclose key performance
21t indicators (“KPIs”) in a measurable manner.

R ERAT B2 AW BERBREWIERE
(TRAgRAERIERR]) -

Balance The report should reflect fairly the overall
T sustainability performance of the Group.

RERDTFHRMAEB IS EER 2 ER

KRB -
Consistency The Group should use consistent disclosure
— B principles for the preparation of the report.

PRELARER - AEBEER RO RER
Al -

Source of Information

The information disclosed in this report is derived from the Group’s formal
documents, statistics or public information. The Board is responsible for the
truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of its contents.

Access to the Report

The report is available in Chinese and English versions. In case of any
discrepancy between the Chinese and English versions of the Report,
the English version shall prevail. You may access the Group’s official
website at www.atvgroup.com.hk or the website of the Stock Exchange at
http://www.hkex.com.hk for an electronic copy of the report.

strategic development and business
operations, we can identify current material
sustainable development issues.

FRTE RSO ERR  BEEAANER 2K
MERREBRSE BRSNS
BRI RERREA -

The Group quantitatively discloses its
environmental and social KPIs, and provides
textual explanations on quantitative
resources.

REBABIBERERLRB A& 2 BRENIE
g WARELERBHTRE -

The Group has explained in detail the
sustainable development issues that have a
significant impact in the business, including
the results achieved and the challenges it
faces.

AEECHERESHEBERNERYELZ
HEERER ﬁﬁ.ﬁEuﬂZZﬁX%&x@ﬁ
HIBREY -

The Group will ensure that the disclosure
scope and reporting methods of the report
are generally consistent every year.

REEGHERAREEGE 2 HRGERRE
TEREAER -
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B ERRES -
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BE RERELIHSE(R)

SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Group has established an ESG framework to promote and implement
the Group's sustainability strategy. To ensure effective ESG management,
our ESG governance structure, composed of the Board, ESG working
group, respective functional departments and subordinate companies, was
established to promote ESG management and disclosure. The Board, the
ultimate decision-making body of the Group, is responsible for the Group’s
ESG governance. The Board steers the Group’s sustainable development
forward and bears the overall responsibility of its ESG efforts. In the future,
the Board will continue to strengthen ESG risk management and improve ESG
working mechanism and regulatory processes to enhance its ESG governance
standard. The ESG working group, serving on the supervision and coordination
level, is responsible for implementing ESG governance strategy, coordinating
ESG matters, compiling ESG reports, and reporting relevant work progress
to the Board on a regular basis. Each functional department and subordinate
company, serving on the execution level, is responsible for rolling out initiatives
set up by the ESG working group and reporting relevant work progress and
data.

Decision-making level
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BiR MERERHRSE (R

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT BEEMFME

Following the discussion with our senior management and operational staff, FEEKMNSHRESEEBREBABHHBE  BME

we have identified the ESG issues relevant to the Group, the identified ESG HAHEAEERESBEIRE HeREBREHE X

issues have been assessed by considering their materiality and importance to B EBHEABEEEEBRMNEIE LK - ﬂfmﬁ

our principle of activities, stakeholders as well as the Group. The ESG issues %LA&$E@E’J$EIE HEEEHEMNZEBER

considered to be material are listed below: MEARASHEELTM HRAEEZRE - Xi@
&%m%ﬁﬁﬂ@?-

A. Environmental
BRI

A1 Emissions Air emission
1713587 R

Sewage discharge
YFIKBERR
Waste gas emission
BERBER
Greenhouse gas emissions
BEREBHK
Hazardous waste gas emission

BERERBEN

Hazardous solid waste emission

BEE RN

Non-hazardous solid waste emission

FEZEREMIR

A2 Use of resources Electricity
BIRfE £
Water
K

Steam gas

PR
A yat

Packaging materials for finished goods

WK AR

A3 The environment and natural resources Measures in reducing environmental impact

RERRAER fESIRIEZ FE O

A4 Climate change Measures in reducing impact arising from climate-related issues

RIREAL PR SRR AR RA O R RE P A 2 P B 0 E
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
B MERELDRSE (R

B. Social
HE
B1  Employment Labour practices
(= BITER
B2  Health and safety Workplace health and safety
(SRR TESmRERRZE
B3  Development and training Staff development and training
L IEYSEE 8 TERERF
B4  Labour standards Anti-child and forced labour
45 T8 B 1EE T K o5& Hil%5 T
B5  Supply chain management Supplier management
HEEER HrEmen
B6  Product responsibility Product and service responsibility, quality assurance, customer
service, safeguarding customer assets, intellectual property
rights and privacy policy
EmuTE ERMREBEL BE8RE  BEPRE REZFPEE - 5#
ERE M ALIRBUR
B7  Anti-corruption Anti-corruption policy
RES REFEER
B8  Community investment Community involvement

66
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Environmental

The Group's Fabrics and Trading Business is closely related to
environmental protection and the usage of natural resources. The
Fabrics and Trading Business is operated in PRC with production
factories located at Fujian Province. It represents the majority of the
environmental issues of the Group. The Fabric and Trading Business
subsidiaries of the Group strictly comply with the laws and regulations in
the PRC, including but not limited to the “Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution”,
the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution”, the “Environmental Protection Law of the
People’'s Republic of China” and the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste”, as well as the local rules and standards in the PRC in respect
of prevention and control of environmental pollution of discarded
dangerous chemicals, standard of air pollutants and integrated
wastewater discharge standard.

Emissions

Air emissions

During our operation, the usage of petrol, diesel and natural gas
generate the emission of SOx, NOx and PM. The approximate amount of
SOx, NOx and PM produced from our operation in Fujian's factory are
shown in the table below:

BE ERELIHRS(R)

BIR

REENMHRE §HEBERRIFBRENB R
BRNEAEEMERE - AKEERPEHLL
MRBZ%EE HEEIBRURERS - K
%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬂ@%ﬁﬁ%@%%ﬁ"
REBMKRE S EBNE R ARG EFFR
BUEEEMR T§1E|7Fffﬁﬁ’\\<<¢'§l§}\§/\ﬂ
BIRRSRAZE) - (hEARLMEKS
RFEE)  (REARFEMBIRFREE) -
(P EE AR AMEE 88 REY))5 R IRRPAE)
L/(&EEP.EQEA!?%H%{K%WE% Qv
Y677 E LT AR AIFIRE - E RIS AMITEE
MERE BEKBERURLE -

HHY

ERBEY

EHRMEEEBEFR - AEHAH - 8K
KRR MEASOxX ~ NOx K PMBER B A
B T & &EPTE £ 2 S0x » NOXK&PM
BOEMTRATR -

2023 (kg) 2022 (kg)
—E-=F —E-F

(F=) (F%)

Total SOx emissions SOxEEE = 0.78 0.60
Total NOx emissions NOxHE 48 2 101.25 68.04
Total PM emissions PMEBE &2 3.73 3.48

In respect of reducing the emissions of SOx, NOx and PM, the Group is
committed to reduce and ensure the efficient usage of motor vehicles.
The Group has implemented the following measures so as to achieve the
environmental friendly approach:

° Avoid peak hour traffic

o Encourage the use of public transport
o Encourage the use of bicycle
° Utilise the vehicle usage by car pooling with different staff

BHE A SOX - NOX B PMEERK » REBB AR
WAE A RERE KSR AE - AR
RERGHI  AEECERATERE

o  HEERBATTE

o  EBETHE BESIWMEAUSA
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Sewage discharge

Stable water supply is crucial to the Group's dyeing operation in
Fujian’s factory where the Group currently sources water from the
local government. The Group's requires the input of water resources in
several production processes and the processing of finished goods such
as sourcing, bleaching, dyeing, mercerising and shrinking. The amount
of sewage discharge produced from our Fujian’s factory is shown in the
table below:

JEIKBEK
BEMEKEAEBEREIMNLBIEEIE
WHEZ - ANEBE B AT BT EUK§
JE- AEBETHAEIFUMREER DB
BoomES - ZEQ - RE - HLREREYE
THEKER - HMREEN ITRELNS
KEEM BT R :

2023 (tonnes) 2022 (tonnes)

—E-=F —E-—
(W) (&)
Sewage discharge SSIKBERR 147,655 130,540

The Group is aware of the potential environmental impact of the sewage
generated by the Group’s sourcing, bleaching, dyeing, mercerising
and shrinking processes. The use of sodium hydroxide within the
mercerising process, generate waste water containing diluted sodium
hydroxide which is toxic and harmful. The waste water generated from
the manufacturing process contains high value of Chemical Oxygen
Demand (“COD"). COD is the total amount of oxygen required to
chemically oxidise the biodegradable and nonbiodegradable organic.
Higher COD levels mean a greater amount of oxidisable organic material
in the sewage discharge, which will reduce dissolved oxygen (DO) levels.
A reduction in DO can lead to anaerobic conditions, which is deleterious
to higher aquatic life forms. Waste water currently discharged by the
Group is processed by a third-party contractor. Waste water treatment
service is charged in a monthly basis according to emission volume
respectively.

In terms of waste water recycling, the Group is continuously looking
possible way to enhance recycling of waste water. The cooling water
involved in singeing, shrinking, drying and the waste water produced
from dehydration are all collected and reused for bleaching and dyeing
process. The Group also intends to construct its own waste water
treatment plant, recycle sodium hydroxide and reuse the waste water
from mercerising machines into scouring and bleaching machines for
desizing fabrics, reducing waste water discharge and concentration
of dilute sodium hydroxide in the waste water produced. Besides, the
Group also installed automatic facilities for mercerising machine, to
enhance efficient use of alkali and reduce waste water emission.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Waste gas emissions

Waste gas emission is minor for the Group's fabric manufacturing
business. Singeing, sueding and setting are the major processes in fabric
processing and printing business to remove impurities in raw fabrics.
Within the running process of singeing, sueding and setting machines,
unintentional air pollutants like particulate matters and fumes are
generated.

The Group has complied with “Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution” and the
“Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”.

Greenhouse gas emissions (“GHG")

We have greenhouse gases emissions principally resulting from electricity
consumed at the factories in Fujian. The amount of carbon dioxide
("CO,") generated from our Fujian’s factory are shown in the table

BE ERELIHRS(R)

BRI
BRGMERAEERNREXBRRE
By o LRI RHII TAA M EEE BRI EE
THREE BENTE  ABREEHHN
M- BER  BERNERKEE ﬁwa
REP R T RS 2SR

AEE DR EARAMBEARS LA
)RR EARKMBERERES) -

BEREHH

RIOPROBZERE  EBRRERTHA
HREN - BRIBAESN AR =
LR ORI TR -

below:

2023 2022

—Eo=F —EF -
Total CO, Total CO,
generated generated
equivalent equivalent
Type of GHG BERBER (tonnes) (tonnes)
—afbiREE —E bIREE
#EE () wEE (NE)
Scope 1 i B — 857.67 443.12
Scope 2 #E= 1,762.24 1,755.19
Total S 2,619.91 2,218.31
Intensity (tonnes/PRC turnover in RMB ‘000) ZE(M,/ T AREPRL%5E) 0.094 0.058

In terms of reducing the carbon footprint, the Group has implemented
guidelines and policies for energy saving management which include
in-house rules and regulations for both office and factory employees
to follow. Please refer to “Resources consumption — electricity saving
measures”.

BROBMBHME - AEEEEHESEEE
BEHHAEK - BEABREGE - AE
MAEFMIME THET - BLR[ERERE—
iR o

Annual Report | & #2023 69



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
B MERELDRSE (R

70

Hazardous solid waste emission

For the process of printing fabrics, minimal type of hazardous solid
waste is generated during the production process of printing fabrics.
The Group's production process involved the following hazardous solid
waste emissions figures:

BEEIREY K
SERHRTFNE - R TFaes
EEBLBRAEEREY - AEENEE
BB T EEREN B

2023 (kg) 2022 (kg)
Waste type EEYRE R —E-=F —EF——
(=) (F7)
Oil polluted fabrics and waste oil Y5 R K EE S 16.5 16.5
Intensity (kg/PRC turnover in RMB '000) BE(Fu,/ FTARKR 0.0006 0.0004
=)

The Group is dedicated to proper management of the hazardous solid
waste. Specific area is assigned for the temporary storage of hazardous
waste for safety purpose. Licensed third party is engaged for the
collection of the waste for recycle and reuse purpose.

Non-hazardous solid waste emission
Besides hazardous solid waste, numerous types of non-hazardous
solid waste are generated during the production process of printing
fabrics. The Group is dedicated to managing waste in a responsible way
and strives to optimise the use of resources. The Group recorded the
following non-hazardous waste emissions figures:

FEERNHEEEBENETEZSER -
HRZZE - SBEREESERTEE FE
Yo BEE=Z T CRELZEREEHEDER
REM -

HEZEIRBENHM
BAZERENS - ORBHIFBRE
ELBFAEEREY - AEERNBBA
EENFRERENL ARECERER -
RS ESKIS A T I E R B

Waste Collected by external qualified units R/IPEEREMUEE 2023 2022
for recycle and reuse purpose BERBANEY —E-=%F —E-—F
Wasted fabrics (kg) R (TR) 139,792 122,352
Suede dust, hatha dust (kg) EEEEE - fERER(F ) 9,162 12,633
Plastic container and iron drum (pieces) AR R 2 MR () 9,852 8,923
Waste Collected by BEEIP KRS 2023 (kg) 2022 (kg)
the Sanitation Department for disposal EEMNEY —Em—— —z——
(F7) (F5)
Sludge VIV 1,175,589 949,215
Non-recyclable domestic and AT B 9 A E B IR K
industrial waste TEEY 29,086 27,356
Total waste dispose RIREEMEE 1,204,675 976,571
Intensity (kg/PRC turnover RMB' 000) BE(FTR/TTARKE
S ERE) 43.13 25.49
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

As a corporate citizen to enhance the optimise recycling and reusing
of our waste, the Group’s non-hazardous wastes like wasted fabrics,
suede dust, hatha dust, plastic container and scrap iron are collected
by external qualified units for recycle and reuse purposes. General
garbage which is non-recyclable is cleaned by the sanitation department
regularly.

During the Period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations related to environmental
protection.

Use of Resources

The Group adheres to the concept of energy conservation and emission
reduction for green production. The major resources used by the Group
are principally attributed to electricity in Fujian’s factory. The Group did
not encounter any problems in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. We
aim to improve our energy utilisation efficiency to achieve low-carbon
practices and emission reduction throughout our production and
operation, and strive to save the resources. The Group’s consumption of
energy and water are shown in the following tables:

B - ilERERES (W)

EREERAR  RELEVMOHEREER -
REBEEEREY - MEmHH  EEE -
KK BRAS  BET  BINSRERE
7 @4 B A A o AT B YA — AR SR A
BRI PIE R -

WNIREHE  YEESERITETHRR
REVERERIER -

BRER

AEBRSHERENES  BREZKEL
E-AEREERANIZERIZERETIR
BB o ANEERNREUER KR I
W - HFIH B R RIRSRMIMERERR
g7 ERMINEEMZE P ERERKTFM
B BABHEER - NEEMELIR K&K
BMTRAR

Energy consumption BEIR HHZ
2023 2022
(Kwh) (Kwh)
—Eo=F —EF -

(FE&) (FRE)
Electricity consumption BE 2,888,445 2,909,670
Unleaded petrol 80U 72,104 63,333
Diesel L85 249,032 242,568
Natural gas KRR 4,052,305 1,908,335
Total Sl 7,261,886 5,123,906

Intensity (Kwh/PRC turnover in RMB’000) BE(TEE TTARE
PERER) 259.99 133.72

Water consumption HkE
2023 2022
(Cubic meters) (Cubic meters)
—Eo=F —E-—

(2FK) (SZF5K)
Water consumption AkE 132,620 112,850

Intensity (Cubic meters/PRC turnover in RMB'000) %€ (a2 5K/ Tt AR
B ERE) 4.75 2.95
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Steam consumption

AN =
AIUAE

2023 2022
(tonnes) (tonnes)
—E = —F-—
(Wg) (M8)
Total steam consumption BEAAE 76,209 57,898

The Group is dedicated to maintain consumption saving management for
electricity, water and steam by applying in-house rules and regulations
for employees to follow. Saving measures include:

Electricity saving measures
o Applied variable frequency air compressor to reduce electricity
consumption.

o Applied energy saving initiatives including maximising the use
of natural light and energy-saving lighting systems, applying
optimal temperature setting of air-conditioning; switching off
air-conditioning systems and lighting in vacant working areas after
operation hours; turning off office equipment when not in use.

Water saving measures
o Reused water produced from singeing machines and preshrinking
machines for production process.

o Modified water tanks of scouring and bleaching machines,
mercerising machine and dyeing machines to reduce storage
water surface areas, thus reduce water and steam consumption.

o Modified scouring and bleaching machines to shorten the

production process and reduce electricity, water and steam
consumption.

ASIA TELEVISION HOLDINGSLIMITED | EH SR8 ZE R AR A 7
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Steam saving measures
o Replaced heating facilities in scouring and bleaching machines to
enhance the effectiveness.

o Applied high-capacity roller into dryer machines, reducing 30% of
water retained in fabrics, thus saving steam consumption.

° Installed humidity meter and set humidity standard to control the
process of drying and avoid overheating, thus reducing steam

consumption.

o Optimised draining valve of dryer machines to reduce outflow of
steam gas.
° Recycled steam from heat-setting stenter and various machines.

Packaging materials

The packaging materials used by the Group are mainly from raw fabrics
packaging bags, cartons, paper tubes, auxiliaries bags and other sundry
packaging materials. The Group recorded the following packaging
materials usage:

BE ERELIHRS(R)

AR A
o  FHMEAEAEMEAINARE - IR
= EE °

. MEHE I TERIIORELTES
WELE - BRIK30% M KE - B
EAFERE -

o REREFMRERERE  BEE
gﬁ;ﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬂ%‘% BRI RER AN B
AREME - TR EITERE

o EeHteEeEIKE -

o IR T A A ELTE B AN E A 28 0 2K

=
VA

BRI
AEEGTANBEMHETERAEME
KRB BT BERREMEK zéﬂ
B REEESREMHBENT

2023 2022
—E =4 —EF -

Amount (kg) Amount (kg)

Packaging materials BEMH AE(FT%) AE(Fx)
Raw fabrics packaging bags, cartons, FhBRE - 88 HKER

paper tubes and other sundry items Hib BB EME 70,306 68,829

Auxiliaries bags Bh I &% 6,150 5,778

Total packaging materials BEMEAEE 76,456 74,607

The Group is dedicated to consume the least packaging materials
as possible. It is the Group’s practice to implement production planning
in a timely basis so as to assess the approximate amount of packaging
materials needed for the period. The Group is also committed to source
recyclable packaging materials from suppliers with eco-friendly practice
and engagement.

In view of our continuous effort, we target to maintain zero substantial
non-compliance case in relation to the emission of exhaust gases, GHG
and energy consumption in coming five years.

AEBHNFBARERRIOBEME - K
SEFRBEZESEREES - KMaT
HZERFEZMINEMHENE - K&
B RN BT RAGRIR R AT B IR R
BRI R B R E -

ERRMBENSE N HPBEERRKREF
EEBHERER BEREBENERAENH
BBTERNTEREMN -
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The Environment and Natural Resources

In terms of minimising the environmental impact, the Group has put
its initiative in reducing the emission of sewage discharge, waste gas,
hazardous waste gas as well as the electricity and water consumption

as above mentioned.

With respect to raw materials usage, raw fabrics are the main raw
materials which include unfinished pure cotton, polyester cotton,
synthetic fibre, combined fabrics and nylon cotton. Since these are
processed materials from cotton which can be widely obtained, thus the
impact to the natural resources is not significant. The Group will closely
monitor the progress of the application of the purification system of
our setting machines so reduction of the hazardous waste gas emission
could be put into practice in the closest future.

To develop a green approach at the factory, we have developed the
following measures for our daily operation starting from 2017 so as to
minimise the impact brought to the environmental and natural resources
consumption.

Factory machine and office equipment
o Switch off computers, printers, machines and other electronic
devices after office hours or when leaving the workplace to reduce

power consumption.

o Affix save energy posters near the main switches in order to
remind our employees of energy saving.

° The last-man-out is dedicated to check and turn off all machines
and equipments.

Lighting
. Switch off non-essential lighting if there are only few people
working in the office or factory.

o After office hours or during lunch time of business days, only

turning on light for areas essential for safety and security purpose.

o The last-man-out is dedicated to check and turn off all lighting of
the factory and offices.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Water

o Conduct daily checking and maintenance of water supply facilities.
Employee should report to the management office when water
supply facilities are out of work or damaged.

Other practice
o Encourage duplex printing, reuse of single-side used paper.

. Refill instead of new pen when used up.

o Reduce paper printing by conducting e-filing.

o Encourage employees to adjust the margins and font size of
documents so as to optimise the use of paper.

As a socially responsible enterprise, protecting nature and the
environment has become our inescapable social responsibility, the Group
constantly looks for ways to maximise benefits with minimal resource
consumption and environmental impact, and continue to strive for
sustainable development.

Climate Change

The Group is committed to mitigating the climate change and enhancing
its resilience to adapt to the increasing threat of climate-related
consequences.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks (including significant climate-related issues) by the Group are

summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
. Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s business
and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

° Considers the impact and consequence on the business and the
likelihood of their occurrence.

BE ERELIHRS(R)

7k

o HEKEMEHETAERE RIRE o
HOKRIGHERIESR  BEAANEE
B -

HEtnEH
o HBEEIH EREEABMNER -

o BAKARREHRELMIEEAHTRTF
= .

o FEREFIEBDMREITE

o SDBETHEXMTERFEAR/NA
BICARRER -

EREHEAEENEE  RESARED
AR SBOEE M ARETE
FRIDEAZDNERBRNRRZERNG
BRAMME  WHRESNERAIFHEER -

SIREL
AEBAEEERREECREAEERR
REBEHINBNHAE BB -

REBERUHER  FAEREREXRR (BT
ERRBENERER)NEFHIINT :

JE % 5% B

. BRI EACEEER R EERNB
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Risk Response

o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk assessment;
and
° Determines the risk management strategies and internal control

processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting
o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and ensures
that appropriate internal control processes are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and the
Board regularly.

As a result of above risk management process, physical risk and
transitions risks arising from climate change may not bring significant
impacts to the Group's business. As a supporter of the recommendations
of the Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD), the
Group has assessed the potential climate related risks and identified
the rising mean temperature and increasing severity and likelihood of
extreme weather events such as rainstorms, floods and fire as major

physical risks impacting our daily operation.

The Group’'s ESG working group is responsible for identifying and
assessing any climate-related risks to which the Group’s operations are
exposed, and updating the Board with the latest news and developments
on climate regulations and industry benchmark. In order to cope
with climate-related risk, the Group implemented various emergency
response mechanism and purchase adequate insurance against natural
disasters, including fire or flood so as to cope with extreme weather.

In the future, we will continue to identify potential business activities
impacting the environment and develop corresponding improvement
measures, so as to further prevent the the possible negative impacts of
our operation on climate change.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Social Commitment

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

The Group reckons that employees are the most valuable assets
of an enterprise and also the cornerstone for sustaining corporate
development. It is always the Group’s initiative to provide a fair and
competitive compensation package to attract and retain quality talents,
in the form of a basic salary, incentives bonus, mandatory provident
fund, and other fringe benefits. Remuneration packages are reviewed
periodically. The Group also has a set of comprehensive human resources
management policy to support human resources function. The policies
include compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,

working hours, appraisal, training and benefits.

The Group has always strictly observed the relevant legislations in
the PRC regarding the equal employment opportunities, child labour
and forced labour. The Group abides by the employment regulations,
relevant policies and guidance of the relevant jurisdictions where it
operates, including the”Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” in the
PRC.

The Group has its internal procedure to report employees’ information
regularly in order to review employment practices so as to avoid
any non-compliance. Furthermore, the Group strictly complies with
the internal recruitment process during recruitment to ensure no
employment of child labour and forced labour in any form. The Group
also strives to establish harmonious labour relationships. We protect
the rights of staff in terms of providing rest and leave days according
to relevant government laws and regulations. During the Period, the
Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant
standards, rules and regulations regarding operations and activities,
labour practices.
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees by gender, employment THAR_E_=ZF+-_A=+—RHEK=F
type, age group and geographical region as at 31 December 2023 and —ZHF+ZA=1+—HIER%H - BERER -
31 December 2022. Fiichl Rz E 5 H) 8 TRRAR -
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-—
Number of staff ~ Number of staff
BT#HA ET#H

By gender 4 51

Male Bk 68 67

Female pegid 30 30

Total =¥ 98 97

By employment type EEER

Full-time 28 98 97

Part-time R Nil 4 Nil 4

By age group F#e4a Rl

30 or below =TS T 22 22

31-40 =t+—E0TR 43 45

41-50 M+—Z=A+5 26 25

51 or above A+—BREA L 7 5

Total CEl 98 97

By geographical region &

PRC A 98 97
Below is a detailed breakdown of our employee turnover rate by THARRESEB N T - —FHHEELM
gender, age group and geographical region during the Period and the MR FEAER R E D I8 THE
corresponding period in 2022: Bk ®

2023 2022
—E= ===

Turnover rate by gender BUERE S HNEERAE

Male Bt Nil 7 Nil 4

Female M Nil £ Nil %

Turnover rate by age group RERAERNS S WEEBRKE

30 or below =TEmEIUT Nil % Nil 4

31-40 =+—Z0+5R Nil & Nil &

41-50 M+—Z=R 15 Nil £ Nil 4

51 or above A+—mRsA L Nil 4& Nil 4

Turnover rate by geographical region Rt BEDWEERAR

PRC i Nil & Nil 4
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Health and Safety

The Group's subsidiary in Fujian engages in processing, printing and
sales of finished fabrics. The Group strongly believes that ensuring
stable and safety production is the most important social responsibility
to its shareholders, employees and the community where it situates.
Therefore, the Group has always regarded ensuring safety and stable
production as one of the priorities in corporate management. Sound
management systems have been established in occupational health and
safety in strict compliance with the regulations on occupational health
and safety the PRC.

As above mentioned, the factories of the Group have engaged third
licensed party to periodically review the waste gas concentration level
of machinery and equipment. At the same time, we continuously
reduce workload intensity for frontline staff and improve the working

environment.

The Fujian factory of the Group had obtained Environmental
Management System Certification (ISO14001) formulated by the
International Organisation for Standardisation (“ISO”) and they were
certified, thus effectively guaranteeing the establishment of a healthy,
safe and stable working environment. Daily operations are inspected
by relevant department assigned by the Group, according to the
occupational health and safety requirements of the respective company.
Any non-compliance will also be identified and rectified on a timely
basis.

During the Period, there are no material work related injuries case and
lost day due to injury was recorded. There were no non-compliance cases
noted in relation to laws and regulations for health and safety.

During each of the past three years including the Period, no work-related
fatalities was recorded.
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Development and Training

We believe that cultivation and retention of talents is the core of
the Group’s development and is essential in strengthening the
competitiveness of the Group. We always consider our staff as our
strategic partners and provide various in-housing training courses to
enhance their job-related skills. During the year, we formulate quality
management and environment management training programs to
update our staff with the most updated standard of 1ISO14001. These
two programs include quality assurance training in production process,
inspection assurance of materials received from supplier, health and
safety precautions in using production equipment and machinery as well

as customer relationship management.

In daily operation, the Group provides induction training for new
employees and experienced employees act as mentors to guide new
comers. We believe such arrangement can be the best practice to
facilitate communication and team spirit, also improve technical skills
and managerial capability and encourage the learning and further
development of employees at all levels.

The Group will continue to intensify its efforts to promote staff training
programs which we believe that by means of offering comprehensive
training opportunities, it could help providing the necessary protection
for talent reserves for corporate development.

Below is a detailed breakdown of the percentage of employees trained
by gender and employment category during the Period and the
corresponding period in 2022:

RERE
BMBEATHEEREFRASEERD
PO RN AR B E DR - B
ARSBITERMOBBEHE  RRSET
e R e - RARESEAIEIRE -
AER - HMAGETREERAEMREER
PGB - (M B TIREEMISO140011R %M
RHEM - EMEFENFIARTRREE
BIENRERE - HERRI MR
ERE EREERBNERNREMNRZ 2
EiE - UREFPBERERE -

ERBEHT  AEESHE TREABIE
Fl - AL B TRMERGRNE T AR
BT - HFEGEERLHREERBNEK
B0 R AE UK - 0 R R A) 52 = A AP A B AT
REAMERENREEEREINEENE
—HER -

AEEGEEME TIEABEIEE - 5t
bt - RAEEEBREZEAE IS A IA
REEBROAT FEHRHEBENRE -

T ARREAMER T FHHEER
RERREEENIDZIERENEDLLH
“a

2023 2022
—ZT-= T

Trained employee by gender FHEEMR
Male B 94% 100%
Female pegid 87% 100%
Trained employee by employment category ZH|{EEHNESEHI
Normal i 91% 88%
Middle R 100% 100%
Senior =R 100% 100%
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The average training hours for employees by gender and employment
category during the Period and the corresponding period in 2022 are as

B - ilERERES (W)

THARREHE N T - —FHHEESM
BRI REEERE S EEZIN TR

follows: 2y
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
Hours per Hours per
employee employee
ERE N RE
By gender 4 Bl

Male Bt 8.74 7.76
Female pegid 8.43 7.20

By employment category EEER
Normal Tim 7.57 6.67
Middle PR 20.67 19.20
Senior =R 21.00 20.00

Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the labour legislations and the relevant
guidelines in China. In Fujian factory, we have set up policy to ensure
our business complied with the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, the “Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
“Law of the People’'s Republic of China on the Protection of Disabled
Persons”, etc. It is also the Group policy in both China that no child and
forced labor is permitted for employment. The human resources function
strictly complies with relevant labour laws and regulations in the PRC
to implement recruitment. In the recruitment processes, the human
resources function takes effective procedures to verify applicants’ age
and inspects their identification documents and valid proof of identity
before hiring any of them. During the Period, the Group does not aware
of any noncompliance with relevant standards, rules and regulations.

BITER

7 £ [ B 45 3% 7 oh B 0 45 B ST 0 FIAR BB 9
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R B BIREHI R o
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Supply Chain Management

Raw fabrics, dyeing chemicals and fabrics processing chemicals are
the major materials used by the Group’s Fujian factory in its fabrics
processing where they are all procured in the PRC.

The Group implements supplier management in accordance with
internal guidance which governs the engagement of suppliers. Suppliers
are chosen subjecting to screening and evaluation procedures among
the suppliers, based on the quality and price. Also, to ensure supplier
capability in quality assurance, safety and environmental responsibility,
field visit and investigation is conducted. The investigation reviews the
production capacity, technology level, quality assurance capabilities,
supply capacity, safety and environment management qualifications if
needed. Only the highly qualified suppliers complied with regulatory
requirements are eligible for the supplier selection by the Group.
The Group also carries out regular assessment on suppliers’ overall
capabilities, assets position, nature of business, reputation in the
industry, quality of products, goods delivery and compliance with law
and regulations.

As customers are becoming more concerned about environmental issues,
and stress the importance of using environmentally friendly materials.
The Group will continue to act as a corporate citizen in communicating
and stressing those environmental issues to our suppliers. We aim at
strengthening the cooperation with suppliers, coordinating with them
in product trials, and work with them to produce socially responsible
products.

Below is those KPIs related to aspect “Supply chain management” during
the Period and the corresponding period in 2022 are set out below:
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B REERRHTHNTEEmRAE
EREIRRBZIZRME  TEARNE

PINT o 2ERMFHIED BEREE -
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h - REMREERERETEMERERA
L RENAREEERNSREHERTA
WARBEFNER - AREEHFGH
EEmEBE)  BEEME  EBHMUE 17
XBE Emmd  EVRNRETERM
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PR PR MEIIREMEL R AEAR
RYBNEEN - AEESEERELIER
REMFE BERRENEETE=-RAEL
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2023 2022
Number of suppliers YASE 4= TEC-=F —E-—
PRC 2] 51 49
Others EAth 4 4
Total = 55 53
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Product Responsibility

Customer service

The Group's in-house research and development team has been devoting
to new products development to suit the changing market demand
as well as the improvement of the Group's existing products and
production processes. The Group has established long-term relationships
with our customers comprising apparel retailers, garment manufacturers
and fabrics suppliers.

We also believe that customer satisfaction is always the foundation
of an enterprise’s survival. The Group is always trying to improve its
service quality and responding immediately to customers’ needs in
terms of delivery lead time, quality and price. The Group has established
a compliant and handling policy as well as customer communication
where questionnaire is sent to customer, we believe customer’s feedback
is always material for an enterprise’s development. We are always trying
to improve and address complaints or feedback quickly to resolve any

issues.

Product quality and safety management

The Group is committed to achieve high product and service quality by
implementing stringent and comprehensive quality control procedures.
We have implemented quality control manual throughout the production
process form purchase of raw fabrics and dyeing chemicals to product
packaging for employee to follow. Raw fabrics are inspected to
ensure uniformity in density, thickness and texture before putting into
production so as to minimise possible disruptions during the operation.
During the Period, the amount of defective products produced by the
Group was minimal and complaints by customers in respect of defective
products were insignificant.

Intellectual property right protection

The Group markets its products under its own trademarks. Those
trademarks were issued by the Trademark Office of the State
Administration for Industry and Commerce of the PRC. During the
Period, no claim has been made in relation to infringement of intellectual
property rights.
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Privacy and information security

The Group believes that the privacy and security of stakeholders’
information is crucial in order to gain trust from them. The Group adopts
appropriate security measures in safeguarding sensitive information
and data, including, but not limited to, trade secrets, know how, client
information, supplier information and other proprietary information.

During the Period, there are no disputes between our Group and our
customers in respect of the quality of products made by us.

Below is those KPIs related to aspect “Product responsibility” during the
Period and the corresponding period in 2022 are set out below:

BERMEALTE
AEEBREATREFZEEENET A
HEBENBANTRREEEE - AEH
RMEEORRERRERBEATER -
BREBTRABERS  N% - BFEM -
HERSMMEMEEEN -

RHREHE  AEBEZP Z W R PImE
EEMNEEYEBEMENFE -

THARBERRR T - —FHEHM
B ERBEEITENBERERIER

2023 2022
TZ=F —F-=
Percentage of total products sold or shipped E&EHDEXERAEFHALT 2 EEE Nil & Nil £
subject RIEBHMEARKNED L -
to recalls for safety and health reasons.
Number of complaints about products and BRAEMLMREAIEFER Nil #% Nil f&
services
Anti-Corruption and Anti-Money Laundering REGRREELE
The Group believes that a system with good moral integrity and REBEMERE AAERFERHENRER
anti-corruption mechanism is the cornerstone for the sustainable and 75%%' WEFNEAERBRERREENE

healthy development of the Group. The Group is strictly opposed to any
form of bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering and other acts such
as the provision of illegal political contributions, inappropriate charitable
donation or sponsorship, provision or acceptance of unreasonable
gifts, entertainments or other improper benefits, infringement of trade
secrets, trademarks, patents, copyrights and other intellectual property
rights, and engagement in acts of unfair competition, etc. In order to
ensure that our employees could really be honest and law-abiding, the
Group maintains a “Staff Handbook”, which states the code of conduct
and requires the employees, during the course of business engagement,
not to (whether directly or indirectly) provide, undertake, request or
receive any improper benefits, or take any other actions which are in
violation of integrity, illegal or dishonest behaviors which are in breach
of fiduciary duties.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Group has also established a whistle-blowing policy for reporting
suspected irregularities, fraud and corruption, a compliant mailbox is
set up to provide channels for reporting corruption and bribery. We
also continue to improve our internal control and monitoring system.
We strike to take immediate actions when problems are reported and
identified. We have a zero tolerance approach to any kind of corruption
and irregularities. During the Period, 11 employees have received
anti-corruption training (2022: 9 employees) through internal training,
making the concept of anti-corruption deep into the whole company.

During the Period, there was no any legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to creating sustainable prosperity that brings
long-term social and economic benefits for all stakeholders, particularly
to maintain the relationship with interest groups which are relevant to
business operation. Same as last year, the Group continues to make
donations and organise fund raising events to provide subsidy of
employees who suffered from cancer, serious disease and severe work
injury.

The Group’s ESG policy encourages and supports employees to volunteer
their time to help those who are less fortunate and advantaged in the
community. As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group will look
for worthy charities or humanitarian causes to support through direct
monetary donations or other events to contribute to the society.

The Group organized activities in related to environmental protection
and culture in local community with resources contributed during the
Period and the corresponding period in 2022 are set out below:
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2023 2022
=5 —E-o—F
Total amount of donation RMB 56,000 42,000
BB AR
Total number of hours for providing voluntary services hour 282 277
TR R R AR 75 ) 42 A 21 /|NB
Total number of staff involved for providing voluntary services person 35 25
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APPENDIX Il ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

sIRBFRSI

e —RR  HERERKRERE

INDEX
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls Section
FTEHRE - BH - —RBREREREVER =32
A. Environmental
A RE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1: By
General Disclosure Emissions
—RIRE PR
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
BRERERAL HER IR AR M ARRE BE R BE - R
KPl A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Emissions
FARENIERAL2 emissions in total and, where appropriate, intensity. b= 37

BE(@EED kg REZ(BE2) AERBHRES R(NER)EE -

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity.  Emissions
BERENEZRALS FEXEEEREDRER(WER)EE - R
KPlI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, Emissions
BRENMIEEALL intensity. Bk

KPI A1.5
BREMRIEEALS

KPI A1.6
BEERIERALE

86

FEAEERZMEER(WER)TE -

Description of emission targets set and steps taken to achieve them.
FILFTRT S MBI E B IR R BIERE L B E TR A 8% -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction targets set and
steps taken to achieve them.

R ERIB A= REEEENNTE - RIERPAETSZEMEE B RN RE
BiE L B R PTEREREY P B o
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls

ITEGE BE  —RBREREREREER

A. Environmental

A. BRI

Section

=z foie

R

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EHEA2 : ERER

General Disclosure

—BE

KPI A2.1
BRAENIERA2.1

KPI A2.2
BREMRIEERA2.2

KPI A2.3
BRAEMRIEERA2.3

KPI A2.4
BRENRIEERA2.4
KPI A2.5

BRENIERA2.5

Direct and indirect energy consumption by type in total.
RERE DN EZ REEEREREE

Water consumption in total and intensity.
BFEKERTE -

Description of energy use efficiency and a description of targets set
and steps taken to achieve them.
At B TR GE A Es Rl P RT 32 B 1R RORE RIS L B R AR &2

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose, water efficiency and a description of targets set and
steps taken to achieve them.

FUSKEGE R KOR R BEAIRRE - PARPTRT S 89 KW B IR R
MAREDELE B R EREE P8

Total packaging material used for finished products and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

HRRMAREMHNEER(MER)GEEEMGE -
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BE HERELIES ()

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls
TEHE EH - —RRERBRESER

A. Environmental

A RE

Section

=z foie

2R

Aspect A3: The Environmental and Natural Resources

EBHA3 : RERRRER

General Disclosure

—BE

KPI A3.1
FARENISIEA3.1

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.
HEBEDHRBERAARERNEATZERERNEREHY
20178 -

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BEAL : RIZE{L

The Environmental
and Natural Resources
RIBRARAAER

Emissions, Use of Resources
and The Environmental
and Natural Resources

PR BREARIRERKRA
&R

General Disclosure

—RKE

KPI A4.1
BRERIEERAL

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

RMBERAREHETAEEXENEARKBREE - REKRR

HEHTTE -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls Section
TEHE EH - —RRERBREER =501
B. Social
B.At®
Employment and Labour Practices
EREREZEIER
Aspect B1: Employment
EBmEB1 : EfE
General Disclosure Employment
—RIEE (=5
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group Employment
BARENIEEB1 and geographical region. 1BeE
RIER - BEEE - FRRAR KRS DNESBE -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Employment
BARENIE1EB1.2 region. B1E

RIER - FERARNRMREIDHERRKRLLE

Aspect B2: Health and safety

[EHEB2 : REHEZ 2

General Disclosure

—BRE

KPI B2.1

BRENIESEB2.1

KPI B2.2

BRENEEB2.2

KPI B2.3
B ENIEEB2.3

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the reporting year.

BE=ZF(BRERFE)SFRTTHRHDABRKRLE

Lost days due to work injury.
FATEBERTIERE

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
how they are implemented and monitored.
FA PR B R EELT 28 - ARBERITRERTE -

Health and Safety
EREZS

Health and Safety
REELE
Health and Safety

REEZE

Health and Safety
ERET S

Annual Report | 372023

89



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE HERELIES ()

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls
TEHE EH - —RRERBRESER

B. Social

B.AtE

Section

=z foie

2R

Aspect B3: Development and Training

fETEB3 : /&R

General Disclosure

—RIKE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by gender and and employee
R ENISEB3.1 category.

RURREEERIEISNXIIEER DL -
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
BRERIEEB3.2 employee category.

ZURIRESERED  BREITRZIN TR -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : ¥ T%A|

Development and Training

R A
Development and Training

TR NI

Development and Training
R A

General Disclosure

—MRIEE
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid
AR ENIEEBA. child and forced labour.

g RIEERMERARRET MAHIST -
KP1 B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
BRENIEEBL.2 discovered.

Mt ERERIERRERBRBERTRR SR -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BiR MERERHRSE (R

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls

ITEGE BE  —RBREREREREER

B. Social
B.#E

Section

=z foie

R

Operating Practices

&EEH

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

fEmBS : ftEREERE

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI B5.1
B A MIEEB5.1

KPI B5.2
B A5 15 B5.2

KPI B5.3
B A MIEEB5.3

KPI B5.4
A& MISIEB5.4

Number of suppliers by region.
TR B SR HIEREIE o

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored.

R A ERERAHEENEN  mERTEREMNNMHEREE - UKk
MHEARITRERETE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

A R HEE S ERANRE R ERARNIES - LARAER
TRERTE -

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
how they are implemented and monitored.

R EREHER R R 2 ARRE M MRBER - ANEEAT
MEEETE -

Supply Chain Management
HrEgEE R

Supply Chain Management
HEEER

Supply Chain Management
HrEgEE R

Supply Chain Management
HrEgEE R

Supply Chain Management
HrEgEE R
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BE HERELIES ()

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls
TEHE EH - —RRERBRESER

B. Social

B.AtE

Section

=z foie

2R

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

—RIKE
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls
FRENIEIEB6.1 for safety and health reasons.
EERDEXEREHTEALZEEEFIEHMALKN B AL
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and
AR ENIEIEB6.2 how they are dealt with.
BEMNE @ RRBOIRFE B AR BT X -
KPI B6.3 Description and practices relating to observing and protecting
AR ENIE1EB6.3 intellectual property rights.
Fh sl B4 v N AR B NGB E M A AR IE M
KPI1 B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
ERENIEEB6.4 HEERTRREREMBUIRT o
KPI B6.5 Description of customer data protection and privacy policies,
AR ENIEIEB6.5 how they are implemented and monitored.

WU BEBERRERLBEER - ARBERITRESRTE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
BiR MERERHRSE (R

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls

TEHE EE - —MEBERERENER
B. Social
B.#E

Section

=z foie

R

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EmEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

—RKE
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
FAREMIEEBT.1 brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the case.
RESRPANHETASIHESREBREEENESHARENEE
NEFAMER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
FARENMIEEB7.2 procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
FE L, #AE e M ERIRIR T - A RABREII T RSB 0k o
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to
FARENIEEB7.3 directors and staff.

ftmESRE TRHNREFHEI -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : HERE

Anti-corruption and
Anti-Money Laundering
RERRRERE

Anti-corruption and
Anti-Money Laundering
RESRRERE

Anti-corruption and
Anti-Money Laundering
RESRRERE

Anti-corruption and
Anti-Money Laundering
REFRREERE

General Disclosure

—MRIEE

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental

FARENISIEBS.1 concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
EXEREE(HE  BEEHE - LIFK 2Kk - 8BE) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

FAEENIEEBRS.2 EHIHBEMBAER(NEELRRE) -

Community Investment

HRRE
Community Investment

HEIRE

Community Investment

HEIRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BULHEES

31 December 2023 —_ £ -_=F+_-_H=+—H

KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

MESGMEBBMAERLE

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of
Asia Television Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia Television Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
(the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) set out on pages 100 to 235, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BENERZRBERDFARRZ
BYBZBEARE
(RESHEBRMALZBERAF)

2R

BT T HIENE 10082358 M ERIERAR
AR([ERR N REMB AR (FE [ E£® ) MR
EMBHRER([REMBHRE]) BERZZ==F
TZA=tT—HBNGEMBERAREREZBE IEF
ENHmEEEREMEEKSER  SRAEREHE
RirERERERNUNRGEVBHREMT - BFE
RETERER R EMAERER -

HMRBR  GEVBBRRERRBEGHMLE
((BBgstmag )RAENEBTBREEL(F
BB mEERNEENAARKRT HEEER
TEC=F+ A=+ HOUBHRRAREEE
ZHLEFENMBRRALIESRE XL ERCE
BRABGE) ZREH -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB164,624,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at 31 December 2023, the Group
was in net liabilities position of approximately RMB690,703,000 and its current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately RMB710,495,000.
The Group also has defaulted in repayment of loans and borrowings with
outstanding amount of approximately RMB236,909,000 as at 31 December
2023. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other matters
as set forth in Note 1, indicate a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty Related to
Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be
the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

% 3L 8% BB 3 5 (4R)

31 December 2023 —_ £ _=F+_-_HA=+—H

ERWEE
HMERREESAMASEMN T BEE LR
(TEBFERDRITES LI - HPINZFE
AT AENEEEE— PHANAREF [ZEED
B EPBWMEAENRME|—F - RIZFB
ERIPN-REL G -l S EES TS
A1) HMBIY BEE - XEBETTHHHE
R RBEET - TAIBE - RAESHETE
REER D AR ARMOE R IRHER -

ERFERENERTRERE
BMRBEIEGAVERENTE - HBETRES
—T-=F+-_A=t+-—HBHILEFE X BEEHE
AR REBY AR 164,624,000T ° MR-
—=Ff+=-A=+—8B  EBE£EEREEFHE
49 A R #690,703,0000T : ERBBERBR
BEENARMET10,4950007T c R E - =4
+=ZA=+—08  B£EEXASEHARE
236,909,000 T E R R & 5K o S0t sE1 Frak - 3%
SEMRBERCGERMZIFMENEMEE)BRT
FEERATHETHEZ Al AREER BH£EF
BIRERE S - HMWER U FEERER -

REEITER
RRBAFAERERMANERHE - RAHEAR
HRZ RV BERENBARRSERNSTIH - 5L
EREERMEFBERBG SV BHRERAHAERRK
ETREN - M T SHELEETRREEENE
R

B[ EMSECENERTEERS | —fAmtn=
BN BPE R TAERSERARE BB
RERTFH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2023 —_ £ -_=F+_-_H=+—H

Key Audit Matters — continued

Key audit matter

BRETER

REETEE- &

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRNFA N AHBARENSRETEE

Impairment review of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets in Media cash generating unit ("CGU")
(please refer to Notes 13, 15 and 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements)

KR ELEU([ReELEL )FYE  BERRE EAEEENRETEEZREG GFREG A BERMZ13 - 15516)

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets belonging
to Media CGU were approximately RMB4,143,000, RMB6,688,000
and RMB3,449,000 respectively. During the year, the Group has
recognised impairment loss on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets belonging to Media CGU of
approximately RMB3,493,000, RMB 15,635,000 and RMB8,251,000
respectively in the consolidated profit or loss as the recoverable
amount of the Media CGU was lower than its carrying amount.

The management determined the recoverable amount of the Media
CGU based on its value in use, which was calculated based on the
present value of the future cash flows directly generated by the
CGU.

The determination of recoverable amount required the exercise of
significant judgement by management and involved high level of
estimation uncertainty, with respect to the underlying cash flow
projections, in particular the forecast revenue and estimated costs,
and the applicable discount rate.

RZZE_=F+-_A=+—H BERERBRESELBEMNYE
WERZE FTRAREEREFEERBFEINOAARE
4,143,0007t + AR #6,688,0007T & A R#3,449,0007T © FA
AEERGAEERABREEHSELBENNYE « BRE&&E
FRAEEEREFEEZREBED AL ARYS,493,000T © A
R #15,635,0007C & A R#8,251,0007T * FERRIR S EA B
ke S BERERAE -

EEERBEABRSELENNEREEETEAIRESEE - A
MERNRREELBNERELEZ RARRERE 2REE -

EETHDSEEEEEE L EALE - TP REKTARBTT
Bl BT RAMBRe RN L RS R R A
ARBRBERE -

With the assistance from our engaged valuation specialists, our
procedures in relation to the impairment review included:

— obtaining the valuation report and assessing the
independent valuer’s competence, capabilities,
independence and objectivity;

— assessing the appropriateness and reasonableness of the
valuation methodology and assumptions in determining
the recoverable amount with reference to the industry
practice;

— assessing the appropriateness of the management
judgments and reasonableness of the estimates used in
the cash flow projection, including the sales growth rates
and profit margins;

— discussing with the management about the other
assumptions used in the valuation and to challenge the
reasonableness of the key inputs including assessing the
reasonableness of the discount rate based on relevant
market data of comparable companies where appropriate;

—  checking the accuracy and relevance of the input data and
mathematical accuracy of the valuation calculation and
the underlying data used in the calculation; and

—  performing sensitivity analysis around the key assumptions
for forecast revenue and estimated costs and considering
the extent of change in those assumptions that would
result in impairment.

?ﬁﬁﬁﬁé%ﬁ’ﬂﬁ@?ﬁ%ﬁ%%? BB RRER IR
a5 ¢

— EEHERS  YHEBMGEEM AR - 8h Bk
REEME

— BEBEZEFEEN FEETUKDEBEGETARR
HRELHERAE

- FHEEEERESREEN(BREEEHRRREFR)E
BRI HETEES S R A AR

- HEREIWRGEEMAIEMERR  YEEZERTER
AELRARZ BT SEEE T E2MABER S EER
HE S (RREFERERZ M)

— REGAREBZEBERBBNL - ARGEFERFTESR
P2 HEARIE 2 B EREE &

— BIEAWE MR A T 2RBETHRESN - L E
BZEBREHUBMHBREZRE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information in the annual report, but does not
include the Consolidated Financial Statements and our auditor’s report thereon
(the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements, our
responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, consider
whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Consolidated
Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the Other Information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) assists the
Directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

% 3L 8% BB 3 5 (4R)

31 December 2023 —_ £ _=F+_-_HA=+—H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
Consolidated Financial Statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Consolidated Financial
Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
Consolidated Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error; design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; and, obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the Directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements — continued

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
Consolidated Financial Statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the Consolidated Financial Statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph
Practising Certificate Number: P04686

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RERIRAMZALRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE T _=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=4F —E-—
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B EE ARBETFT ARBFT
Turnover = 3 5 105,309 77,090
Cost of sales HEKA (127,840) (102,696)
Gross loss E#8 (22,531) (25,606)
Other gains, net H b ) F5E 6 840 756
Gain/(loss) on disposal of a subsidiary He—FRB ARz Wz (EE) 33(a),(b) 21,760 (8,150)
Gain on de-consolidation of a subsidiary K IEEHAR—EB AR 2 s 33(c) - 35,150
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at BRATEFABRRZVBEEZ
fair value through profit or loss Wz (518 )35 8 4,751 (21,456)
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BB MR EEREE S
equipment 13 (3,493) (7,170)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEEZRERFSE 15 (15,635) (31,910)
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEZ BEER 16 (8,251) (25,897)
Impairment loss on interest in an associate HREE & N TS 2 R EEE 17 (2,332) -
Share of loss of an associate DIEEE R REE 17 (4,874) (732)
Net impairment loss on trade and other B 5 REMERIRZ ZBIEEIE
receivables FE (652) (904)
Reversal of impairment loss on loan R E R 2 BB E B
receivables, net FE 20 - 11,174
Distribution and selling expenses DI REERT (6,995) (1,525)
Administrative and other operating expenses 7 & E b & & 5 &2 (57,743) (67,483)
Finance costs BMERA 7 (70,846) (77,186)
Loss before taxation BR 75 A B 18 8 (166,001) (220,939)
Income tax credit FrE Tt e 11 1,377 6,674
Loss for the year NEEEIE (164,624) (214,265)
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income HEma2m (k) M
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to FRAEERH 7EZEam o HE -
profit or loss:
- exchange differences arising on translation —#&EA 7 [E 5 =58 (11,197) (37,188)
— exchange reserve released upon disposal — HE M B A ml R AR BR [E 5 e
of a subsidiary 33(b) - 372
— exchange reserve released upon —RIEE O AR — B A R
de-consolidation of a subsidiary AR OB 5 A 33(c) - 4,071
Total comprehensive expense for the year, AEEEEHR L5
net of income tax (HBRFTISHL) (175,821) (247,010)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
RERIRAEZEKE R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T _=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E=F —ET_—
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
P aE AREFT AREFT
Loss for the year attributable to: ATEEAFEERE :
Owners of the Company VIN/NGIEZ 2 =D/ (132,383) (184,415)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR =R (32,241) (29,850)
(164,624) (214,265)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ATEEAFEEERST R :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE 2 =N (139,539) (198,980)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR R (36,282) (48,030)
(175,821) (247,010)
2023 2022
—E=F —E_—
RMB cents RMB cents
AR ARES
(restated)
(42 &%)
Loss per share attributable to owners of NATEE AFESERER
the Company
— Basic and diluted (in RMB cents) —HEARGE#EEHEAREKSD) 12 (12.12) (18.1)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HaMBRAR

As at 31 December 2023 R-ZZE_=F+_A=+—H

2023 2022
—E=F T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B = AR FT ARKTFT
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB KkEE 13 4,489 12,082
Investment properties REYHE 14 920 1,141
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 15 6,688 22,516
Intangible assets mAE 16 3,449 21,636
Interest in an associate N e 17 7,108 14,052
22,654 71,427
Current assets REEE
Inventories T8 18 37,970 48,749
Trade and other receivables, deposits B 5 REMEWERK
and prepayments e R RIE 19 38,387 40,007
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABREZ
profit or loss S EE 21 14,008 10,126
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBREIRE S 22 13,918 3,554
104,283 102,436
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A ER IR 23 449,830 337,065
Contract liabilities AHBEE 24 6,810 6,398
Bond payables EES 25 75,808 69,621
Taxation payables R FIE 4,120 4,137
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 177 120
Loans from other financial institutions KEEHMEFEE T EX 26 178,618 175,684
Other borrowings Hinfg & 26 99,415 52,342
Convertible bonds AR ES 27 - 41,206
814,778 686,573
Net current liabilities REBAETRE (710,495) (584,137)
Total assets less current liabilities BMEERRBERE (687,841) (512,710)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
e RERRR (R

As at 31 December 2023 R—ZZE-_=F+_A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —ZET—-—
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T ARBFIT ARKEFIT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 513 274
Other borrowings HEibfgE 26 1,550 5,047
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIEEE 28 799 2,195
2,862 7,516
Net liabilities EEFE (690,703) (520,226)
Capital and reserve BERRFEE
Share capital A% A 29 956,689 956,689
Reserves HE (1,346,849) (1,207,310)
Equity attributable to owners of AATHEE AELES
the Company (390,160) (250,621)
Non-controlling interests AR M 2 (300,543) (269,605)
Capital deficiency B s 4 (690,703) (520,226)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 235 were approved and % 109& 2358 Y G A MG HRED N —Z —WE
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024 and are signed = B —+ N\ HiEE =< #1378 B 548 2630 B L

on its behalf by: TALTREEZ
Liu Minbin Zha Xiaogang
25058 E=YN|
Co-Chairman and Executive Director Co-Chairman and Executive Director
W RN TEE e L RN TEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REeNZEDE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #E =%

=+ RAR=1T—HBLFE

=z —
Convertible Share-based Statutory Non-  (Capital
Share Share  Special Other bond equity ~ payments Translation  surplus Accumulated controlling deficiency)/
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  resery reserve reserve fund |osses Total interests Total equity
AARE : EERE (AR E#
A RbEE SHRE EBRE FRERE OX Eifh BEE ZAER G FnRES /8
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ANRETT A\RETT ARETT AREFT ARETTL AREFT ARETL ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT AREFL
Note (i) Note (ii) Note (iii)
(i)
1 January 2022 “B--E-f-B
Loss for the year TERER - - - - - - - - (184,415 (184,415  (29.850) (214,265
Other comprehensive income for the year A4S 7 £t 2 Mz
- Exchange differences arising on -BEELY
translation ERER = = = = = - (19,008) = - (19,008 (18,180)  (37,188)
- Disposal of a subsidiary ~HE-HHBAR - - - - - - 3N - - 372 - 372
- De-consolidation of a subsidiary ~RIHEAAE
~HHEAR = = = - - -4 - -4 -4
Other comprehensive income for the year — AFE 2 £t 2ENE - - - - - - (14,565) - - (14565 (18,180)  (32,745)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year ~ AEE 7 2AE TS = = = = = - (14,565) - (184,415) (198,980)  (48,030) (247,010)
Issue of shares upon conversion nhkESESS
of convertible bonds BEORH 85,880 806 = - (9837 = = = - 76,849 - 76849
Disposal of a subsidiary LE-RKBAR - - - - - - - - - - (15091)  (15,091)
Recognition of equity-settled BRI EREE R
share-based payments RERMR = = = = = 308 = = = 308 = 308
Lapse of share options BRELH - - - - - (1616 - - 1,616 - - -
85,880 806 - - (9,837) (1,308) - - 1,616 77057 (15091) 62,066
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—f
+-R=t-H 956,689 1,163,325 82,374 73,876 5348 2,460 4,677 25,557 (2,564,927) (250,621) (269,605) (520,226)
1 January 2023 “B-ZE-f-B
Loss for the year rERER - - - - - - - - (132383) (132,383)  (32,241) (164,624)
Other comprehensive (expenses)fincome  A5EzE(2E
for the year (F%)/ &
- Bxchange differences arising on -BEEEY
translation EXEE - - - - - - (1,156 - - (7156 (4,041)  (11,197)
Other comprehensive expenses for the year K& 7 Eft 2 AR - - - - - - (7,156) - - (7056)  (4,041)  (11,197)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year ~ AEE 7 2EE LS - - - - - - (7,156) - (132,383) (139539) (36,282) (175,821)
Lapse of share options BRELN - - - - - (425) - - 425 - - -
Capital contribution from non-controlling ~ MBABI3FEMkiER
interests of subsidiary & - - - - - - - - - - 5,344 5,344
Upon maturity of convertible bonds AR EH5 - - - - (5,348) - - - 5,348 - - -
- - - - (5,348) (425) - - 5773 - 5,344 5,344
At 31 December 2023 R=B=ZfF
+=A=1+-H 956,689 1,163,325 82,374 73,876 - 2,035 (2,479 25557 (2,691,537) (390,160) (300,543) (690,703
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Notes:

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

RSB (R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BEZT=_=F+_A=1+—HIEFE

The special reserve represents the differences between the nominal amount of
the shares issued by the Company and the Group’s former holding company and
the aggregate amount of paid-up capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the group reorganisation in 2005 in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares, net of subsequent distribution to shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the derivative financial instruments
arisen from the subscription agreement of convertible bonds became
unconditional, such derivative financial instruments was deemed as capital
contribution as subscriber was the substantial shareholder of the Company.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment
enterprises in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund which is non-
distributable. Appropriation to such reserve is made out of net profit after taxation
of the statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries while the amounts
and allocation basis are decided by their board of directors annually. The statutory
surplus reserve fund can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and can be
applied in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue.

i -

FRlREIEAR B RAEE AR AR B BHITRG
EE SRER_ZFTAFRABHARRMMN L
ZEBEAEMREZINBATZBAERNEE 22
AR ERARRER Z DR 2 FHEHE

BE_Z-NF+_A=+—HILFE - RKE
FRBHHREEZTEM TAK AR - %%
MEMBTARARTE  RARRBARLAT
TERRE -

BRERTEARANMBE((HEDIMECEZ BEE
PIROER  ARBZHEMBRRAFENA DK
ZEERBRES - ARREBRTIRE P EK
BRREEMBHR BBRLAR - MARBERDE
AEETRAMARZESRRFRE ° AERBR
BLATANBERBEFEZER(MA) RATUNER
BT A AERBER -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GRHeRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T -_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
=% —ZT=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT ARMETFT
Operating activities A TS
Loss before taxation BR7 A BT 18 (166,001) (220,939)
Adjustments for: MTIIFIEELAE -
Interest income FEMA (8) (4)
Interest expenses FERX 70,846 77,186
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 2 B 10,369 13,244
Depreciation of property, W BELKREZITE
plant and equipment 5,185 5,395
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZTE 1,092 2,295
Net (gain)/loss on financial assets at RAFEFABREZ
fair value through profit or loss B EE 2 (W)~
b (4,751) 21,456
Impairment loss on interest in an associate A —RIB & QTR Z
BIEEE 2,332 =
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y% - BEREEZ
equipment REEE 3,493 7,170
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FRELEZRERE 15,635 31,910
Impairment loss on intangible assets IS E 2 REEE 8,251 25,897
Share of loss of an associate AIEHE R REE 4,874 732
Share-based payment expense AR D BERI AT - 308
Write-down of inventories FEMR 542 -
Reversal of write-down of inventories [0l 17 S MU - (1,725)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEYZE - BEKRERR
equipment (63) =
(Gain)/loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HMHBARZ(WE),/
Ea (21,760) 8,150
Gain on de-consolidation of a subsidiary LIEE— B AR
RE ABR 2 Was - (35,150)
Net impairment loss on trade and B 5 REMEBKERZ
other receivables BIEEEFE 652 904
Net reversals of impairment loss in respect EffEEEES 2
of deposits paid for suppliers VEREN Spi= b EpEE - (969)
Reversal of impairment loss on loan R E R 2 R EE B B F5E
receivables, net - (11,174)
Fair value loss on investment properties wEMFENTEEE 241 -
Other non-cash transactions (note 36(a)) HiIFB L5 (Hit36(a))
— Dividend income — REWA - (484)
— Shooting and broadcasting income — 8RR A - (1,600)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

ReaBeiEx(R)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—_T—_=F+=—A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABRMTFIT ARBTFT
Operating cash flows before movements EEESEHHICKERER=E
in working capital (69,071) (77,398)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories TFERD, (M) 10,237 (3,556)
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 R HE A EWRFOR D 2,432 20,598
Decrease in loan receivables JEUR B TR > - 25,385
Decrease in bank balances and RITHER RIS
cash — segregated accounts — BYRF - 12,371
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K H b FE A BRFRIE AN 28,450 17,985
Cash used in operations KEMBAZIRE (27,952) (4,615)
Taxation paid BEHE (78) (21)
Net cash used in operating activities BB 2 IR & R (28,030) (4,636)
Investing activities REE
Interest received B A 2 8 4
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB &Y « BE MK (857) (8)
Additions of intangible assets RNEELEE - (12,942)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERAFEF AEBTREZ
fair value through profit or loss WIS & E 2 BT 0E 975 189
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE  BERREZ
and equipment FriS3kIA 63 oy
Disposal of a subsidiary & — R E A 89 (574)
De-consolidation of a subsidiary BRI — B A RERE AR - (245)
Advance to a third party ME=FER (5,407) =
Net cash used in investing activities BEEBHBA RS F5 (5,129) (13,576)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

HaHeiEx (R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE T -_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
T =F —ZT=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT ABRET T
Financing activities BEES)
Interest paid BFE (594) =
Repayment of lease liabilities EEEEAR(BEENFE)

(including interest paid) (192) (477)
Proceeds from other borrowings HihEE 2 TS sIE - 14,480
Repayment of other borrowings EEHEMER

(2,126) =
Advance from/(repayment to) a RERBER MR

related party (BRTEER) 8,533 (21,791)
Advance from directors BEIK 35,863 -
Capital contribution of IR ITE

non-controlling interests 5,344 =

Net cash generated from/(used in) mEESEL ()2

financing activities & FE 46,828 (7,788)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BeRReSEWLN CR)

cash equivalents p=E:C] 13,669 (26,000)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BZzRERESEEY 3,554 29,041
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes GNES T SR ) 2 (3,305) 513
Total cash and cash equivalents at 31 RTZA=+—HzH& Rk

December ReEEYERE 13,918 3,554
Analysis of the balances of cash and RERREEBYM BRI

cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents HERIRESEEY 22 13,918 3,554
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Asia Television Holdings Limited was incorporated and registered as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and acts as an investment holding company. The
Company's shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company is Room
515, 5/F., Tower A, New Mandarin Plaza, 14 Science Museum Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Renminbi
(“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated. The directors of the Company considered
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") and RMB is the functional currency of the
Company and the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC respectively since
the business transactions, in terms of operating, investing and financing
activities of the Company and the subsidiaries are mainly denominated in
HK$ and RMB respectively.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The Group's recorded a net loss of approximately RMB164,624,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at 31 December 2023, the
Group was in net liabilities position of approximately RMB690,703,000
and its current liabilities exceeded the current assets by approximately
RMB710,495,000. The Group also has defaulted in repayment of loans
and other borrowings with outstanding amount of approximately
RMB236,909,000 which were included as part of current liabilities as at
31 December 2023. These events and conditions indicate the existence
of material uncertainties which may cast doubt about the Group’s ability
to continue as going concern.

e MBRRME

31 December 2023 —_ £ _=F+_-_HA=+—H

—REH

TMHEBERERBERARREFRSHEARE
MR MM AEREEREERR - I
ERREER AR - KRARBROEBTLHE
RHMAERAR (BT ERET - AR
AlZEMMERETZLR NI RE
BNERDHRMBEBI4FHXER LA
PES1E515% ©

FEMBHBRRIIAARE(TARE]ZS
BREHAEIN  EEEHNREREN
TR - ARBEZRR BB THR
AR D B AR B R i B MBSz /O Y
BARzMEER  REZARR RS
REAELE REMBERDIEZEBR
ZEBRRIABTRAREFE -

mBERE
SEUBHRRDREEEGHMLAS([HE
SRR G |) AR 2 BB I RS 2 A
(TEBMBHREER ) (BEAETBUHR
SR - BRGFE([FAEFTEL]) R
BE)RE - WO - A TSR BEB
Ex Em AR LR AL REE R RS
REZBRREES -

BHE-_T-_=F+-A=1+—HILEFE ' &
SEEBFBEEHARK164,624,0007T
MR=ZZT=_=F+=-A=+—H ' x&BH
BEFELN A ARE690,703,0007T © Hii
FEEBL R EELH ARET10,495,000
T AEENEHRERNE RN E i
EmmARERES L/ AKRE236,909,000
T BRHARZE-=f+=—A=+—RH2Z
REBEEIHD - WESHANBRERGEESE
ATHEERE @ Al EBEHAEBBFELCE
HIRE I EE I RE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —_ £ -_=F+_-_H=+—H
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GENERAL INFORMATION — CONTINUED

Basis of preparation — continued

The directors of the Company have taken the following measures to
mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position of
the Group:

(i) A potential investor has committed to provide continuing financial
support to the Group to enable it to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due for the foreseeable future;

(i) Actively negotiating with lenders to renew loans and borrowings
that have fallen due;

(i) Implementing comprehensive policies to monitor cash flows
through cutting costs and capital expenditure;

(iv)  Exploring the possibility of disposing certain non-core assets;

(vy  On 17 May 2023, the Company entered into supplemental
subscription agreement with Nanotechnology Singapore Pte. Ltd.
("Nanotechnology”), an independent third party, pursuant to
which Nanotechnology has conditionally agreed to subscribe for
and the Company has conditionally agreed to issue convertible
bonds in an aggregate principal amount of HK$300,000,000 at
conversion price of HK$1.0 per conversion share following the
effective share consolidation on 21 December 2023;

(vi)  Approaching potential investors to raise additional funding from
the capital markets; and

(vii)  The directors of the Company anticipates that the Group will generate
positive cash flows from its operations in the foreseeable future.

Based on the Group’s cash flow projections, taking into account of
effectiveness and feasibility of the above measures covering a period of
twelve months from the end of the reporting period prepared by the
management, the directors of the Company consider the Group would
be able to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due within the forecast period. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying value of the Group's
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
that may arise and to re-classify non-current assets and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION — CONTINUED

Basis of preparation - continued

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern
basis for accounting in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments and
investment properties, which are measured at fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2023 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and February

2022 Amendments

to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 12

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the application
of the new standard and the relevant amendments have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs"”) - CONTINUED
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is amended to
replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with
“material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be
material because of the nature of the related transactions, other events
or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not

obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies
the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and
to judge whether information about an accounting policy is material
to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance but has affected the
disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments, accounting
policy information that is standardised information, or information
that only duplicates or summarises the requirements of the HKFRSs, is
considered immaterial accounting policy information and is no longer
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements so as not
to obscure the material accounting policy information disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) - CONTINUED
Change in accounting policy as a result of application
of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF") — Long Service Payment
(“LSP") offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong

The Group has subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong which are obliged
to pay LSP to employees under certain circumstances. Meanwhile,
the Group makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee who
administers the assets held in a trust solely for the retirement benefits
of each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s
accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF contributions
was allowed under the Employment Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022,
the Government of the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the
accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions
to offset severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will
officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition,
under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary immediately
preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date of termination of
employment) is used to calculate the portion of LSP in respect of the
employment period before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” which
provides guidance for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism
and the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this, the Group has implemented
the guidance published by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP
obligation retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and more
relevant information about the effects of the offsetting mechanism and
the Abolition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") —

CONTINUED

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to HKFRSs

that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16
Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and

Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current (the “2020

Amendments”)?
Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants (the “2022

Amendments”)?
Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the

above amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies are set out below:

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group losses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

k% & M B8] & W aE (18)

31 December 2023 —_ £ _=F+_-_HA=+—H

FESFEE
P2 EBRHBEMT

mERE
SAUBRREFEARFAREMERR (A
SB D)2 FBImEK -

HEEERERER LA =RAEHEERA
—IANALHREE  AEEEEHFGEE
EREIRE T RS o

B AR 2 e ARRRARBE RS A BB
REZEHILRIG YR ANEEREER
M AR 2GR - ABTE - FR
g HENB AR Z MARRXTIBAR
SEMSEHIEZ BREF AGS BRI
fthrHEKER - BEEAKETBIEGFRM
BARZBHMAIE -

BaELEMEEKENSIEEBBRAAAF
A ARNEERER - B ARNEEKE
RERGEEN AR AR A RIFER s (B
U S FEE IR e s B A A AR BR) ©

MEFRE  SHNBAR ZMBRKRELH
B QRS BRRAAEEZ G5 RE—
B o

SERRRIRCBEERAR - xR
A AXRARAEEKE 2HRX5HHR S
ME - EREARE 2N -

AP B 2 Bl Y SE 2 A i o AN R [ N H AP Y
BamOREY  REFERERERAER
ks BEBBABERNERERLS
IEHEEMBARFEE -

Annual Report | 32023 115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —_ £ -_=F+_-_H=+—H

116

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Investment in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence,
which is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decision of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in
these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to contracts
with customers is provided in Note 5 and 24.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than construction in progress) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment other than properties under construction
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using straight-
line method, as follows:

Buildings Over the estimated useful lives of 30 years
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining life of the lease
Furniture, fixtures and 10% - 33':%
computer equipment
Production equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Right-of-use assets The lease term
Plant and machinery 10%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Property, plant and equipment - continued

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Right-of-use assets for buildings are depreciated over their expected
useful lives on the same basis as owned. However, when there is no
reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the
lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and
their useful lives.

The depreciation rates for the different classes of right-of-use assets are
as follow:

Over the lease term
Office premises: 10-33':%
Motor vehicles: 20%

Leased properties:

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property acquired in a
business combination are initially recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the consolidated income statement in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the consolidated income statement in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Intangible assets

Film rights and licence fees

Film rights and licence fees are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. It comprised
(i) costs incurred to produce or acquire programme rights for the Group
to broadcast related programmes on the Group’s Over-The-Top (“OTT")
platform and (ii) costs incurred to acquire or licence the film rights for
the Group to broadcast or distribute/sublicence related films on OTT or
other platforms or re-film, are capitalised as “Intangible assets”.

The useful life of the intangible that arises from contractual or other
legal rights shall not exceed the period of contractual or other legal
rights, but may be shorter depending on the period over which the entity
expects to use the asset.

The Group amortises the costs to reflect the expected pattern of
consumption of expected future economic benefits. Film rights and
licence fees related to OTT platform are amortised based on estimated
viewing patterns. The amortisation is on an accelerated basis as the
Group typically expects more upfront viewings at the initial periods
after commencement of viewing. For the other film rights and licence
fees, the amortisation commences when the Group expects to use
the asset to derive the economic benefits. The estimated useful lives
and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Other payments made in advance or in arrears of film right and licence
fees recognised are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position as “Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments” or
“Trade and other payables”.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. An
impairment loss is made when there has been a change in the estimate
used to determine the recoverable amount and the carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Intangible assets — continued

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their
fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, other intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for other intangible
asset with finite useful life is provided on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life.

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from being
indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Leases - continued

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,

less any lease incentives received;
o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Leasing — continued

The Group as a lessee — continued

Right-of-use assets — continued

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. Other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date/settlement date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - 3.

CONTINUED

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

3 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(1)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets — continued

(i)

(ifi)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOC/

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to retained profits/will continue to be held
in the FVTOCI reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “other gains” line item in profit or loss.
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

The Group has certain investments in movie projects which entitles
the Group to receive a fixed and/or variable income based on
the Group’s investment amount and/or expected rate of return
as specified in the respective film investment agreements. All
movie investments which give rise to cash flows that are not
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding are stated at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line
item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
losses (“ECL") model on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, loan receivables and other
receivables). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables (except
for receivable from margin clients) which the Group recognises 12m ECL.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

For receivables from cash clients and margin clients, the Group considers
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when the clients
cannot meet the margin call requirement and uses the loan-to-collateral
value (“LTV") to make it assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
Financial assets — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

3 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit

rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

3 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

3 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk — continued

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have
low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate, except for the
following businesses:

(@)  Money lending
The Group considers that default has occurred when the
borrowing is more than 2 years past due.

(b)  Securities investment
The Group considers that default has occurred when there is
significant financial difficulty of the issuer.

(c)  Securities brokerage services and margin finance
The Group considers that default of trade receivables
has occurred when all collateral has been sold and the
outstanding balances are not guaranteed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8RB &M (R)

31 December 2023 —_ £ _=F+_-_HA=+—H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
Financial assets — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued

(ifi)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over one year past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets — continued

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Company in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the
following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED
Financial assets — continued
Impairment of financial assets — continued

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Measurement and recognition of ECL — continued
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically:

o For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other
gains, net’ line item (note 6) as part of the net foreign
exchange gains/(losses); and

3 For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of
a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains, net’ line
item as part of the gain/ (loss) from changes in fair value of
financial assets (note 6).

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit

or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which entitle the holder to convert the bonds into
a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion price are
regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability and an
equity component. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible debt. The fair value of any derivative features
embedded in the compound instruments is included in the liability
component. The difference between the proceeds of issue of the
convertible bonds and the fair values assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded option for the holder to convert the
bonds into equity of the Group, is included in equity as convertible
bonds equity reserve. The liability component is carried as a liability at
amortised cost using the effective interest method until extinguished on
conversion or redemption. The derivative components are measured at
fair value with gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bond
payables, bank loans, loans from other financial institutions and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss. The recoverable
amount of non-financial assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset
belongs. In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of CGU for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or group
of CGU to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGU.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than
termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before
twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short term employee benefits are
recognised in the year when the employees render the related service.

Retirement benefit costs

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of
a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the municipal
government of the PRC where a group entity operates. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the
specified contributions.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant
income, subject to a monthly relevant income cap of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for the intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred tax
expenses.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from ‘Loss before taxation’ as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill. .

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Taxation - continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to
the lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax
liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the

accounting for business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuated significantly during the year, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
Such translation differences are reclassified to profit or loss from equity
in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

k% & M B8] & W aE (18)

31 December 2023 —_ £ _=F+_-_HA=+—H

E g = _-I_ JBZ mﬁ

HhEE

RiERERNERZMBERKRE - UREED
BEEREAINZ B (SN )T 2R 5 TR
SFAZATEXERERHNEER(AER
BERREMECEIZRERR 2 E® )R -
REE HRERE - SNESIEZE%IER
TRZBZBITEREHMME - UIMNEES
RAFEZIFEHIAR BAENMRE -

HEEERBEERRERRERELEZER
ZRINEEL 2 RN BERRARER -

MEINGEEMBHRRME - AREEINEE
ZEBEEBENRARSE HRARE 2R
ERBEAREE 2 EE(BIARE) -
WXIRBREEFYERGE  RIEFANZ
[ERAREKRE  EBERT  £AXZER
ZEXRBE  EEZENZE(E)RNEM
EEWETER - WS RN E LA
BT o b X ERENEINRIS & E Bt
EEEH D RERRR

RHEBIEB(BTEEREBNEINEEZ
EEfERE - KB ESRREHBEBINED
ZHBARZEHIE HEFRREHES
BN 2 KRR I B R 2 HRIEHIHE - =X
Hj%/%}&%iﬁﬁ BINEB 2B ERBZ

AZENE - NARHEE AEIEZES
B’\%ﬁn;’iﬁz}iﬁﬁl:ﬁ%%ﬁiﬁ DEERE
BE o

Annual Report | 32023 137



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —_ £ -_=F+_-_H=+—H

138

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of
financial position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above,
net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such overdrafts
are presented as short-term borrowings in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect
the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has the following other non-
financial assets (other than film rights and licence fees):

- property, plant and equipment

- right-of-use assets

- intangible assets

The Group reviews its other non-financial assets (other than film rights
and licence fees) for impairment and/or indications of impairment at end

of each reporting period according to accounting policies set out in Note
3.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY — CONTINUED

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets -
continued

Determining whether other non-financial assets are impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which the non-
financial assets have been allocated. The recoverable amount calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the CGUs and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value or recent transaction prices of similar assets when they are
available and depreciated replacement cost when appropriate for assets.
Where the estimation of recoverable amount is different, there will be a
material impact to the Group's profit or loss.

Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note 16.

Provision of ECL for trade receivable

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit impaired are
assessed for ECL individually. In addition, for trade receivables which are
individually insignificant or when the Group does not have reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue cost or
effort to measure ECL on individual basis, collective assessment is
performed by grouping debtors based on the Group's debtor’s aging
analysis and industry for estimating the debtor’s default rates, taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting
date, the estimated default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information
about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables are disclosed in Note
32.

Significant increase of credit risk

As explained in Note 3, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to
12-m ECL or lifetime ECL for respective receivables. An asset will use
lifetime ECL when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant
increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased, the Group takes into account quantitative
and qualitative reasonable and supportable forward looking information
including available customers’ historical data and existing and forecast
market conditions.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARSEER

The Group derives its revenue from the transfer of goods and services AEBEZKRZREUTEBERIRE RS
over time and at a point in time in the following major product or service EBREEMRAERESEEE R RRE -
lines. This is consistent with the revenue information that is disclosed for I B AR SR B S B IS R S A R B 8 L B AR S

each reportable segment under HKFRS 8.

DIEWE WA ER —B -

2023 2022
—ET-=F —F=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Revenue from contracts with customers within ~ FEBMERE ] F1558 8B AR
the scope of HKFRS 15, analysed by types of BEAHNE  HERK
goods or services: PRISERRIHETT DT -
Sales of goods from AT EmiEE
— sales of finished fabrics — HERK AR 8,082 9,993
— trading of fabrics and clothing — MR R IKE 5 50,433 -
Subcontracting services income D BERBUA 19,849 28,326
Advertising income EERA 2,119 4,221
Shooting and broadcasting income Ha%E K BB U A 11,760 11,103
Other entertainment and media services income - fili 1R 4 & 15 82 Az 745 U A 12,885 19,570
Brokerage and related services income & a0 KBRS A - 1,279
Handling services income BRI RAS A - 12
Sponsorship income BB A 181 240
105,309 74,744
Revenue from other sources H At 2R 2 Wz
Loan interest income ERF 2B A - 507
Margin financing interest income REBEBE N BHBA - 1,839
105,309 77,090
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION -
CONTINUED

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

3 the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

3 the Group’'s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration
(or on amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

5.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION - 5.

CONTINUED
Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

Sales of goods from processing of fabrics and trading of fabrics
and garment products;

- Services income from subcontracting services on fabrics

processing;

- Income from advertisement design, production and advertising

services;
- Income from shooting and broadcasting services;
- Income from other entertainment and media services;
- Income from securities related handling services;

— Commission and service income from underwriting, placing and

brokerage and related services;
- Sponsorship income from customers
- Interest income from loan to customers;
- Interest income from margin financing; and
- Distribution income from movie investment.

Sales of finished fabrics and garment products

The Group sells finished fabrics and garment products to customers.
Revenue is recognised when control of the goods is transferred to the
customers, being when the goods are shipped to the customer’s specific
location (delivery). Following delivery, the customer has full discretion
over the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has the
primary responsibility when onselling the goods and bears the risks of
obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. A receivable is recognised
by the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer as this
represents the point in time at which the right to consideration becomes
unconditional, as only the passage of time is required before payment is
due.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION - 5.

CONTINUED

Revenue recognition - continued

Subcontracting services income, shooting

and broadcasting services income and other
entertainment and media services income

The Group carries out processing, printing and subcontracting services
to fabrics provided by customers. The Group also provides shooting and
broadcasting services, and other entertainment and media services to
customers. Revenue from such services are recognised over time in the
period in which the relevant services are rendered to the customer or
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the
services provided by the Group.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income from sale of securities
Income from sale of equity and debt securities is recognised on a trade
date basis.

Distribution income from movie investment
Distribution income from movie investment is recognised when the
Group's entitlement to such payment has been obtained, which is
subject to the terms of the relevant agreements.

Commission income for security brokerage

Commission and brokerage income are recognised at the rate agreed
in the contract with the customers at the point when the transaction of
securities trading is completed.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION -
CONTINUED

Revenue recognition - continued

Commission income for underwriting and placing
The Group provides placing or public offer underwriting services to
customers under which the Group agrees to subscribe or procure
subscribers to subscribe for (i) agreed number of shares pursuant to
a placing or (ii) shares which are not taken up under public offer.
Commission income is recognised at a point in time upon the placing
shares and public offer shares have been successfully subscribed by
sufficient number of investors. Commission income will be received
immediately based on the rate agreed in underwriting agreement with
the issuers upon the placing and offering shares subscribed.

Income for securities related handling service

The Group provides securities related handling services on collection of
dividends or dividends in kind and physical stock handling for customers’
securities under their custody. Handling services income is recognised at
the point of time when services provided and fee received based on the
listed price of relevant services notified to the customers.

Advertising income

The Group provides advertisement design and production and
advertising services to its customers. Advertising income is recognised
over time when the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date. Significant judgment
is required in determining whether the terms of the Group’s contracts
with customers in relation to advertisement products with no alternative
use create an enforceable right to payment for the group. The Group
has considered the relevant local laws that apply to those relevant
contracts. Based on the assessment of the directors of the company, the
terms of the relevant advertisement design and production contracts
create an enforceable right to payment for the Group after taking into
consideration of the Group’s right to be paid for work done to date
if the customer were to cancel the contract before the order was fully
completed. Accordingly, the revenue from advertisement design and
production is considered to be performance obligation satisfied over

time.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION -
CONTINUED

Sponsorship income

Sponsorship income for specific sponsorship activities over certain period
is generally recognised over the relevant sponsorship period, usually
on a straight-line basis, as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided under the sponsorship arrangement.

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by
a mixture of both business lines (products and services) and geography.
In a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented the following six reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

. Processing, printing and sales of finished fabrics and
subcontracting services in the PRC;

o Trading of fabrics and clothing;

o Money lending;

o Securities investment;
. Media, cultural and entertainment; and
o Securities brokerage services and margin finance.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group'’s senior executive management
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include non-current assets and current assets
attributable to the activities of the individual segments. Segment
liabilities include trade and other payables attributable to the activities
of the individual segments and bank loans managed directly by the
segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments and the expenses
incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise from the
depreciation or amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION -
CONTINUED
Segment reporting — Continued
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance is set out
below:

Year ended and as at 31 December 2023:

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E-_=€+=-H=+—H

5. WARZDEER -&

DRW|E - &
REARDERFEHBRAEMOAERRS
ATERBRUZAEBARED A2 AR
M

HE-Z-_=F+-A=+—BLEFEER
—ET-=F+=-A=+—8:

Securities
Processing, brokerage
printing and Trading of services and
sales of fabrics and Money Securities Media, margin Unallocated
finished clothing - lending - investment - cuttural and finance - corporate
fabrics - PRC PRC Hong Kong Hong Kong entertainment office Total
r‘xu:m’n mI fikt &
TR -
TE st
2023
RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEEFT A
Revenue from external customers RENREP 2z 27,931 50,433 - - 26,945 - - 105,309
Reportable segment revenue and AREDERERUERRZRE
timing of revenue recognition
Products transferred at RE-BRYELER
a point in time 8,082 50,433 - - - - - 58,515
Services transferred over time ER-BRERELRE 19,849 - - - 26,945 - - 46,794
Reportable segment revenue RRENRRE 27,931 50,433 - - 26,945 - - 105,309
Reportable segment loss (adjusted EBITDA) B A B R (EERBITDA) (13,687) (4,730) (1,505) ) (37,524) - (11,214) (68,664)
Amounts not included in the measure WEGANERGINREE
of segment profit or FENHSE
loss or segment assets:
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH - (23) - - (15,935) - (688) (16,646)
Impairment for property, plant and equipment 0¥ - BERRENHE - - - - (3,493) - - (3,493)
Impairment on intangible assets BYEEZAE - - - - (8,251) - - (8,251)
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEEZRE - - - - (15,635) - - (15,635)
Impairment loss on interest in a associate REER AR AEER - - - - - 2,332 - 2,332
Net impairment loss on trade and ZHREMERER AEBRTE
other receivables (92) - - - (560) - - (652)
Net impairment loss on deposits paid B fER 2R ZAE
to suppliers BRFE (577) - - - - - - (577)
Net of write down of inventories FEHREE (542) - - - - - - (542)
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through ~ RATFEFABREZHBEE
profit or loss e - - - - (89) - 4,840 4,751
Finance costs BERK (594) - - - 213) - (70,039) (70,846)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HERBRRZ S - - - - - - 21,760 21,760
Share of loss of an associate HEBERRBR - - - - - (4,874 - (4,874)
Loss hefore taxation BBATEE (166,001)
Reportable segment assets RARELEEE 44,138 6,201 38 38 38,949 - 37,573 126,937
Additions to non-current segment assets REFRDIREE - 244 - - 1,073 - - 1317
Reportable segment liabilities ARELEER 39,805 944 1,875 - 95,099 - 679,917 817,640
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION - 5.
CONTINUED

Segment reporting - Continued

u&x&ﬁﬁﬁ*ﬂ - IIE
DEBRE - &

BHE-_T-_—F+-A=+—BLEFEERN
ZEF+ZA=+—8H:

Year ended and as at 31 December 2022:

Securities
Processing, brokerage
printing and Trading of services and
sales of fabrics and Money Securities Media, margin Unallocated
finished clothing - lending - investment - cultural and finance - corporate
fabrics - PRC Hong Kong Hong Kong Hong Kong entertainment Hong Kong office Total
AR R BHEERBR
BKES - i -
B R pe(@ R it
202 2022 2022 2022 2022
: E St 3 kSt 3 ToCF ¢ St ToCF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A T ARETF ANEETT ARETF AER
Revenue from external customers RENFEP 2 38319 - 507 - 35,134 3,130 - 77,090
Reportable segment revenue and AREDBRERUBERZKE
timing of revenue recognition
Products and services transferred at RE-REREBER RS
a point in time 9,993 - - - - 1,291 - 11,284
Services transferred over time LR-BEREBRE 28,326 - 507 - 35,134 1,839 - 65,806
Reportable segment revenue BRENRRE 38,319 - 507 - 35,134 3,130 - 77,090
Reportable segment (loss)/profit BRENE(BR)/ 7
(adjusted EBITDA) ({8:3%EBITDA) 2,013) - (4,855) (13) (39,635) 36 (29,138) (75,618)
Amounts not included in the measure AN EERANEEE
of segment profit or FENGE
loss or segment assets:
Depreciation and amortisation 8RS - - - - (20,137) (35) (762) (20,934)
Impairment for property, plant and equipment g BERRENHHE - - - - (7,170) - - (7,170
Impairment on intangible assets BYEEZRE - - - - (25,897) - - (25,897)
Impairment of right-of-use assets ERREEZRE - - - - (31,910) - - (31,910)
Net impairment loss on trade and B RABERER  AEGETE
other receivables 16 - - - (17) (903) - (904)
Net reversal of impairment loss REBHHERZ RS ZAE
on deposits paid to suppliers BiEZE 969 - - - - - - 969
Net reversal of impairment loss REEKETZRAEERTE
on loan receivables - - 1174 - - - - 1,174
Reversal of write down of inventories REF &R 1,725 - - - - - - 1,725
Net loss on financial assets at fair value through RAFEFABSE HBEE
profit or loss ZEBEFE - - - - (1,483) (1,397) (18,576) (21,456)
Finance costs BENK (471) - - - (2,173) (589) (73,953) (77,186)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HERBARZER - - - - - (8,150) - (8,150)
Share of loss of an associate HEBERRER - - - - - (732) - (132)
Gain on de-consolidation of a subsidiary BIEAHAR—RKBA Rz W& - - - - 35,150 - - 35,150
Loss hefore taxation BBAEE (220,939)
Reportable segment assets BERENEEE 61,491 104 50 41 74,732 - 37,445 173,863
Additions to non-current segment assets REFRBIBEE - - - - 12,942 - 8 12,950
Reportable segment liabilities BERENEER 37,099 3,980 1,816 8 80,647 - 570,539 694,089
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION - 5.
CONTINUED

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

Geographical information
The following table sets out information about the geographical location

of (i) the Group's revenue from external customers and (ii) the Group's

non-financial non-current assets (“specified non-current assets”).

The geographical location of revenue from customers is based on the

location at which the services were provided or the goods delivered. The

geographical location of the specified non-current assets is based on the

physical location of the asset.

WARZTEER - &

HEER
TEHINEBOAEMEAIRTS 2K
% R(VAEEZFERBEERDEE (15
FIRBEE )R E 2 BEER o %K
BRI IEM B R ERIBERFRT
RESMIBMET - BTERBEEN
BUEREREEEEMENEMET -

Turnover Specified non-current assets
ERA FEEIEMEN B E
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EZ=F = —Eo=F —E-—fF
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARETFT AREFT
PRC ] 81,289 40,418 780 26
Malaysia SR FadE 4,802 9,502 412 8
Hong Kong BB 19,218 27,170 21,462 71,393
105,309 77,090 22,654 71,427
Information about major customers EEXEEE &R
Revenue from customers of corresponding years contributing over 10% HEAFEEEAEFmAKZI10% U EzRER
of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: PUZENT :
2023 2002
—E-=F -4
RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AR®TF T
Customer A =EER
Revenue from trading of fabrics and clothing MR RKKE Sz Wz 20,978 -
Customer B BRZ
Revenue from advertising income and shooting & 45U A A K %8 K ki g A N/A*
and broadcasting income 2 Wia TEA 8,395
o The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total * AR S M AN E B 42U 25 10% BA | o

revenue of the Group.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION - 5. KARSEER -&
CONTINUED
Contract balances EHER
The following table provides information about receivables from TERBIEEF 2B HNT 2 BERFER

contracts with customers.

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARMFT
Receivables, which are included in “Trade and 5t A [E 5 REAMEKER |~
other receivables” (Note 19) FEMER TR (HTaL19)
— Sales of goods from finished fabrics and — KRB RREERZ
garment products [EERE S 397 1,844
— Subcontracting services income — D BEREKRA 309 1,156
— Trading of fabrics and clothing — R RKIKE 5 4,751 =
— Entertainment and media services income — IREE R IR RIS A 94 3,812
5,551 6,812
The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 21 of HKFRS 15 AEBEABBMB®EERE 155 E21
and does not disclose information about remaining performance Bu{THEERE  MEERBEAEZER
obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less. EENEHFRAE—FIUNAZKBRTERANE

E2EH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREHRRME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

6. OTHER GAINS, NET 6. Hfttz= B8
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARMTFT
Net reversals of impairment loss on deposits paid to 2t ERE 2 2% 7 RIE
suppliers B EFEE - 969
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment &M% « FiE RRE 2 WS 63 -
Net exchange loss ME 5 518 5 5 (1,243) (6)
Bank interest income |ITFEMA 8 4
Government subsidies B E B - 744
Sundries income from entertainment and media LIRS RS o fE 2 FIEW A
services segment 141 -
Service commission from trading of MR RKKE 52 REHE
fabrics and clothing 1,514 -
Dividend income AR 2 A - 484
Fair value loss on investment properties BEME L A TEEE (2471) -
Others Efh 598 (1,439)
840 756
FINANCE COSTS =@
2023 2022
—E =4 T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBFT
Interest on other loans and borrowings HWERREEZFE 56,796 54,436
Interest on bond payables ERESZFE 5,044 4,789
Interest on lease liabilities HEABZFE 23 55
Interest on convertible bonds AR ES 2 F) B 5,892 16,728
Other finance costs H At B & PR 3,091 1,178
70,846 77,186
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i 8 M ¥ 8 &M (E)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8. KR¥FiAIEIE
2023 2022
—Eo=4F — T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT ARKTF T

Loss before taxation has been arrived at after MR AIEIEE KR T 5% 18

charging:
Directors’ remuneration (Note 9) EEME (HiF9) 3,359 4,393
Staff cost (excluding directors’ remuneration)* BINAN(TBRIEESME )"
— Staff salaries —BI%% 19,275 25,702
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions — RIREFIFTEIHEK 1,199 1,164
— Staff welfare —BTHEFA 562 774
— Equity-settled share-based payments — AR A E R MR ST - 161
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) W EEHHE(MF16) 10,369 13,244
Depreciation of: ATFEEZITE :
— Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) —W% - BERZEMF13) 5,185 5,395
— Right-of-use assets (Note 15) —(EREEE(M15) 1,092 2,295
Auditor’s remuneration and other services T2 A B & & E At AR 75
— Audit services — Bz 1,687 1,302
Net (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value BAFESFABRER ZHBEE
through profit or loss A QI iVt
(a) securities investment (a) BHIEE
— Gain on disposal —HE 2 e - (63)
— Fair value (gain)/loss —AFENE) EE (4,751) 20,876
(b) Movie investments (b) BFIRE
— Fair value loss —AFEEEE - 643
(4,751) 21,456
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses X882 FFE KA
(including net write down of inventories (BIEFEMBFEARK
amounting to RMB542,000 (2022: net 542,0007T (=T = — 4 : #EH
reversal of write-down of RMB1,725,000)) RFEAR,725,0007T) ) 78,236 27,910
Short-term leases in respect of ATEIENREEAE
— rental premises (Note 15(c)) — SR (HaF15(c) 1,269 1,705
Notes: Fif ik -
*  Total staff cost of approximately RMB2,386,000 (2022: RMB5,807,000), tOBESF-SRF-ASHT-RALESR-

RMB3,060,000 (2022: RMB521,000) and RMB15,590,000 (2022:
RMB21,473,000) has been charged to cost of sales, distribution and selling
expenses and administrative and other operating expenses, respectively for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. DIRECTORS’,

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S

AND EMPLOYEES’' EMOLUMENTS

Details of emoluments paid by the Group to the directors of the

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

9. EEX  BEFBITERESHMN

AEBERAARRAEEREFRITE S Z B

Company and chief executive officer are as follows: SEBEAT ¢
Retirement
Salaries benefits Equity-settled
and other scheme share-based
Name of directors Fees benefits contribution payments Total
Hek RIKER DEREER
EEa e Eftiar) BE i R f fif
For the year ended 31 December 2023 RMB'000 RMB'000 RIMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HEZZ-=5+-A=1-RILER ANEETFT ANEBTFT ANEREFT ANEETFT ANEETT
Executive directors HTES
— Mr. Liu Minbin vyt - - - - -
- Mr. Zha Xiaogang -BNAEERZZZ=F12A - - - - -
(Appointed on 8 December 2023) N\BEZfE)
~Ms. Tang Po Vi —-BERat - 646 16 - 662
— Mr. Leong Wei Ping —Mr. Leong Wei Ping - 543 - - 543
RERf 4+
- Mr. Sze Siu Bun PR EE - 543 16 - 559
- Mr. Chan Wai Kit -REGEER-2-=F=] - 263 4 - 267
(Resigned on 30 March 2023) =+HET)
~Ms. Sun Tingting ~FERLt - 651 16 - 667
- Ms. Zha Mengling -BERRL(RZB==F=R - 328 - - 328
(Appointed on 30 March 2023) =THEZER)
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTEES
- Ms. Han Xingxing -BEELT 109 - - - 109
- Mr. LiYu ~FL%4 109 - - - 109
- Mr.Lau Jing Yeung William i 27y 109 - - - 109
- Mr. Lu Zhigiang -EFRAEMIT=F12A 6 - - - 6
(Appointed on 8 December 2023) NEEZf)
333 2,974 52 - 3,359
S For identification only 2 EHaE5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

154

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S 9. EX  BEREIITERESHMH
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS - -8
CONTINUED
Retirement
Salaries benefits Equity-settled
and other scheme share-based
Name of directors Fees benefits contribution payments Total
#ek RIKEA ’ém bl
EER we Eftfar] HEGE R GE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
BEZZ-ZE+-A=1-RILEE ANEBTT ANEEFT ANEETFT ANEEFT ANEBFT
Executive directors HITES
~ Mr. Liu Minbin - AR E(R=BZ2F+2A = = - - -
(Appointed on 28 December 2022) ZTN\BEZf)
~Ms. Tang Po Vi -BERat - 44 15 - 457
- Mr. Leong Wei Ping - Mr. Leong Wei Ping = 515 = 54 569
PEFR A
= Mr. Sze Siu Bun - OREE - 500 15 - 515
- Mr. Chan Wai Kit - REGEE - 696 15 - 711
= Ms. Sun Tingting -FERRt - 603 15 - 618
- Dato’ Sri Lai Chai Suang (note) - Dato’ Sri Lai Chai Suang - 164 - - 164
SENBRYEEL ()
Non-executive directors FUTES
- Mr. Andy Yong Kim Seng - Mr. Andy Yong Kim Seng - 154 - 93 247
(Resigned on 1 July 2022) B R
(R=B=ZFtR—-REE)
- Dato' Sri Lai Chai Suang (note) - Dato’ Sri Lai Chai Suang - 638 - - 638
(Resigned on 28 December 2022) SENBRYERT (M)
(R=F=Z
TZAZTN\REHE)
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
~Ms. Han Xingxing -BEENT 103 - - - 103
- Mr.Li Yu -FERE 103 - - - 103
- Ms. Wong Chi Yan -ERERL(R=F=Z%F12A 155 5 - - 155
(Resigned on 28 December 2022) ZH\BEHE)
- Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet Horace (Resigned - Z&EMHE4E (N -F-—F+-f 103 - - - 103
on 28 December 2022) ZH\BEE)
- Dr. Clemen Chiang Wen Yaan - Dr. Clemen Chiang Wen Yaan 9 = = = 9
(Appointed on 1 June 2022 and 1 S S =
resigned on 1 July 2022) /\ﬂ REZER
RZEZZ5LA-REf)
- Mr.Lau Jing Yeung Willam (Appointed - BlFig %4 (R=8== 1 - - - f
on 28 December 2022) TZAZTN\BEZfA)
474 3,712 60 147 4,393
Notes: Bt

Dato’ Sri Lai Chai Suang was re-designated from a non-executive director to an
executive director on 10 October 2022, and resigned as the chairman and an

executive director on 22 December 2022.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

¥ For identification only
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DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S
AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS -
CONTINUED

Salaries and other benefits paid to a director is generally an emolument
paid or receivable in respect of that person’s other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary
undertakings.

Of the five highest paid individuals in the Group, 3 (2022: 2) were
directors, details of whose emoluments are set out above. The
emoluments of the remaining 2 (2022: 3) highest paid employees for the
years are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

0. BE HEHTERESHFH

- mE

INTFEEZFEREMEN -—RAAEH
EEpRIRHAREE R QB REKNE AR
EHZEMRB MO KN Z B

AEEBREZRZERFALT  =R(ZF ==
FMBIREF BZHEEHIINLEX -
RNREFEZEBMA(ZT - —F : =4)
RimEEE 2 FHHMT

2023 2022
—EZ=F T CF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFIT ARKET T
Employees EE

— basic salaries and allowances - EARF & M2, 2,544 4,129
— retirement benefits scheme contributions - RIREFE B R 16 33
2,560 4,162
2023 2022

B A\ s

— =

Nil to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

£%1,000,000/7T

1,000,001/ 72 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001 722,000,000/ 7T
2,500,001 722 3,000,000/ 7T

There was no other arrangement under which a director or the five
highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. In addition, no
emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the
Group, or as a compensation for loss of office for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

REBEE_T-_=FR-_FT=__F+=A
=+ BLEFEHMEEREE R E RS T
AT RESKRBERETAT Nz L b5k -
oN BEZT_=FR-_T-__F+=A
=+ HLEFEEASETERTIRNESKA
EREFALTZAME - ERMAKREEK
MMAREE & 2 2R B e o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

10.

11.

156

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of
the reporting period (2022: Nil).

INCOME TAX CREDIT

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") is calculated at the rate of 25%
prevailing in the PRC jurisdiction for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: 25%). Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at
the rate of 8.25% or 16.5% (2022: 8.25% or 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax,
the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

10.

11.

RE
RAARRBEZE-ZT_=F+=-A=+—H1t
FETHERENSREMKS - BREHRK
BAARYEEZRTEMNKRE(ZE ==
FmE)o

Bl %
PECEMSH(EEMBSHDUBEE=Z
=+ A=+ BLFEEFRAEER
BB EI5% T E(Z T Z4F : 25%) °
FERNERRBEBEEZ GRS R
K8 25% K 16.5% (- T = —4 : 8.25%3k
16.5%)FT IR BB FISBIRAE o

REBEENSHAAGMNESHEGHE 658
REREENE2HB8ETHMNEKRS.25%
MR - MiEE2 A SE T Bz
16.5% FOBL KB > DT & AR I A 1S T K
HIE A E B R A AR R 16.5% R T —
TR

2023 2022
—E=F T _F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBFT

Current tax BNEAFRIE
— PRC EIT — BTSN 61 -
61 -
Deferred tax (Note 28) FEIEFLIE(M15728) (1,438) (6,674)
(1,377) (6,674)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREHRRME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT - CONTINUED 1. iEHE%x - &
Income tax credit for the years are reconciled to loss before taxation as MFE A PTE TR S R B ATE B RAT ¢
follows:
2023 2022
—Eo=F —ET_—
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFT ARBFT
Loss before taxation R 7 Al 518 (166,001) (220,939)
Tax at the applicable rates HEARESE 2 HIE (29,294) (37,386)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEARBMBAZ B E
tax purposes (7,347) (68,307)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AR RIS E
tax purposes 22,766 81,954
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERAMREEEZR Y BB 2
differences not recognised 1,383 1,264
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBIBEB 2 RETE 10,311 15,680
Tax effect of share of loss of an associate DIEEE A RBR BT E 804 121
(1,377) (6,674)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i 8 M ¥ 8 &M (E)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

12.

158

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic loss per share for the current year and prior
year are based on the loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year are set forth below.

For the years ended 31 December 2023, as the Company’s outstanding
convertible bonds (2022: convertible bonds and share options) had an
anti-dilutive effect to the basic loss per share calculation, the conversion
of the above potential shares is not assumed in the computation of
diluted loss per share. Therefore, the basic and diluted loss per share for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are equal.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share attributable to

12. ZRAFEEAREEBRER

AEER E—FENEGREREBERDREA
REGEA NELFARIERE  MERNE
TEBEAEFOEHINT -

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HILFE " &
RARTHRITEAIRBRES(ZF ==
AR ESF RERE) St EGREREIE
ﬂﬁ&%ﬁﬂﬁ’Wﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁ%ﬁ
R AR EABERG - Bt - BEZ
:E¢&_§::¢+:HE+—E¢¢E
ZEREARBEEEIERE -

ARRGEE ANBIEEREAREEEE 2

owners of the Company are based on the following data: B THE AT S ¢
2023 2022
—E-=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFr ARBETF T
Loss &
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the ~ BRI EGRREA R #EEIE Y
Company used in the basic and diluted loss per AR EHEA ARIEFAEIE
share calculation (132,383) (184,415)
2023 2022
TE-=F T
‘000 ‘000
FAE FAE
(restated)
(g=5)
Number of shares k88
Weighted average number of ordinary shares =) M’_ngzli&%éléﬂaz
in issue during the year used in the basic and FABBITEBRMETHE
diluted loss per share calculation (Note) (K1a%) 1,092,567 1,018,594

Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 has been retrospectively adjusted for the ten-
to-one share consolidation of the Company which was effective on 21
December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREHRRME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. 9% - BERRME
Furniture
fixtures and
Leasehold computer  Production Motor Plant and
Buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles  machinery Total
ﬁ/ #tﬂm
BF  HEMR &E@H‘é&ﬁ HERM AE BRRES ast

RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ABETT ARBTT ARETT ARETE ARETT ARETT ARETI

COST BA
As at 1 January 2022 RZZE-—F—f—H 125,230 18,720 56,483 2,417 3,449 150,398 356,697
Additions hE - - 8 - - - 8
De-consolidation of RIEEHBARSAAR

subsidiaries (Note 33(c)) (H33(c) - (201) (133) - - - (334)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  HMEERZE 75/ &

differences - 1,093 1,594 - 215 85 2,987
As at 31 December 2022 and WZZE-_—F+-A=1+—H

1 January 2023 &_7 =#-8-H 125,230 19,612 57,952 2,417 3,664 150,483 359,358
Additions hE - - 857 - - - 857
Disposal HE - - - - (367) - (367)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33a) HERBA :J(/?ﬁg}‘rﬁa) - - (82) - - - (82)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  HMEEN 8752

differences - 229 287 - 20 17 553
As at 31 December 2023 R=B-=#+=A=t-H 125,230 19,841 59,014 2,417 3317 150,500 360,319

DEPRECIATION And IMPAIRMENT ?ﬁ%&}ﬁﬁ

As at 1 January 2022 R-BE-—F—f—H 125,230 6,704 46,222 2,417 3,352 149,533 333,458
Depreciation e - 558 4,636 - % 105 5,395
Impairment loss HEEE - 7,170 - - - - 7170
Eliminated on de-consolidation of BIEEH B RGA ARR

subsidiaries (Note 33c) S (H233c) - (108) (50) = - = (158)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  HMEERZE 752

differences - 316 871 - 210 14 1,411
As at 31 December 2022 and W=B--%+=R E+ B

1 January 2023 E=2-=%-A5 125,230 14,640 51,679 2,417 3,658 149,652 347,276
Depreciation bk - 235 4,835 - 5 110 5,185
Impairment loss BEEBRE - 3,493 - - - - 3,493
Eliminated on disposal R ER - - - - (367) - (367)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries &M B A Tk 4

(Note 33a) (Hi##33a) - - (76) - - - (76)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  JMNEER ZE 22

differences - 131 163 - 21 4 319
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=F+-A=1+-H 125,230 18,499 56,601 2,417 3,317 149,766 355,830
CARRYING VALUES REE
As at 31 December 2023 R-BE-=F+-A=+—H - 1,342 2,413 - - 734 4,489
As at 31 December 2022 RZB-ZF+-A=1-H - 4,972 6,273 - 6 831 12,082
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - 13. 1% - BERRE - &
CONTINUED
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has pledged all of its R_EBE_=FR_FTE_—_F+_A=+—
buildings to certain banks to secure the credit facilities granted to the H AEBEEBEMEEFEFRTE TR
Group (Note 26(a)). 17 LEAREBEREERE 2T (M
26(a)) °
The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment belonging to MBS EmEs BRI ESELSBEM([IR
each cash generating unit (“CGU") for impairment assessment purpose SEABMZYME - BEIKERTED
are as follows: I
2023 2022
T =F —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFT ARBTFT
Media CGU (Note 16) BREReEEEMN(fT16) 4,143 11,277
Unallocated corporate office RAOBERRIMER 346 805
4,489 12,082
The impairment assessments of property, plant and equipment of Media HRReELBUNYE  BERRERE
CGU is set out in Note 16. AT E IR MEE16 -

160 ASIA TELEVISION HOLDINGSLIMITED | i E 8 ZE R B R 2 =



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s property interests held under leases in the PRC which are
classified and accounted for as investment properties and are measured
using the fair value model are set out belows. Movement of the carrying
amounts can be summarised as follows:

w8 M ¥ 8 &M (R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

14. REMWE
AEEFHERFRNEEE T ERETE
RTER DOBERAREAKREYELHA
NEEERAAS  REEZHBANT :

2023 2022
—Eo=F —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETFT
Residential property located in the PRC: URAFPBZ W
As at 1 January m—H—H 1,141 1,051
Decrease in fair value recognised in RIBSERZ A FE TR (M i76)
profit or loss (Note 6) (241) -
Effect of foreign currency exchange difference ISR H =R A 20 90
As at 31 December R+—_A=+—H 920 1,141
Fair value hierarchy N EZERER

An independent valuation was performed by Valtech Valuation Advisory
Limited (“Valtech”), to determine the fair value of investment properties
as at 31 December 2023 by adopting the direct comparison approach
(2022: direct comparison approach). The direct comparison approach
considers the sales, listing or offerings of similar or substitute properties
and related market data and establishes a value estimated by processes
involving comparison.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties is a level 3 recurring
fair value measurement. The fair value measurement is based on the
above investment properties’ highest and best use. During the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.

The following table give information about how the fair values of the
investment properties are determined.

Significant
Valuation technique

fEER T

unobservable inputs

BATUBERARE

Range of significant
unobservable inputs

EATABREGAYE 2#HE

HFRFEERAB([AFR]) BETELGE
B UEAEERERE(ZE=_F : Bl
BREER-_Z_=ZF+-_A=+—B82%
BMEATE BEEILBEEZRREIE
RYEZKR ~ B REIE R RABET
LEE  WEBSRERZBEEEERS
BT o

AEEREMEZ AN TEBEIBREEHER
FEFE c AFEFENER EMEEME
ZEERREERE BE_T_=FK=F
——F+-A=1+—RHILEE  F1IERHEF
2B A BN EAMER - NEEANELE
3B -

TREAESANAETRENEL FEGE
# o

Relationship of
significant unobservable
inputs to fair value
ERRAEERARE
BN FEZER

Direct comparison approach

BERELEE

Adjustments for quality of
properties such as location, size
and level of the properties

AMELE BEREES (
MELDBIERE

LY

AR ST

Market price:

RMB4,100) per square meter
fE : FFARARK3,9007T
F: AR#4,1007T) 2EANBZYELERS -

RMB3,900 (2022:  The higher the quality of properties
with reference to comparables,

the higher the fair value

AVERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i 8 M ¥ 8 &M (E)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

15.

162

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the

15. EHEEEREAERRE

(a) EREEE
AEBFEAEEEZ REERFRNE

movements during the year are as follows: R :
Premium
over prepaid Motor
lease payments vehicles Total
ANHEE
FIERE RE et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETFT
(Note(i) (Note(ii)
(KtaE0) (Kt #(i)
As at 1 January 2022 RZZE-_—_F—HF—H 52,810 463 53,273
Depreciation (Note 8) & (K1:E8) (2,178) (117) (2,295)
Impairment loss REEE (31,910) = (31,910)
Effect of foreign currency SN H =R
exchange difference 3,413 35 3,448
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H8K
and 1 January 2023 —E-_=%—H—H 22,135 381 22,516
Addition NE = 460 460
Depreciation (Note 8) WE(Kri7s) (922) (170) (1,092)
Impairment loss BIEEE (15,635) - (15,635)
Effect of foreign currency INEETE B TR &
exchange difference 433 6 439
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+-A=+—H 6,011 677 6,688
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8RB &M (R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 15. FREEERHESE - &
LIABILITIES — CONTINUED
(a) Right-of-use assets — Continued (a) FHAREEE-&
2023 2022
—E-=4 —=F——
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARMFT
Analysed into: DT =
Media CGU (Note 16) IHREIN S E B (HTaE16) 6,688 22,516

Notes:

0)

(ii)

Upon completion of the acquisition of Asia Television Limited
("ATV") during the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the
directors of the Company re-assessed the nature of the leasehold
land and buildings included in property, plant and equipment of the
ATV and its subsidiaries. Hence, the leasehold land and buildings
were reclassified as “premium over prepaid lease payments”
included in intangible assets. The underlying prepaid lease payments
has lease term of 42 years commencing 22 September 2005.
Therefore, premium over prepaid lease payments is amortised over
29 years which is the remaining lease term since acquisition of ATV.
Upon the application of HKFRS 16, the premium over prepaid lease
payments was reclassified to right-of-use assets as at 1 January
2019.

The Group leases various offices and motor vehicles under leases
expiring from 2 to 3 years and 5 to 9 years respectively. Some leases
include option to renew the lease when all terms are negotiated.
None of the leases includes variable lease payments.

(i)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 15. FRAEEEREERGE - &
LIABILITIES - CONTINUED
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFr
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEAE :
Within one year —FR 177 120
Within a period of more than one year but not %R —%4 BT HBB™ME HARKA
exceeding two years 181 124
Within a period of more than two years but not %A M4BT BB I FEHER
exceeding five years 332 150
Carrying amount as at 31 December R+ZA=+—AKEEE 690 394
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 W ORBAEBE TR ER
months shown under current liabilities 1218 B A#E & 58 (177) (120)
513 274

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 2.74% to 4.03% (2022: 2.95% to

ERNEE 8 BN T 988 EK
FENF274%E4.03% (=T ==

=

4.03%). F :2.95%%4.03%) °
(€) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as () HHENEBZFERRACZSENT :
follows:

164

2023 2022

—Eo=F —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR FT AREFT

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7) HEBBENS(HZ7) 23 55
Depreciation charged on right-of-use assets EREEEZITEX L (H:8)

(Note 8) 1,092 2,295

Expenses relating to short-term leases (Note 8) 245 HAF & A B =~ 5 < (H1:£8) 1,269 1,705

Total amounts recognised in profit or loss RiB=ARER 2 4858 2,384 4,055
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREHRRME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. BILEE
Film rights
and licence Trading
fees Trademarks rights Total
TR R
REZEE EELE Rtk #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETT ARBF T
(Note (ii)) (Note (iii)) (Note (iv))

(B2 i) (Hfa£(iii) (Hizt(iv)

COST 2%
As at 1 January 2022 RZBE-_—F—A—H 207,194 28,135 6,328 241,657
Additions NE 12,942 - - 12,942
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33b)  HEHKIE AR (H:£33b) = (2,661) (6,976) (9,637)
Effect of foreign currency INETER ZRET 2

exchange difference 9,180 2,399 648 12,227
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8H 229,316 27,873 - 257,189
Effect of foreign currency INBERZETE

exchange difference 2,084 465 - 2,549
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+—-A=t+—H 231,400 28,338 - 259,738

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rt &% RE
AND IMPAIRMENT

As at 1 January 2022 N = —EE=E| =[5 188,027 2,453 4,716 195,196
Amortisation (Note 8) B (H7E8) 13,244 = - 13,244
Impairment loss BIEEE 9,746 16,151 - 25,897
Eliminated on disposal of S B 2R RIRE 8 (A7 :#33b)

subsidiaries (Note 33b) - (2,661) (5,217) (7,878)
Effect of foreign currency INESEE N R B

exchange difference 7,866 727 501 9,094
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZ=_F+=-RA=1+—H 218,883 16,670 - 235,553
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBS RME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS — CONTINUED 16. BILEE - &
Film rights
and licence Trading
fees Trademarks rights Total
TR R
REEE Hiz Rk #Et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKEFT ARETFT AREFT AREFT
(Note (ii)) (Note (i) (Note (iv))

(KL (i) (Kt (i) (Hizt(iv)

Amortisation (Note 8) B (hrE8) 10,369 - - 10,369
Impairment loss HIEEE - 8,251 - 8,251
Effect of foreign currency HNEERE N =R 2

exchange difference 1,870 246 - 2,116
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+-A=1+—H 231,122 25,167 - 256,289
CARRYING VALUES REE
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=%+-A=+—H 278 3,171 - 3,449
As at 31 December 2022 RZZE__&+=-A=+—H 10,433 11,203 = 21,636
Analysed into: DT
As at 31 December 2023 R-—B-=5+=-B=+—H
Media CGU RN SELBN 278 3,171 - 3,449
As at 31 December 2022 R-BE-—F+-A=+—H
Media CGU AN S A A B 4,255 11,203 - 15,458
Unallocated (Note ii) KB (AT Fi) 6,178 = = 6,178

10,433 11,203 = 21,636
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS — CONTINUED

The carrying amount of non-financial assets allocated to Media CGU are

w8 M ¥ 8 &M (R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

BYEE-#&
SRERERGELEUN NG EERE

16.

as follows: BT :
As at 31 December
R+=ZA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARET T
Carrying value: ARTEME :
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) Y% - BRE R (MaE13) 4,143 11,277
Right-of-use assets (Note 15(a)) FREEE(KaF15@)) 6,688 22,516
Intangible assets W AE 3,449 15,458
14,280 49,251
Notes: MzE -

Media CGU mainly comprises of ATV and its subsidiaries, which are
engaged in entertainment and media services and represented the
media, cultural and entertainment reportable segment of the Group. The
recoverable amount of Media CGU as at 31 December 2023 has been
determined to be approximately RMB14,257,000 (2022: RMB49,093,000)
based on the value-in-use calculation (2022: value-in-use calculation)
with reference to a professional valuation performed by Valtech. That
value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a period of 5 years (2022:
5 years). The pre-tax discount rate used was 16.28% (2022: 16.58%).
Management determined the budgeted revenue and costs based on past
performance and its expectations for the market development. The cash
flows beyond five years have been extrapolated using a steady 2.5% (2022:
2.5%) growth rate for revenue and expenses respectively. Based on the
assessment of the recoverable amount of Media CGU, impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets of
approximately RMB3,493,000, RMB15,635,000 and RMB8,251,000 were
recognised during the year (2022: RMB7,170,000, RMB31,910,000 and
RMB21,897,000), which arose mainly due to significant decreases in the
budgeted advertising and other entertainment and media services income,
and the projected net profit margin, due to the actual performance of
Media CGU for the year ended 31 December 2023 was underperformed
relative to the management expectations.

(i) HERSELBNETZEREERERENE
AR (AR FMRERERRY) BREAE
B ERRETRESE - KER
CEABMNR _T-_=F+=-_A=+—AH
ZABESEIRESEFRETZIHEE
HECZEREBESAE(ZE % : &AE
BftE)BEAHARK14,257,0007t (=
T —4&: AR¥49,093,0007T) - BRAE
BEESERAEREEEN ERSSFH
(ZZ=—F :sFH)NUBBEEZEESR
2R c REBRESELBMAERZBA
BEIR R 516.28% (—F - —% : 16.58%) °
EREREBAREREEMBHEZHE
BEEERGEREA - Wa kAL 2 BBR
FHZzHReREDBIEABEERE25%
(ZZ=—%F : 2.5%)HH - RIFEBES
EEBEMAKESENTE  FRD 5%
RYE - BERZE FRAEEEARE
FEEZRBEBBLHARES493,0007T
AR 15,635,0007C & A R#8,251,0007C
(=2==F: AR¥?7,170,0007T - AR¥
31,910,0007c & AR #21,897,0007T) * £
BREABTEEES AR H A IR % K 188 AR 75
A RFBHMEFI R K@D - HTHREE=
B+ A=+ BULEEEERSE
ABNERRBARNEEEESEMEY -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E-_=F+_A=+—H

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS — CONTINUED 16.

Notes: — continued

A ﬂ:/ ﬁ F mﬁ

Mgk - - &

168

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Film rights and licence fees represent direct expenditure incurred by the
Group until the programmes are available to broadcast on the Over-The-Top
("OTT") platform of the Group. Film rights is the fees incurred to acquire
the right for broadcasting transcripts of films on the OTT platform of the
Group during the terms ranging from 1 year to 2 years. Licence fees are
fees incurred to obtain rights to use film rights or music copyrights owned
by the independent third parties for production of films by the Group. Film
rights and licence fees are amortised on estimated viewing patterns. The
amortisation is on an accelerated basis as the Group typically expects more
upfront viewings. The Group would begin amortisation when the Group
expects to use its film rights and licence.

The unallocated film rights and licences fees are identifiable assets which
generate cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows from
the Media CGU, so separate impairment assessment has been conducted.
The recoverable amount of these film rights and licences as at 31 December
2022 have been determined by external valuation experts, AP Appraisal
Limited (“APA"), based on fair value less cost of disposal (“FVLCOD"), by
estimating the present value of expected future revenues and related cash
flows arising from the distribution of the relevant films and their residual
values, which were derived from discounting the projected cash flows
using a discount rate of 20%. The discounted cash flow analysis used cash
flow projections for a period of 1-2 years which was based on the license
period. Growth rate of 3% per annum was applied, which was based on the
industry growth forecasts and did not exceed the long-term growth rate for
the relevant industry.

The FVLCOD of the unallocated film rights and license fees is classified as
level 3 measurement. There was no change of fair value hierarchy during
the year ended 2022. Significant unobservable input included discount
rate. The higher the discount rate, the lower the fair value, other significant
unobservable inputs were the expected future revenues and related cash
flows.

The carrying amounts of film rights and licence fees have been reduced
to their recoverable amount through recognition of the provision for
impairment losses of approximately RMB4,002,000 during the year ended
31 December 2022, which arose mainly due to decrease in projected
income from broadcast and distribution of the underlying movies due to the
prolonged impact of COVID-19.

Trademark was acquired by the Group as part of ATV and Million Federal
International Limited (“Million Federal”), subsidiary of the Company and
became an associate of the Group upon disposal of 20% equity interest
on 18 May 2022 (Note 33(b)). The trademarks have no foreseeable limit to
period that the Group can use to generate net cash flows, accordingly, the
trademarks are considered as having an indefinite useful lives.

Trading rights represents rights that confer eligibility of the Group to trade
on the Stock Exchange. The trading rights have no foreseeable limit to
period that the Group can use to generate net cash flows, accordingly, the
trading rights are considered as having an indefinite useful lives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

17. RBE QT 2R

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—8H

2023 2022

—Eo=F —F -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARBFT
Cost of unlisted investment FEETHIZE B AR 14,174 14,174
Share of post-acquisition profit or loss AEWEE R R T S 18 (5,606) (732)
Impairment loss recognised ERREEE (2,332) =
Currency realignment WA 872 610
7,108 14,052

Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are

as follows:

AEBR_ZE-_—"FR_F-_—_F+=A
=+—HHBE R RFBOT

Proportion of Proportion of

Place of Paid up registered equity interest held voting rights held Principal
Name of associate establishment capital by the Group by the Group activity
REBERFH AEERHFL
BennaE L HRMER BRARERIGL REREMEL FTEEK
2023 2022 2023 2022
—T-=% % ZE-=fF ZZ-Zf
Million Federal International Hong Kong HK$25,000,000 40% 40% 40% 40%  Underwriting,
Limited (“Million Federal”) placing and
brokerage and
related services
BRERBERAR(ER]) BE 25,000,0007%7T 40% 40% 40% 40% B3 BEL
PSRNl
R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i 8 M ¥ 8 &M (E)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE — CONTINUED 17.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associate
is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs. The associate is accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

REtE AR 2 Em - &
TXHIIAEEBE AN BERBE -
RS AR B E A B 4 A AR E B B
BREEURUGHERRAMBIIGS
B B EDRERSHA VIS RE AR
= IN L

2023 2022

—Eo=F —E-_F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARMTFT ARMTFT

Non-current assets FERBNE E 2,101 4,753
Current assets REEE 78,358 194,759
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (199) =
Current liabilities mEEE (56,683) (164,383)
Loss for the year FANEE 12,186 1,829

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

PA_E 75 8 B 2 SR & B TS ok MR Y
BB & N Rl YR e PR E B R R

2023 2022

—Eo=F —Eo—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETFIT

Net assets of Million Federal BHMEAEFE 23,577 35,129
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBMNE =B RN

interest in Million Federal 40% 40%

Group's share of net assets AREBEE(REEFE 9,431 14,052

Impairment loss recognised R EEE (2,332) -

Currency realignment A 9 -

Carrying amount of the Group's interest AEERE T ERREE
in Million Federal 7,108 14,052
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

17.

18.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE - CONTINUED

Impairment assessment

The Directors have performed impairment assessment on investment in
Million Federal. The recoverable amount of investment in Million Federal
has been determined by an independent professional valuer, Valtech
based on value-in-use calculation (2022: value-in-use calculation).
That calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management of Million Federal covering a period of 5
years (2022: 5 years), and the pre-tax discount rate of 13.59% (2022:
15.72%). Million Federal’s cash flows beyond 5 years have been
extrapolated using a steady 2.5% (2022: 2.5%) growth rate.

Based on the impairment assessment of the recoverable amount
of Million Federal, impairment loss on interest in an associate of
approximately RMB2,332,000 was recognised during the year (2022:
Nil), which arose mainly due to decrease in margin financing interest
income and commission income, which was caused by the uncertain
economic environment.

w8 M ¥ 8 &M (R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

17.

REE QB 2w - &
BEE

EEHEHTOREET TRENMS - REA
& B AT UR B & 58 FR B N B AR H 2R
BEAEBEEEE(ZE_—F : FAEE
FE)  HERERTEREAEREIEDN
FETEENRS RN - BABRASF(=ZE
ZZF 55 BIATAIRER13.59% (=%
T 1 15.72%) - BASFENRSREIR
BR2.5% (=T = —4F :2.5%)NETIERXRE
HHIR -

BEEFOAKESEZRESE  FA
BRRBE AR ERZBREBEBHARE
2,332,000c(=ZT==F  \&) - DEZERK
ERETAR - BRRFLAEFBMAR
BB MESE

INVENTORIES 18. F&

2023 2022

—EC=F ===
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFIT ARKFIT
Raw materials R R 4,527 16,875
Finished goods SURK o 33,443 31,874
37,970 48,749

As at 31 December 2023, certain inventories with original cost
amounting to approximately RMB108,389,000 (2022: approximately
RMB92,120,000) were stated at net realisable value of approximately
RMB16,966,000 (2022: approximately RMB1,239,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has made net
write down of inventories amounting to approximately RMB542,000
(2022: net reversal of write down of inventories amounting to
approximately RMB1,725,000).

RZB-=F+-A=+—8 ' BREAKAEALD
AR¥108,389,000L( =T ==4F : HHAR
#92,120,0007T) 2 & T B A S FEL
AR#16,966,000T(— B =4 : YARK
1,239,0007T ) 31 8E °

BE-ZT-_=F+-A=+-—BHLEFE &
S BB EHFEMURFELN AR E542,000
TT(ZEZ—F : BOTFEMRFHEOARE
1,725,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 19. ES R HMEWERS - 4R

AND PREPAYMENTS TR RRIE
2023 2022
—E = —E__F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBFT
Trade receivables (Note (a)) B S EWERR(Hat(a)) 9,470 10,655
Less: Allowances for bad and doubtful debts — J& @ RIZERE (3,919) (3,843)
5,551 6,812
Deposits paid to suppliers (Note (b)) B ER 2 R e (A7 (b)) 7,970 6,337
Less: Allowances for impairment W R E RS (2,997) (2,420)
4,973 3,917
Other deposits, receivables and prepayments — Efiz 4 - FEUWBE R R IB FUB
- Value-added tax recoverable — AJ Uk [B] 2 FE{E F 55 258
— Other receivables and prepayments — E b fE IR BR IR K FEAS R
(Note (c)(i)) (Ktat(c)i) 26,509 23,562
— Other deposits (Note (c)(iii)) — E A3z & (HTat(c)ii)) 764 856
— Amounts due from related companies
(Note (c)(ii)) — FEUR B8 E A B SRIB (M At (c)(ii) 535 4,602
27,863 29,278
38,387 40,007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREHRRME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS - CONTINUED
(a) Trade receivables
The Group does not provide credit period to its customers. The
ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of impairment as
at the reporting date, based on invoice date and due date, is as

19. BSRAMBKER - BER
BB -

(a)

B 5 BUYR

AEBETgRATPRHEEEMS -1
BEBH - BHRKERHBRE)
REZAHNIHA ZREDITOT

follows:

2023 2022

—E-=F T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREFT ARKFIT
0 to 90 day(s) 0£90H 5,179 5,994
91 to 180 days 91£180H 247 449
181 to 270 days 181£2270H 106 349
271 to 365 days 271%2365H - 20
Over 365 days H3®365H 19 -
5,551 6,812

The Group applies the simplified approach for all trade receivables.
To measure impairment, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristic determined as the days
past due. The impairment assessment also incorporated forward
looking information.

A 85 9 5 R 3 B A PR A
Ik o A BRE - BB EEERE
RIELUAS B EE 2 R AR RERE
BOETTHHE « RIS TR A A BT IE
E -

Movement in the allowances for impairment: B EREEE) :
2023 2022
—Eo=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARKFT
At 1 January W—H—H 3,843 5,272
Impairment loss made during the year FRRIEEE 92 16

Reversal of impairment loss recognised F AR EEER D

during the year (20) (1,540)
Currency realignment MAH R 4 95
As at 31 December =5 = -8 3,919 3,843
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS — CONTINUED
(b) Deposits paid to suppliers

Deposits were paid to certain independent third parties as deposits

174

(c)

to purchase raw materials of the processing and printing of fabrics

in the subsequent period. Movement in allowance for impairment

of deposits paid to suppliers is as follows:

19. ESRHE {&EEH&EE%"\
BN FIE -

RER

lllﬁ

(b) ENHEEZEZES
FEBEAETAYESFINR
£ fERRIERHIR B A B T A ED
ETFRBEMBZERS - EFHE
BmzERe 2 RERGRBMT -

2023 2022

—EFo=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEET T ARET T
As at 1 January R—A—H 2,420 3,389
Impairment loss during the year FARAERIE 993 127

Reversal of impairment loss recognised FRERREBEER

during the year (416) (1,096)
As at 31 December w+=-—A=+—H 2,997 2,420

Other deposits, receivables and prepayments

0]

(iii)

ASIA TELEVISION HOLDINGS LIMITED | == il

The balances as at 31 December 2023 included (i)
the prepayments of certain operational expenses and
other receivables from operation of approximately
RMB17,029,000 (2022: approximately RMB9,752,000); (ii)
the receivables from the sales of electronic components of
approximately Nil (2022: approximately RMB4,102,000);
(iii) prepayment of programme development expenses
and entertainment and media project of approximately
RMB4,073,000 (2022: RMB9,708,000); and (iv) loan to
a third party of approximately RMB5,407,000 (2022: Nil)
which was unsecured at an interest rate of 10% per annum
and repayable within one year.

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

The balances as at 31 December 2023 included deposit paid
for daily operation of approximately RMB764,000 (2022:
approximately RMB856,000).

(c)

EREZERARR A

Hitgs®  BRERRREAMRK

1]
(i)

(i)

(iii)

T_=F#+-fF=+—8”
ﬁ%@%(')**?igwﬁﬁi&
2 EL A FE U BR 3R 2 FEAS 3R
5 A R # 17,029,000 7T ( —
T —4F : HH AR®9,752,000
7o) ¢ (iDEFEBHFHE 2 IR
,TMW%T(_E—— AR
#4,102,0007T) ; K (i) & B &
1%%&&&9:&7&&11%%15 B &yE
FIEH AR 4,073,000 (=
T =F : AR#¥9,708,000
7o) RvVRE=ZFERHOAR
¥ 5,407,000 (=T ==

) - THEE IR R FEFE10%
AERER—FREE

I L N e
\Bﬁﬁﬂi‘r‘ill

FEW IR AR - 2 B RANE

R-BE-_=F+—-A=+—HK
EHRBREREREEINNES
HANR®ET64,000 (T ==
F . #H ARES56,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

20. EWWER

2023 2022
—EZ=F B —fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMEFIT ARBFT

Unsecured loans EERER
— principal - R 21,628 21,273
— interest - FE 1,154 1,135
Less: Impairment loss recognised W B ERREEE (22,782) (22,408)

The Group’s loan receivables, which arisen from the money lending
business in Hong Kong, were denominated in HK$. The net carrying
values of the loan principal in original currency as at 31 December 2023
amounted to approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$Nil).

Loan receivables as at 31 December 2023 are unsecured and interest
bearing at fixed rates ranging from 13% to 14% (2022: 13% to 14%)
per annum.

The Group measures lifetime ECL for the loan receivables when the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

AEEZ EEER(AREBHREZERM
EE)DUELHE R-FT-_=F+_A
=+ BZERRE(RRRLEE) ZRE
FENATAT(ZZ__F : THT)

RZZB-_=F+-A=+—H EKRER
AEEREABEFEBEEIZ%NE14%(ZF

T oF 13%E14%)EE -

B R HERAREE BB EZ G - RE
Bt ERWER 22 HRBERES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

20. LOAN RECEIVABLES - CONTINUED 20. EWER - &
The following is a credit quality analysis of loan receivables under HKFRS T ABAMBREERESHRIE T EKER
9. In the event that an instalment repayment is overdue, the entire HEEEEZOT - WESHEXREEE @ A
outstanding balance of loan receivables is classified as overdue. EWERN 2B AREELEGRE DB AR -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E_—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Neither past due nor credit-impaired BE &8 i MR S BB E - -
Past due and credit impaired BHREERE
- 0-90 days past due —#H0%E90H - -
- 90-180 days past due —@HI90£ 180H - =
- 181-365 days past due —@HI1812365H N 12,410
— more than 365 days past due —m HAkE@365H 22,782 9,998
22,782 22,408
Less: Allowance for ECLs B HEMEEEEEE (22,782) (22,408)
Movement in the allowance for impairment: B EEREEE)
2023 2022
—Eo=F —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETFT ARBFT
At 1 January mn—H—H 22,408 31,272
Impairment loss recognised during the year R 2 FEEE - 11,548
Reversal of impairment loss recognised B EIFANERLZ
during the year SR EEE - (22,722)
Currency realignment MBI 374 2,310
As at 31 December R+—_A=+—8H 22,782 22,408
All the loan receivables are entered with contractual maturity within FERKERZEHNIHBR=BRAZE—F
3 months to 1 year (2022: 3 months to 1 year). The Group seeks to A ZZEZ=F: =HAZE—F) - AEEH
maintain tight control over its loan receivables in order to minimise credit NEBEHERASERANABAR - 4
risk by reviewing the borrowers’ or guarantors’ financial positions. PR E R BRISIES - 5K EERER

BERK -

Details of impairment assessment of loan receivables are set out in Note 32. FEWE R 2 R E T EFIBEH AN E32 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8RB &M (R)

31 December 2023 —E-_=F+_A=+—H

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

21. BRFVEHFABSZRZUHKE

it

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARKFT
Listed securities held for trading, at fair value: FH{EEE 2 & A (R AFER) ¢
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong and BS KA ETHIRAFE S (B A FER)
overseas at fair value (Note (a)) (Htat(a)) 14,008 9,151
Movie investments, at fair value (Note (b)) BERE (RAFER) (FaEb)) - 975
14,008 10,126

Notes:

Fair value of listed securities were determined with reference to quoted
market closing price. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
had no disposal of listed securities (2022: disposed of listed securities with
carrying amount of approximately RMB126,000 and recognised the realised
gain of approximately RMB63,000) (Note 8).

On 28 December 2022, the Group had entered into a movie investment
agreement with a film producer who is an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group made certain investment in the movie
project to offset the shooting and broadcasting income of approximately
RMB 1,600,000 (Note 36(a)). The Group is then entitled to a pre-determined
share of net distribution revenue of the respective movie as prescribed in
the movie investment agreement. The fair values of the movie investment as
at 31 December 2022 have been determined by AP Appraisal Limited, based
on the best estimation on the expected future revenue generated by the
films less relevant costs. The fair value of movie investments was level 3 fair
value measurement.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed the movie
investments with carrying amount of approximately RMB975,000 and no
realised gain/loss was recognised.

PR -

MEHFNATLELBMSREERERE
E HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLHF
B AEEHELE LWELR(ZT ==
F: HEREBENARK126,000T2 £
T WHEREH W= AREE3,0007T)
(Hi3E8) °

RZEZ—F+-_A=+N\H ' AEHHE

—RORBUF=ZTHNEZREARLE
FREWMSE Bt AREREFREE

A FRE U H 8 R R AR AR
1,600,0007T (FiizE36(a)) ° RIBEEZRE W
BT AEEARIREAETNLOIES
ZEXRSHBITRSFE BE_T =
F+=ZA=+—H ' AP Appraisal Limited&
BEEHZEX B EAUERENES K=
(NBRAERAR A BEEERRENATEE - B
ERENATEBE3 BRATENE

BE_T_=—F+_A=t+—HIEE ' &
SEHERMENRARKI75,000T2E
TRE - WEERERWEGE/EAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22. RITERRRE
Bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from 0% to 0.25% R-EBE_=F+-_A=+—H  BITE&HK
(2022: 0% to 0.25%) per annum as at 31 December 2023. MHEEER0%E025% (T _—F : 0% =

0.25%)&t 8. °

2023 2022
—EF-=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARKEFT
Bank balances and cash RITHEBNIRS
— general accounts and cash ——REP KRS 13,918 3,554
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREZEEY 13,918 3,554
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREHRRME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. B8R E AR IR

2023 2022

—EZ=F B —fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMEFIT ARBFT

Trade payables (Note (i) B 5 IR (M) 23,454 25,521

Other payables and accruals (Note (if)) H S AR R B 5T & AR (W (i) 341,681 289,488

Other payables on film rights and licence fees §2 7 R R4 & 7 H i fE (N BR X 136 133

Other payables on convertible bonds interest A # % {& 35 F1| & 2 £ f& - BR 50 14,872 14,628

Amounts due to directors (Note (iii)) e E =R E (A (i) 60,790 6,905
Amount due to a shareholder of

the Company (Note (iv)) JERT AR B IR ER FRIA (M (iv) 397 390

Amounts due to a related party (Note (v)) e — R E S FIE(AaE(\v) 8,500 -

449,830 337,065

Notes:

(ii)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

RREHRRERE - B HRABRKREER
B2 2 REDITMT

2023

—E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
0 to 90 day(s) 0&F90H 2,278 8,094
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 10,075 2,252
181 to 270 days 181&2270H 11 42
271 to 365 days 271&2365H 428 11,549
Over 365 days #iE365H 10,662 3,584
23,454 25,521

Other payables and accruals mainly represented (i) amounts due to certain
independent third parties of approximately RMB29,449,000 (2022:
approximately RMB20,423,000); (ii) interest payables of approximately
RMB197,147,000 (2022: approximately RMB132,971,000); (iii) accrued
staff costs and director’s remuneration of approximately RMB14,786,000
(2022: approximately RMB17,485,000); and (iv) amount due to a former
director, Dato’ Sri Lai Chai Suang, of approximately RMB76,870,000 (2022:
approximately RMB70,598,000) which was unsecured, at an interest rate of
7% per annum and repayable on demand.

(ii)

HthEMERRENBEAEER)ENET
B E =7 RIEHARY29,449,0007T (=
T —4F : HYARY20,423,0007T) : (i) FE
HFBEHARE197,147,0000 (=
F ) AR¥132,971,0007T) : (i) fEFT B
T AR E FH B4 A K% 14,786,000 T
T —F : HAR17,485,0000T) : K
(VEN—BES(EBEHMEBRERB L)
RIBEH AR%76,870,000t (= FE=—

# AR #70,598,0007T) © % E KA A ER
W REFIET %t EWBRERERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i 8 M ¥ 8 &M (E)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES — CONTINUED

Notes: — continued

(iii) It represented the amounts due to (i) Zha Xiaogang of approximately
RMB40,723,000 (2022: Nil); (ii) Liu Minbin of approximately
RMB19,470,000 (2022: RMB6,318,000); and (iii) Sze Siu Bun of
approximately RMB597,000 (2022: RMB587,000). The amounts due were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(iv) The amounts due were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(v) The amounts were due to a related party who is a family member of a

substantial shareholder of the Company. The amounts due were unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

23.

B LEMREMNER B

ByeE - —%&

(i) HEARREMNUATALZRIE: ()&E)BHA
R#40,723,00070( == =4 : #&) : (ii)Z|
R ARK19,470,000T (=T = — 4 :
AR #6,318,0007T) R (iii) b 2 38 49 A R ¥
597,0007C (=& = =4 : A R#¥587,000
JC) o B RIBEAEER REREREX

RN
1=

I8

g

(iv) RENFRAEER 28 RARENREE -
)  ZEFEENTRARBT-BEBBRRZR

BNBEREAL - BNFUAREER 28
NARENRER -

24. SHEE

2023 2022
—T-=F —TCo—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFT AREFT

— Sales of goods from finished fabrics and — K mmE R REERZ
garment products Gk 70 4,031
— Subcontracting services income — D BRBUKA 2,738 1,022
— Trading of fabrics and clothing — B REKE S 490 -
— Entertainment and media services income ~ — #R%% K% 1% 8% fR 7 U7 A 3,512 1,345
6,810 6,398

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to approximately

RMB5,033,000.

Contract liabilities represent the deposit amounts received from certain

customers at the requests of the Group when they place confirmed

orders. Approximately RMB6,361,000 of the contract liabilities as at 1
January 2023 (2022: RMB5,033,000) has been recognised as revenue

during the current year.
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R=Z==4%—H—H
%5,033,0007T °

ARNARBHARAR

BRERETEFZESSE - K=
=F—HF—H AHNEBEBEHOARE
6,361,0007T( == =4 : AR#5,033,000
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25. BOND PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

k% & M B8] & W aE (18)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

25. EfES

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKFIT ARKFIT
Current portion TENEB D 75,808 69,621

On 15 October 2015, the Company as issuer (assignor) and the
assignee, who is an independent third party, as subscriber entered into
a subscription agreement in respect of the subscription of the one-year
15% coupon secured bond to be issued by the Company in the principal
amount of HK$70,000,000 which would be secured by the share charge
to be executed by Widerlink Group Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) (the “Chargor”) in favour of the assignee over the
entire issued share capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

A supplementary subscription agreement was signed on 14 October
2016, the maturity date was extended to 14 October 2017 and the
interest rate was adjusted from 15% to 8% per annum for the period
from 15 October 2015 to 14 October 2017.

A second supplementary subscription agreement was signed on 14
October 2017 and interest rate was remained at 8% per annum for the
period from 15 October 2015 to 14 October 2018.

A third supplementary subscription agreement was signed on 15
October 2018 and interest rate was remained at 8% per annum for the
period from 15 October 2015 to 14 October 2019.

A fourth supplementary subscription agreement was signed on 15
October 2019 and interest rate was remained at 8% per annum for the
period from 15 October 2015 to 14 October 2020.

R-ZT—AF+HA+THA  AAAEAET
ANEENEZZABBIE=7)EAR
BAFIURERZ  NAEERERHEAR
T2 1T AN£%870,000,000/8 TE B E15% 2
—FHREMES  MAEBREFEURR
7]z 2 &K B 2 "lwiderlink Group Limited
(RRBADUANKREE—H2ENBARZE
BEITRAMEERUZBZABIBARILZ
A&t FREC VR -

~HR=F-AFTATHABEZHER
AR MAERE =S LA+ Ao
B YH-F-EFTATEAE-E—t
FHATmAMMZ FREHIS%AEE
8% °

—PRZF—EFTATEAREZFE 0
MARBEHER _T-—HFTATRBEC
E-N\FTATHOBEHRREZFENEERFR
8% °

R _E-N\FTATRARBZE= M
HRARERREE T RAFT-AT+ABEZS
E-NFTATHBEHRZEMEEFTN
8% °

—ORZE-AF+ATRAREZZENHD
BAREHBEBE T RFTA+ARBE=
T _ZEA+ A+ A HEZ FHEEFR
8% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

25.

182

BOND PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

On 31 May 2021, the Group received a letter from the legal adviser
of the Bond Holder informing the Company that the Bond Holder has
enforced the pledged share capital of a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, namely % 8% (A %11 ) 24 & 2% B R A 7]("Xie Sheng”), by
disposing the entire share capital of Xie Sheng to a third party by way of
sale. Xie Sheng is principally engaged in processing, printing and sales of
finished fabrics.

Upon further enquiry with the Bond Holder, the Company was notified
that the Bond Holder enforced the security accompanying the Bond by
way of disposal of the Pledged Shares of Xie Sheng to a third party (the
“Third Party”) by way of sale at the consideration of HK$15,000,000
on 31 May 2021. The sale proceeds were applied towards settlement
of all outstanding interest of the Bond up to 31 May 2021 and partial
settlement of the principal of the Bond. As at 1 June 2021, the
outstanding principal due under the Bond was HK$69,698,082.

A sixth supplementary agreement was signed on 1 June 2023 and
interest rate was remained at 8% per annum and the maturity date of
the Bond had extended to 31 May 2024.

ASIA TELEVISION HOLDINGS LIMITED | == il

25.

EREZERARR A

a2 (&)
AEER-B-—FREA=+—AKIRE
EHBEAGERBRORES  BOAAT
REHHEARBHNTH AR 2 2 AR
BAT  ZABRERT) MELERA
R ) 2 B - L2 2ERA
REETRBEAES) - BROTBEY
ﬁ&mﬁﬂ%l\ﬂm&ﬁ%°

Lo — S EABEFFE AR - AAFREBARE
FREAR-Z=Z—FRHA=1+— E%ﬁliﬂ
TEFREZER - BHRE 2B ERRG A
PEFRERGEE=F(E=H])  EHEE
15,000,000 7T o HEFMERIEARE

BEE_ZT-—FRA=+—"HANMARE
BESZMNEUAERBAIESZARE - R-F
“—FXA—H BFETHREELREAR

69,698,082/ T °

R B =F B —BEEZE N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERNE (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

26. BANK LOANS, LOANS FROM OTHER 26. SRITER - REHMESHEE
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND OTHER ZEFRHEMEES
BORROWINGS

Interest rate
per annum 2023 2022
FHE —EZ=F —E-fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARKTFT
Current liabilities =R
Loans from other financial KEHMEREEZ 2023: 12%-30%
institutions, unsecured B (EEKm) (2022:
(Note (@) (Ftat(a)) 12%-30%)
—E-=fF:
12%-30%
(===
12%-30%) 178,618 175,684
178,618 175,684
Other borrowings, secured HufEE (HEME) 2023: 9%
(Note(c)) (Ktet(c)) (2022: 9%)
—E o =F
9%
(ZZ——%F:
9%) 3,498 3,207
Other borrowings, unsecured HapfEE (EIER) 2023: 7%-12%
(Note (b)) (K b)) (2022: 7%-12%)
—E o =F
7%-12%
(ZT==%F:
7%-12%) 50,857 49,135
Convertible bonds payable FER AR PR E S
(Note(d)) (K13 (d)) 45,060 =
99,415 52,342
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Other borrowing, secured HiEE(HIEKH) 2023: 9%
(Note (c)) (Ktet(c)) (2022: 9%)
—E-=fF:
9%
(Z=E=-_=
9%) 1,550 5,047
279,583 233,073
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E-_=F+_A=+—H

26. BANK LOANS, LOANS FROM OTHER
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS - CONTINUED

184

Note:

(a)

These loans represented the principal amounts of two unsecured
borrowings (2022: two) obtained from certain independent third parties as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

)

(ii)

ASIA TELEVISION HOLDINGS LIMITED | = i &

The loan with a principal amount of HK$194,200,000 and
interest payables of HK$202,251,000 equivalent to approximately
RMB175,013,000 and RMB182,269,000 respectively (2022:
HK$194,200,000 and interest payables of approximately
HK$143,991,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB172,139,000
and RMB127,640,000 respectively)) were guaranteed by a former
director of the Company, Mr. Deng. The loan was in default by
the Group upon its maturity in February 2019. A statutory demand
was served on the Group by the lender to demand the Group to
pay the alleged outstanding debts in the amount of approximately
HK$222,707,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB196,406,000
including the outstanding principal amounts and interest (on
principal accrued up to the date of statutory demand)) in October
2019. The Group has negotiated for the repayment schedule and
the Group is required to repay the outstanding principal and the
interest thereon (included the interest at a rate of 24% and the
default interest rate of 6% per annum) accrued up to the date of
full settlement. Details of the statutory demand to this loan was set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 21, 24 and 28 October
2019.

The loan with a principal amount of HK$4,000,000 equivalent
to approximately RMB3,605,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB3,546,000) which was matured in 2019 without renewal.

EREZERARR A

26. SRITEFR -
ZEFR

[
Z%

+=A

REH ﬂﬂ%mﬂ%*ﬁ
Hibf5 &8 — &

I RIEERE T _=FR=-F -

=S+t BRETBYE=ZTWMELM

HEEMEE(ZT-__F MA)ZEAE -

(i)

(i)

N 4 % 5 194,200,000 %8 7T 2 & 7
P& 5 F1 8.202,251,000% 7T (2 B
&R #H AR 175,013,000 T &
AR #182,269,0007T) (=T ==
1 194,200,000 7 T K & 1 F B
#7143,991,000% 7t (2 5l & K
# A R #172,139,000 T B A R #&
127,640,0007T) ) BB AN A Bl AT E = &
FEER - AEBRERE=-T—N
i_ﬂiﬂﬂﬂﬁ%%mﬁﬁ EA:;—n
F+ A BRFAREBRELTE
ﬂéﬁa , LA%I$;‘%@S‘ZWE$@5R
1818 E7549222,707,000/8 7T (HHE
R# AR 196,406,000 * EFE
BAREERASRAB(BEEEEK
EEEAERAS R ZFE)) °
AEBERERGHRETERS - M
AEBEAEBEREEASREER
EEAENEBEFZFE(RERE
ME24% KRB K F N E6% 5t H 2 F
B)  ZBEERZEATEREREZ
HBERRARRBRA_T NG+
A-+—8B -Z—tHARER=+/N\BZ
A ©

R-ZTB-_=F+=—A=+—BAX%
84,000,000/ T (HERH AR
3,605,0007) (ZT==F : AR¥
3,546,00070) ZERER =T —NF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

26. BANK LOANS, LOANS FROM OTHER
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS - CONTINUED

Notes: — continued

(b)

These loans represented the principal amounts of five unsecured
borrowings (2022: four) obtained from certain independent third parties as

at 31 December 2023 and 2022. Details of major other borrowings were as

following:

(i)

(i)

The borrowings with a principal amount of HK$40,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB35,752,000) was guaranteed by
Mr. Deng, a former director of the Company. The Group entered
into supplementary loan agreement with the lender on 3 January
2019 to extend the loan to 4 January 2020. Following the renewal
agreement, the loan principal was changed from HK$38,000,000
to HK$40,000,000 and the interest rate was changed from 8% per
annum to 12% per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the loan was defaulted
and a statutory demand was served on the Group by the lender
to demand the Group to pay the alleged outstanding debts in
the amount of approximately HK$45,978,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB41,095,000). The Group has partially settled the
outstanding principal and accrued interest and the lender has agreed
at an interest rate of 12% per annum.

Detail of the statutory demand to this loan was set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 7 April 2020.

As at 31 December 2023, the defaulted loan principal and accrued
interest were approximately RMB12,330,000 and RMB4,460,000
respectively (2022: RMB12,128,000 and RMB2,932,000
respectively).

The borrowing with a principal amount of HK$6,000,000, equivalent
to approximately RMB5,363,000 at 31 December 2019 was
obtained from a listed company in Hong Kong, of which Mr. Deng
is the former substantial shareholder. The borrowing was matured
during the year ended 31 December 2019 without renewal and
the Group is required repay the outstanding principal, the interest
on the principal (included the interest rate of 24% and the default
interest rate of 36% per annum) from the date of default up to the
outstanding balances were fully settled. The borrowing had been
derecognised due to deconsolidation of a subsidiary during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

w8 M ¥ 8 &M (R)

31 December 2023 —E-_=F+_A=+—H

26. SRITEFR - REEHMSHEE
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26. BANK LOANS, LOANS FROM OTHER 26. (RITER - REHMSREE

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS - CONTINUED (CONTINUED)

Notes: — continued

(c) On 20 May 2022, W& ({8 ) ENREBR A F)(“Xie Feng”), a subsidiary of
the Group, and 5% (R #T ) 2 E X B R A R("Xie Sheng”), a related
company of the Group, entered into an agreement withi@2/Ef & RMAE
AR & (T2 F)("Fujian Haixi”), pursuant to which, (i) Xie Feng and Xie Sheng
agreed to sell certain machinery and equipment to Fujian Haixi for a total
consideration of RMB10,000,000; and (ii) Xie Feng and Xie Sheng agreed to
lease the machinery and equipment back from Fujian Haixi for a total lease
consideration of RMB11,401,200 in aggregate for a term of 36 months by
monthly installments inclusive of interest. Xie Feng and Xie Sheng shall pay
an amount of RMB500,000 as warranty money to Fujian Haixi.

The above machinery and equipment mentioned were fully impaired in prior
years, and the transfer of the machinery and equipment does not satisfy
the requirements as a sale of the machine and equipment. The Group as
a seller-lessee continues to recognise the machinery and equipment and
accounts for the transfer proceeds as other borrowings.

(d) At the maturity date, the Phase Il of the convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$50,000,000 has yet been converted. The unconverted
convertible bonds shall be redeemed on 28 September 2023. However,
no repayment was made during the year, therefore the unconverted
convertible bonds was reclassified as other borrowings.

All the loans from other financial institutions and other borrowings are subject to
the fulfilment of covenants, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with
financial institutions and independent third parties. If the Group was to breach
the covenants, the draw down balances with the accrued interest would become
repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2023, the loans from other financial institutions and other
borrowings with the principal amounts of approximately RMB178,618,000 and
RMB58,291,000 respectively (2022: RMB175,684,000 and RMB12,129,000
respectively) were in default for repayment.
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 27. AR ES

On 24 September 2019, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with Mr. Deng, the substantial shareholder and the director
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2019, pursuant
to which Mr. Deng has conditionally agreed to subscribe and the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue the 6% convertible bonds
in two phases in an aggregate principal amount of HK$400,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB362,765,000) at the conversion price
of HK$0.1 per conversion share. At 31 December 2020, all Phase | of the
convertible bonds were converted to the Company’s shares.

Phase Il completion in respect of the convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$200,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB177,780,000) has been taken place on 29 September 2020.

Phase Il of the convertible bonds has a maturity of three years from the
date of issue (i.e. 28 September 2023). The holder of the convertible
bonds shall have the right to convert the convertible bonds into the
conversion shares on or after 29 September 2020 to 28 September
2023 at the conversion price of HK$0.1 per share, which is subject to
antidilutive adjustments prescribed in the convertible bonds subscription
agreement. The convertible bonds may be early redeemed at 100% of
the outstanding principal amount of the convertible bonds (in whole or
in part) and the accrued interest at any time and from time to time at
the option of the Company prior to 28 September 2023. The conversion
rights shall be exercisable as long as (a) the minimum public float
requirement for the shares as required under the Listing Rules could be
maintained; or (b) a mandatory offer obligation under Rule 26 of the
Takeovers Code on the part of the holder of the convertible bonds and
any parties acting in concert with it would not be triggered. The holder
of the convertible bonds shall not have any early redemption right.

Interest of 6% per annum is payable per repayment schedule and is
payable annually on 28 September until the bonds are converted or
redeemed. Any unredeemed and unconverted convertible bonds shall be
redeemed at 100% of the outstanding principal amount and the accrued
interest on 28 September 2023.

On 28 September 2022, the Phase Il of the convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$100,000,000 has been converted, pursuant to
which a total number of 1,000,000,000 conversion shares have been
allotted and issued. Details of the conversion of the convertible bonds
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 28 September
2022.
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27.

188

CONVERTIBLE BONDS - CONTINUED

At the maturity date, the Phase Il of the convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$50,000,000 has yet been converted, the
unconverted convertible bonds shall be redeemed on 28 September
2023. However, no repayment was made during the year, therefore the
unconverted convertible bonds was reclassified as other borrowings.

During the year 2022, certain provision of the convertible bonds
subscription agreements were breached which could cause the principal
amount of whole convertible bonds become repayable on demand.
The Group was granted the waiver in respect of the relevant breached
provisions before 31 December 2022.

The outstanding principal amounts of the Phase Il of convertible bonds
are HK$Nil (2022: HK$50,000,000), and recognised at 31 December
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

27. ARES - &

REHRA  F-_EBEZAIBERES
50,000,000/ T2 AN & 58 ) R 8% - K&
EBAMRELSER T =F LA -+ N\
HEER - A - RERLARELER - Bit
REER AR EFEEN D EAEMER

REZBZZFFRN - AEEERATBRES
RIEWZE 2B TIEX - WA EH 2 ARk
BEENRNCERABRERER - ~EED
REZZE-_—F+-A=+—HAsEBEER
BRER L -

FoBEBRAIBMBRESFNAREERASEATE
JL(—ZF = —4 : 50,000,000 7T) * MHR =
To=FRZTZFF+A=+—H®ER
ZE PR IRRESHS AT

Equity Liability

component component

R E D BEID

(Note)

(Hia)

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFT

At 1 January 2022 R—ZF-_—#—H—H 15,185 101,978
Effective interest expenses (Note 7) BEEAEFZ (A7) - 16,728
Conversion of convertible bonds s R IS 5 (10,362) (76,325)
Interest payable (include in other payables) FESFIE (G AE AL BRF) - (7,963)
Currency realignment BEFAE 525 6,788
As at 31 December 2022 RNET s = 5,348 41,206
Effective interest expenses (Note 7) BB (A1:77) - 5,892
Maturity of convertible bonds AR RR (5 % 2 HR (5,348) (47,763)
Currency realignment ME AR - 665
As at 31 December 2023 R-_E—_=F+—-_A=+—H - -

Note:

The effective interest rate of the liability component on initial recognition and
the subsequent measurement of interest expenses on the convertible bonds was
calculated using effective interest rate of 18.4% per annum.
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28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 28. IEELEBIEAR
The components of deferred tax recognised in the consolidated RERE SRR RER ZRTEF B H R EH
statement of financial position and the movement during the year are as FREBHMT :
follows:

Fair value arising

from business Accelerated tax

combination depreciation Total

PSES/S
AHOATE MERFIENE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AREFT BT
As at 1 January 2022 N-ZZE-_—_F—HF—H (4,279) (4,812) (9,091)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) &t AiB25(Hfat11) 2,665 4,009 6,674
Currency realignment KEREE (279) (285) (564)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 33b)  H&E—RK B AR (A:£33b) - 91) (91)

De-consolidation of a subsidiary R IE — KT B A B4R e AR

(Note 33c) (HtiF33c) - 877 877
As at 31 December 2022 R=-BE=-—-f+=H=+—H (1,893) (302) (2,195)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 71) FTAB=(MET) 1,361 77 1,438
Currency realignment B(E AR (37) (5) (42)
As at 31 December 2023 R-EB-=%+=-HA=+-—H (569) (230) (799)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has estimated unused tax losses and
deductible temporary differences arising in Hong Kong of approximately
RMB94,363,000 and RMB200,421,000 (2022: RMB92,137,000 and
RMB199,487,000) respectively. The unused tax losses are subject to the
agreement of Inland Revenue Department, and are available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has estimated unused tax losses
and deductible temporary differences arising in the PRC of approximately
RMB72,426,000 and RMB31,138,000 (2022: RMB71,331,000 and
RMB30,823,000) respectively. The unused tax losses are subject to the
agreement of tax bureau in the PRC, and are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. These estimated unused tax losses will be available for offsetting
against future taxable profits for a maximum period of five years from
the reporting date.

R-ZTBE-_=%F+-A=+—8 A&£@%&
BBEEZEF RS A IEE B R AT HR
R Z R D B A AR #94,363,0007T & A
R#200,421,000ic (ZE==—F : ARK
92,137,0007T &2 A R %199,487,0007T) ° &
A IBEEBEERAAERERESERZ
NEIZ RRERTEF] - EARFRERRE ©

R-TBE-_=%F+-A=+—8  A&£@%E
W A 2 (il R AR B A A TE &5 48 K AT R
TR ERED B ART72,426,0007T & A
R#531 138,000 (0= =% : AR®
71,331,000 7T & A R #30,823,0007T) ° &k
FAFEEERBEEHESESERZA Z
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28.

29.

190

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES - CONTINUED

No deferred tax assets (2022: Nil) have been recognised in respect
of these estimated unused tax losses as they were incurred by the
companies that have been loss-making for some time. It is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the aforesaid
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January
2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to retained profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately
RMB9,763,000 (2022: RMB10,182,000) as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable

28.

RS E— &

%% R B A BUE S A E RREEHE
GE(ZF-oF  F) 0 RERRSMIR
BEBEERNEELBET —REHZA
RIEE - B - AKERAERA Lm0
BB 2 B SH T R BU T -

BEFRCEMERE AT NF—
A—AE  ZHEKMEAGMEIUERNE
KR B EHZENB - MBREAKRE
RPBEMBARREENNNEREHELOA
R#¥976300T (T -—_F: AR
10,182,000 ) {EHIRIER RS - [REZZAR
SEAEHZEEREEAOBERR - AR

that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. ZEE R AR AR A A gD o
SHARE CAPITAL 29. BRA&
Number Authorised
of share Amount
igbar4= JETE KR
‘000 HK$°000
Fhg FET
Ordinary shares of HK$1 (2022: HK$0.1) each BRREE1ST
(Z2ZZF : 0.18m) 2 Tk
As at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 R=ZFE-_—_F—A—HEK
—ECCF+-A=+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000
Share consolidation i1 & Bf (18,000,000) =
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=A=+—H 2,000,000 2,000,000

ASIA TELEVISION HOLDINGS LIMITED | = i &

EREZERARR A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

29.

30.

SHARE CAPITAL — CONTINUED

i 8 MEH &M GE)
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29.

H‘EZIK _ IIE

Issued and fully paid

EEITREE

Number
of shares Amount Amount
BingnE R EE
‘000 RMB’000 HK$000
FAE AREFTT FHET
At 1 January 2022 R-—E-_—_F—HA—H 9,925,668 870,809 992,566
Conversion of convertible bonds SR TR E S 1,000,000 85,880 100,000
At 31 December 2022 R-ZZE-_—_F+=-A=+—8H 10,925,668 956,689 1,092,566
Share consolidation (Note) R & 5F (B aE) (9,833,101) - -
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=A=+—H 1,092,567 956,689 1,092,566

Note: On 21 December 2023, the Company implemented share consolidation,
which involves every ten issued and unissued existing share (“Existing
Share(s)") of par value of HK$0.1 each will be consolidated into one share
of par value of HK$1.0 each (the “Consolidated Shares”).

Details of the Consolidated Shares were contained in the Company’s
announcements dated 28 September 2023, 3 October 2023, 9 November
2023, 5 May 2023, 12 May 2023, 23 November 2023 and 2 January 2024.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

On 15 June 2016, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) to provide the people and the parties working
for the interests of the Group with an opportunity to obtain an equity
interest in the Company, thus linking their interest with the interests of
the Group and thereby providing them with an incentive to work better
for the interests of the Group.

Upon approval by shareholders by ordinary resolution at the annual
general meeting (the “AGM") on 15 June 2016, the total number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme will be 293,604,000 shares which were equivalent to
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of the AGM.

30.
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30.

192

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION -
CONTINUED

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options granted and to be granted to each grantee under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time unless (i) a
circular is despatched to the shareholders; (ii) the shareholders approve
the grant of the options in excess of the 1% limit referred to in this
paragraph; and (iii) the relevant grantee and its associates abstain from
voting on such resolution.

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by the directors of the Company to each
grantee at the time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in
any event no later than ten years from the date of grant but subject to
the early termination of the New Share Option Scheme. An offer of grant
of an option must be accepted within 21 days after the date of grant.
The amount payable on acceptance of the grant is HK$1, which must be
received by the Company within 21 days from the date of grant or within
such other period of time as may be determined by the directors of the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The subscription price for the shares under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the directors of the Company at its
absolute discretion and shall not be less than the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares.

At 31 December 2023, the number of shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding under the Scheme was
14,500,000 (2022: 174,000,000), representing 1.33% (2022: 1.59%) of
the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION -
CONTINUED

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

30. ARODBERZARRSE - &

RERBIB R Z SIS T ¢

Share option type Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price
B AR rE AR R % B B 578 HA 1758 171%(E
2021 21 May 2021 Vest on the second anniversary of 21 May 2021 - HK$1.2
the last trading day of the month 20 May 2026 (Note)
following the grantee’s service
relationship start date.
B —F B RERARBARFRBHREE AR —T_—%F 1.2/87T
AA=+—H B—EAXSBzE_BERE AAZ+—HBZE (Btst)
ZEIREF
AA=+H

Note: The exercise price has been adjusted for the effect of share consolidation as
disclosed in Note 29.

MizE : TEES RN A G2 HEED AR (WK
FE29FTHER) ©

Outstanding at Share Lapse during Outstanding at
Share option type 1 January 2023 consolidation the year 31 December 2023
MR-T_=%F M=%
—F—A +=-—A=+—H
AR R i AT M&tn & B FRER 8 AT
2021 174,000,000 (130,500,000) (29,000,000) 14,500,000
T
Exercisable at the end of the year 14,500,000
RERA T
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.12
keI ITEE 0.12% 7T
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i 8 M ¥ 8 &M (E)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION -

CONTINUED

The following table discloses movements of the Share Option Scheme

during the prior year:

Share option type

Outstanding at
1 January 2022
R==F=_—F—H—H

30. MR AER ZNRRS —&
TR BBRES BN L FE RS
Outstanding at

31 December 2022
R —

Granted during
the year

xR B AT FARE +TZA=T—HEKRTE
2021 290,000,000 (116,000,000) 174,000,000
- —F

Exercisable at the end of the year 174,000,000
RERA FIT6E

Weighted average exercise price HK$0.12
INREFIETTEE 0.127T

Categories of participants

Number of share Number of share
option outstanding

at 31 December 2022

option outstanding
at 31 December 2023

RZZTZ=4%F i

+=-—A=+—8 +-—A=t+—BiKiTE

2 EE L M ARIT R AR S B FERRiES A
Directors of the Company KARESE 8,700,000 116,000,000
Employees of the Group KEBEES 5,800,000 58,000,000
14,500,000 174,000,000

No share option was granted during the years ended 31 December 2023

and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

31.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of lease liabilities, bond
payables, bank loans, loans from other financial institutions and other
borrowings, liability component of convertible bonds, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated deficit as
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with the capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through various means, including but
not limited to the new share issues, raising of bank or other loans or the
redemption of existing debt.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group were regulated by the Securities and
Futures Commission (the “SFC") and were required to comply with
certain minimum capital requirements according to the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (“SF(FR)R"). The Group
had established a legal and compliance department which was operated
by experienced compliance officers and was monitored by management.
The principal roles of the legal and compliance department were to
monitor the daily financial status and to review internal control of the
Group regularly to ensure that the Company’s regulated subsidiaries
were in compliance with related regulations. Those subsidiaries had
been in compliance with the capital requirement imposed by the SF(FR)R
throughout the year.

No material changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years.

k% & M B8] & W aE (18)

31 December 2023 —_ £ _=F+_-_HA=+—H

31.

EXEBEE

AEBEREER  DEARAEEAZER
BARELE  ARNEBRIETRRAS
RIERRR MR o ARE BIEBRAER
HFFERAE o

AEBZEARBERREAMBEHRRTKE
MBEEEE  BAER  RITER  KEH
MEMEBZEFAREMEES - AJHRARE
HZZAEMD  HBERERREFEYRA
NAER ARG ER(BREE BT - #HE
R RETEA)

ARBEZTE RN EARLEE - (ERILEAR
A= RAREFEBELARAREAR
PrB A 2 BB c REBBKBEARREREL
& BBARAN  BRETRRETH
Bty - BERTREMERLBERRFES
P e H B E AR -

FEEETHEBRARREEZ S RPERH
ERZBe((RESDEE  XAREEE
BEEAHAE(MBRER)RA(THERERR
ANETETHREESER - AEBE R
HERBREEZARTEEFTHEEEER
ZERBRERE - ARRARMZEZRE
REZARUBERARERRIAEEZA
e UBRAQAREE 2B A RE
STHRRDER o FA - ZFHEB AR —EEST
MRERR A2 BARER »

FAMENEEEAZER  BEIMBE
TR A EAREE) -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

196

(a) Categories of financial instruments

(b)

32.

BT H

(a) MBIAZEH

2023 2022
—EC=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT ARKTFT
Financial assets MK EE
— At amortised cost (including cash and —IRE AN (BEES
cash equivalents) RBEEZEEY) 47,948 33,136
— At fair value through profit or loss — R AFEFABRER 14,008 10,126
61,956 43,262
Financial liabilities g S =R
— At amortised cost — RS P AN 603,949 534,505
603,949 534,505
Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEAREEEEREE

policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, deposits, loan receivables, financial assets at FVTPL,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables and accruals,
bond payables, lease liabilities, loans from other financial
institutions, other borrowings and convertible bonds. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective Notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management

manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued
Market risk — continued

(i)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate profile

The Group was mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to variable-rate bank deposits which is mainly
relating to the fluctuation of Hong Kong Prime Rate. The
management of the Group monitors the related interest rate
risk exposure closely to minimise these interest rate risks.

The interest rate risk on bank deposits is limited because of
the short maturity.

The directors of the Company consider that the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk on bank deposits are
insignificant.

Details of the Group's loans from other financial institutions
and other borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
are disclosed in Note 26. These loans and borrowings
exposed the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group did not have any floating rate borrowings as at
31 December 2023 and 2022 and accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis on interest rate exposure is presented.

TR —&
(b) BEREEEEREE -
TSR R —
() FEE b
FIE R
AEEET 2R RENRER
FEPRNEIEZEAREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued
Market risk — continued

(ii)

198
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Currency risk

The functional currencies of the group entities are mainly
HK$ and RMB in which most of the transactions are
denominated in. The directors of the Company consider
that the group entities are exposed to currency risk related
primarily to other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL,
bank balances and cash, and trade and other payables that
are denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the group entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

B THEH-&

(b) BIHXEAREEEEREE -
45 B B — 4E
(i) f%vz%

EERC2NEEEFTERET
&/\Eﬁ% ABARGAARE
FE - ARFREFRA SEE

AR 2 B E R E B g
HSZEE/TA CRRATEABREZ
WEEE RITEBERBSIUR
B REMENERERER
BEUEEEBNGEEEIAINZ
EHEETHE -

Ey rlaray
e

REE B AT EIMNEEIPER -
o BREERINERR - I
BNERNEELIHERINER

G0 o
N

REEUSNEH B SBEER
8 R ek B A R PR
W :

Assets Liabilities
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC-=F T F —E-=F —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFIT ARETF T
United States Dollar ("USD”) Z%7t([%7T]) 11 2 - b
Malaysian Ringgit (“RM") ERmnSE([E%]) 13,999 8,569 - -

EREZERARR A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED

k% & M B8] & W aE (18)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. IS T A —

= —
o

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIRAREEEERKE &
policies — continued
Market risk — continued mG R — B
Sensitivity analysis B DT
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the following TXHIIAEBRHBEE-_SE =K
details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% increase or decrease in RMB —E-—F+_A=+—HLEEESE
or HK$, the functional currency of the group entities against the EEE s NeEE - AR BTN
relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only MHEEINE BB ES % 7 BUKRE o
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and ISR E D AT R B IR AR B s
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a HEEKIEE - WA RINEERNS5%
5% change in foreign currency rate. A positive number below BN REHESERENHRE -
indicated a decrease in loss where the functional currency of the THHESEHEXRTRERTRANINLERK
group entity weakens 5% against the relevant foreign currencies. SRR INEE BT (B5% A - ESIEAYR D o
For 5% strengthening of the functional currency of the group EEBEEEMNINGE S EBINE T
entity against the relevant foreign currencies, this would be an B5%0 - Bl &Y EE R FEk &S
equal and opposite impact on the loss/profit. MERAFE -
If RMB/HK$ had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the MAREE BT HBEINERE T
relevant foreign currencies, with all other variable had been held BES5% M EMmEEHEZTE  BRAT
constant, the loss after income tax would be increase/(decrease) as BRiBEEEENn CR)IET -
follows:
2023 2022
=% —Z_—
Decrease/(increase) in loss Decrease/(increase) in loss
after income tax if exchange after income tax if exchange
rate change by 5% rate change by 5%
MRATISHREBIBTEEREE s RATSHESEEERZSS
5% 1ER TR, (3Em) 5% MER T4 ()
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETFTT AR®TFT AREFT AREFT
RM ke (13) 13 51 (51)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 B /7 B2 6t B 7P 15

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade and
loan receivables, other receivables and deposits and cash and cash
equivalents.

RZTEZ=FR=_T==F+=A
=+t—HB AEEEHZEAEER
B(AEFAREBRITEAMEAEE
R 2 ISR )R B ARG BRI &R
FESHEEERAVISEE 2 REE °

AEEREZESRKRERRERE
o HEERERERE N RAE R
ReEBEYEHEERR -
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued
In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in
place for determining credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

Trade receivables

(i) Securities brokerage and margin finance business
The credit risk arose on the margin portfolio and clients’
trade settlement. When the market goes downside, the
possibility of bad and doubtful debts will arise. The margin
clients may be unable or unwilling to settle the sum owed.
As such, credit assessment and continuous management
of credit exposures are indispensable. The Group has
established the credit policies and procedures setting out
in details the structure of the credit risk management,
the credit approval and monitoring mechanism, and the
issue for overdue debts. Meanwhile, the management has
overseen the Group’s overall credit risk exposure arisen
from margin clients.

The receivables from margin clients were secured by clients’
pledged securities which were equity and debt securities
listed in Hong Kong and overseas. Margin calls were made
when the traders who were the margin clients exceeded
their credit limits or a shortfall existed after taking into
the account the securities collateral. Any such excess was
required to be made good within the next trading day.
Failure to meet margin calls may result in the liquidation
of the clients’ positions. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables.

Moreover, the Group closely evaluated the margin clients’
credit rating, financial background and repayment abilities.
The assessment was based on a closely monitoring and
evaluation of the collectability of individual account and
on management’s judgement from different aspects
including the current credit worthiness of the margin
clients, collateral value and the past collection history of
each individual margin client. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk on
receivables from margin clients was significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8RB &M (R)

31 December 2023 —_ £ _=F+_-_HA=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued
Trade receivables — continued

(ii)

Other segments

Most of the Group’s customers from other businesses do
not have independent credit rating. Trade receivables are
continuously monitored by assessing the credit quality of
the customers, taking into account its financial position,
past experience and other factors. Credit limits of customers
are reviewed periodically.

In order to minimise the credit risk on trade receivables
from other businesses, the management of the Company
assessed the expected loss on the trade receivable with
significant balances individually by estimation based on
the historical credit loss experience, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date. In addition,
the management of the Company closely monitor the aging
to recover any receivables outstanding over 90 days as
well as subsequent settlement of each of the receivables
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk on the trade
receivables from other businesses is significantly reduced.

32. i TH-&
(b) MERAKEEEERKE-&

=B E B R a1 — A

ESREWIRN &

(i)
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED

202

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

Loan receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk on the advances to third
parties, the management of the Group performs preliminary
analysis of the customers’ ability to repay principal and interest,
real time supervision of the actual repayment status throughout
the loan period and closely monitor the follow-up action taken
to recover any loans outstanding over 180 days. In addition,
the Group monitors subsequent settlement of each of the loans
receivables to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk on the loan
receivables is significantly reduced.

Other receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk on other receivables, the
management of the Group closely monitor the follow-up action
taken to recover any receivable balances outstanding over 180
days. In addition, the Group monitors subsequent settlement of
each of the receivables to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk on the other
receivables is significantly reduced.

Bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit — rating agencies and PRC stated-owned banks with good
reputation.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are
deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the Group
does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk.
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread
across diverse industries and geographical areas.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

Internal credit

B TH

(b) BHEBREEERRBE-

=B E B R a1 — A

Trade receivables in all business

REBRREE R R &S T 585
AR

rating Description except margin finance business  Other financial assets
MRTE & BB RIS AN P 2

NEEERTR  FHE BEE F YRR H At B 75 & B

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
and does not have any past due amounts - not credit-impaired

YL RZEFHINENRBEE  BXE >HEMEEER +ZEAREREEEE
EREFIEiP/SE] —EBEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
but usually settle after due date - not credit impaired

ERAE BEBAKLERIMBERER BT 2> HTEAEEEE +ZEATESEEERE
RENHBRER —EEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or
external resources

23 B ERBAREER R B BAE
R BRI SSNEPE IR E L N

Loss There is evidence indicating
the asset is credit impaired
BB EEBETEERREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor

is in severe financial difficulty and the

group has no realistic prospect of recovery
T 84 BEBEES AR RE MR

REEN E B AT E % L

— not credit-impaired
T HEHEEEE
—EBEERE
Lifetime ECL
— credit impaired
2 HTEEEEEE
—EERE

Amount is written off

TRIA B A

— not credit-impaired
>HEAEEER
—EBEERE
Lifetime ECL
— credit impaired
2> HTEAEEEE
—EERE

Amount is written off

SR e 8
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — CONTINUED 32. I ITE-E&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEAREEEERBKE &
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment — =B B R BE G — &
continued
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TREDMBEEHEEBBIGAS
financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment: B GEEFMERZEERR !

Gross carrying amount

RHAE
Internal credit 12-month or 2023 2022
Note rating lifetime ECL —Eo=F —E-
N EE @Ak RMB'000 RMB’000
iz APk 2 HEHEEER AREFT AREFT
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBHRAGTEZHMEEE
Trade receivables 19(a) (Note a) Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 3,927 3,787
B 5 R (Kizta) Z2HEBREEEE - FERE
Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 5,543 6,868
ZHEBREEEE - EEERE
9,470 10,655
Other receivables Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired 22,437 9,293
H A EURR X ZHEBREEEE - EEERE
Loan receivables 20 (Note b) Credit-impaired 22,782 22,408
R E R (Kizth) =ERE
Bank balance and cash 22 12-month ECL 13,918 3,554
RITEBRRE R +-EREHREEEE
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 32. K TH-&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIRAREEEERKE &
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued
Notes: BisE

=B E B R a1 — A

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
debtors with significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the
Group determines the expected credit losses on these items by using
a probability of default model, grouped by past due status, and
adjusted by forward-looking information.

The Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers in relation to its operation because these customers
consist of a large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities to
pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses
past due information and current financial condition of business
to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition for its loan and other receivables.

Simplified approach is applied to measure the lifetime ECL for loan
receivables of short term in duration (i.e. less than one year) and the
remaining loan receivables and other receivables are measured on
12-m ECL basis unless there had been significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Allowance for ECLs on loans receivables are estimated using a
calculation model based on observable data as at the end of the
reporting period, including the difference between the interest rates
of interest charged by the Group for similar loans, and the risk-free
rates, and adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost and effort. The Group has recognised allowance
for ECLs, representing approximately 100% of the gross carrying
amounts, against all loan receivables as at 31 December 2023 due
to the collective assessments which indicated that these receivables
may not be fully recoverable because of risks associated with the
customers and the industries, in which the customers operate.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all loan receivables are classified
as lifetime ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment —

206

32. i TH-&
(b) MERAKEEEERKE-&

=B E B R a1 — A

continued
(i)  Trade receivables () EZENERN
The following table shows the Group’s expected credit loss TRETRE®MEBPEERA
rates (shown on weighted average basis) adopted to the B2 & 5 fE WBR FRBR IR 0 T PTER
aging analysis of trade receivables based on the invoice date AzASEREHEEBERE(R
as at each reporting date: INREFEI EAERER) ¢
Gross carrying amount BREAE
2023 2022
—Eo=F - —F
Average Trade Average Trade
Internal credit rating loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
N EERT R THEER  BHRIET THEEE EIREERN
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
0 to 90 day(s) 0%£90H 0.07% 5,182 0.63% 6,032
91 to 180 days 91&180H 1.87% 252 1.83% 458
181 to 270 days 181%270H 2.70% 109 2.71% 359
271 to 365 days 271&365H NATE A - NATE A 19
Over 1 year HRiE1F 99% 3,927 98% 3,787
9,470 10,655
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREHRRME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — CONTINUED 32. I TEH-&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIRAREEEERKE &
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment — 1= E R R E G — &
continued
(i)  Trade receivables — continued () EZERERS—E
Movement of impairment loss on trade receivable are as ESEREREZRAEERBEES N
follows: T~
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(credit (not credit
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HiTRHA ZHATEER
FEEE EEBE
(EERE) (EEERE) st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETT ARETT

As at 1 January 2022 R=ZZE=-=F—H—H 5,168 104 5,272

Changes due to financial instruments R=ZE-~"F—HF—HRK
recognised as at 1 January 2022 FNERH BT

and during the year: TEZE :

— Impairment losses recognised - BHERREEE - 16 16

— Impairment losses reversed —BERESE (1,540) - (1,540)

- Exchange adjustments —EH AR 94 1 95
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-—f+=-A=+—H 3,722 121 3,843

Changes due to financial instruments R=ZE-—F—F—HR
recognised as at 1 January 2022 F AR

and during the year: TE&%) :

— Impairment losses recognised -~ BRRARESE 81 11 92

— Impairment losses reversed —BERESE 3) (17) (20)

- Exchange adjustments —[EH AR 4 - 4
As at 31 December 2023 N_B=—=%+=—A=+—H 3,804 115 3,919
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 32. I T EH-&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEAREEEERBKE &
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment — =B B R BE G — &
continued
(i)  Trade receivables — continued () EBSEWFES—E
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are EORWERZMNEREEBEES )
mainly due to: FEHR -
As at
31 December 2023
WZZZ=%F
+t-A=+—H
Increase/(decrease)
in lifetime ECL -
not credit impaired
2 HITEHIEE
BRI, Cld) —
BEERE
RMB’'000
AREFIT
Increase in trade receivables in processing, R mAmEINT » EfERIEEZE S
printing and sales of finished fabrics in PRC & U BR 2R 1% hn 89
Settlements received from trade receivables in B£8R & A 4 B 2
Media CGU (Note) B S RBERWE 2 15518 (K1) (17)
Note: Media CGU belongs to Group’s reportable segment of media, Mizk : BEBRCELBEMNBERASEE
cultural and entertainment business. ROMERE L RIREER 2 E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —

continued
(i)  Trade receivables — continued

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. i TH-&
(b) MERAKEEEERKE-&

=B E B R a1 — A

() EBZEUNES—E

As at
31 December 2022

N—=——

Increase/(decrease)
in lifetime ECL -

not credit impaired
2 HIFEEEE
EREm, Chd) —
EEERE
RMB'000
ARETFT

Increase in trade receivables in processing,
printing and sales of finished fabrics in PRC

Settlements received from trade receivables in
Media CGU (Note)

REKGEMAINT - EEREEZES
& W BR SR8 0

BRBRSELEM

B2 RYSR RN E 2 BN IR (M) (1,449)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 32. I ITE-E&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEAREEEERBKE &
policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment — =B B R BE G — &
continued
(i)  Trade receivables in securities brokerage and (i) FEHELRRED AR
margin finance business BZE G BN — &
Movement of impairment loss on trade receivables in BEELEREBCREEB 2B
securities brokerage and margin finance business are as SRV 2 B EBEEE N
follows: ik
Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
not credit credit
12m ECL impaired impaired Total
ZHITEE] 2T
+=fiR FEBE- FEBR-
BHEERE mESRAE EEHE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT ARBFr ARETFT
As at 1 January 2022 WZE-_—_%—f—H - 26 17,237 17,263
Changes due to financial instruments FRBRNFBETAZE) :
recognised during the year:
— Impairment losses recognised —BHERAERE - 436 1,327 1,763
~ Reversal of impairment recognised ~REEERNE - (33) (861) (894)
- Disposal of a subsidiary ~-HE-HHBAR - (431) (18,593) (19,024)
~ Currency realignment —-BERR - 2 890 892

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023

RZZZZER-T-=F
===
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREHRRME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 32. I TEH-&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIRAREEEERKE &

policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — 1= E R R E G — &

continued

(iii) Loan receivables (i) JEWEFL
Movement of impairment loss on loan receivables are as EWE R 2 mEBEZENT
follows:

Lifetime ECL -  Lifetime ECL -

not credit credit
impaired impaired Total
2 HATE ZHITEER

EEEE- FEEE-

EEERE FERE #Et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHTT AE¥TT ARETFT

As at 1 January 2022 RZZF=-=F—H—H 5,145 26,127 31,272

Changes due to financial instruments R -Z - —F—H—H

recognised as at 1 January 2022: RHTETAEE :

— Impairment losses recognised —BREREESE = 11,548 11,548

— Impairment losses reversed —BEREEE (5,410) (17,312) (22,722)

~ Currency realignment —EERAE 265 2,045 2,310
As at 1 January 2023 R=ZZF-=F—H—H - 22,408 22,408
Changes due to financial instruments R=ZE=-=F—HF—H

recognised as at 1 January 2023: RN % T2 :

— Currency realignment —BEE R - 374 374
As at 31 December 2023 N-B-_=5+-A=+—H - 22,782 22,782
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 32. K TH-&
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEAREEEERBKE &
policies — continued
Changes in the loss allowance loan receivables for the year ended BE—_Z-_—F#+-_A=1+—HI#F
31 December 2022 were mainly due to: ERKEFEEREEE I EEZHRN ¢

As at 31 December 2022
RZEZ—_F+-A=+—H
Increase/(decrease) in lifetime ECL
ZEEEEEEEE M, CRd)

Non-credit
impaired  Credit-impaired

EEERE EERE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARBFT

A loan receivable defaulted as at R-E-_—F+-_HA=+—H

31 December 2022 B FE K R B R - 11,548

Repayment of loan receivables ERERER (5,410) (17,312)
The Group has net current liabilities of approximately AEEBR T -_=F+=/A=+—
RMB710,495,000 at 31 December 2023 which include HznBEaBFRERARARE
unsecured and secured loans from third parties of approximately 710,495,000 - BERBE=7H
RMB279,583,000. CEERREERERNDARE

279,583,0007T °
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Liquidity risk

As detailed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements,
most of the unsecured loans from third parties were defaulted
for repayments as at 31 December 2023 and/or the approval date
of the consolidated financial statements. The directors of the
Company closely monitor the cash flows of the Group and the
Company and have taken actions to mitigate the liquidity issues
faced by the Group and the Company. Based on the good working
relationship with its other lenders, the Group is negotiating for
extension or revision on the repayment schedule of the other loans

or borrowings.

The directors have carried out a detailed review of the cash flow
forecast of the Group for the twelve months ending 31 December
2024 and other measures taken by the management as referred to
in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, and consider
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due for the twelve
months from 31 December 2023.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial liabilities,
the table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of non-derivative financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

k% & M B8] & W aE (18)

31 December 2023 —_ £ _=F+_-_HA=+—H

32. IS T A —

(b)

= —
o

BERABREEERRBE -&

HEBELRERE

WANAR G B IS AR M sE26 AT AL - K
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MR mR 2HER P RIER - AR
RIEEFYERAEBRARRIZE
ERE  WHETEUREAER R
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EEEHMERARERTNE ERH
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T EE 2 ERERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i 8 M ¥ 8 &M (E)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued
Liquidity risk - continued

32. I T H -

=
o=}

(b) ¥BEAREEEERBKX-&
REEL R — &

Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective  orlessthan 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months Tyear  Over 1 year cash flows amount
RERE
T =R =fdA rEERS
BRI T E-E —E) MELE REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEETT REFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
At 31 December 2023 WZE-_=F+-A=1+—H
Trade and other payables* B S REMERER - 247,868 - - 247,868 247,868
Bond payables fEfTE% 8.00 - 75,808 - 75,808 75,808
Lease liabilities HEAE 238 49 148 605 802 690
Loans from other finandial institution KB EM2REE 2 X 29.64 178,618 - - 178,618 178,618
Other borrowing e & 11.67 96,763 2,652 1,550 100,965 100,965
523,298 78,608 2,155 604,061 603,949
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective  orlessthan 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months Tyear  Over 1 year cash flows amount
REXE
ME¥ =fiA =R REEHRF S
ERA= AN a3 —ENE B REE
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ANREFT ANREFT AREFT ARETr AREFn
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE--—&+-fA=+—H
Trade and other payables* B REMERRR - 190,211 - - 190,211 190,211
Bond payables [EftES 8.00 69,621 - - 69,621 69,621
Lease liabilities HEAE 1.75 33 98 284 415 394
Loans from other financial institution REEf £ @ EE 2 EX 29.64 175,684 - - 175,684 175,684
Other borrowing Hfa 8 6.48 49,911 2,431 5,047 57,389 57,389
Convertible bonds #HERkES 18.40 = 46,980 - 46,980 41,206
485,460 49,509 5,331 540,300 534,505
5 The amount includes trade payables, other payables, customers’ * ZRIERIEE FEMNED - B ER

deposits, amounts due to directors/directors of subsidiaries/a

shareholder of the Company/a related party.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments
classified as financial assets at FVTPL. The management manages
this exposure by closely monitoring the price movements and the
changes in market conditions that may affect the value of the

investments.

A decrease of 5% on equity price would have an negative impact
of approximately RMB617,000 (2022: RMB458,000) on for the
year. An increase of 5% in the value of the listed equity securities
would have a positive impact on the Group’s performance in a

similar amount.

Fair values of financial instruments
(i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value:

The principal amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities with a maturity of less than one year (including
trade and other receivables, loan receivables, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables, bond payables, lease
liabilities, bank loans, loans from other financial institutions
and other borrowings) are assumed to approximate their

fair values.

(if)  Financial instruments measured at fair value:
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and traded in active markets
are determined with reference to quoted market bid and ask
prices respectively.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

k% & M B8] & W aE (18)

31 December 2023 —_ £ _=F+_-_HA=+—H

32. IS T A —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i 8 M ¥ 8 &M (E)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED 32. WK ITAE-&

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies — continued

Fair values of financial instruments - continued

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value
— continued
The following table presents the carrying value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at fair value across
the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS
13 “Fair Value Measurement” with fair value of each
financial instrument categorised in its entirety based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value
measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: fair values measured using quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
financial instruments.

Level 2: fair values measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1,
and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available.

Level 3: fair values measured using significant unobservable
input.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued
Fair values of financial instruments — continued

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instrument:

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. i TH-&
(b) MERAKREERERKE-&

HMBEITRZNFE-&

TRHEPAEEY B TAEZ X FER

SER :
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
=R B2 B3 e

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABEFT  AREFT ARETT ARKFZ

At 31 December 2023 RZZE-_=F+-A=1+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATFEFABRERZ
MBEE
— Equity securities listed in overseas, — BN EMRAES
at fair value (RAFER) 14,008 - - 14,008
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EEY B2 B3 et
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  AREFT AREFT ARETT
At 31 December 2022 W-E-—&+=-A=1+—H
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATFEFABRERZ
MBEE
— Equity securities listed in overseas, — BN EMRAE S
at fair value (RAYMER) 9,151 = = 9,151
— Movie investments, at fair value —BEFRB(RDTE) - - 975 975
9,151 - 975 10,126

There were no transfers between the three Levels during the year
and prior period.

Far level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised
professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the
valuations.

RERRBEDRE  THRE=EER
Zﬁaﬁmﬁiﬁﬁ °

HRE=BATEFAEME  AEE—
RIEFEBERITNEZERIARR
I H BT A E TR RS BB (E
RETIHIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i 8 M ¥ 8 &M (E)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - CONTINUED
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies — continued

32. i TH-&
(b) MERAKREEEERKE-&

Fair values of financial instruments — continued

The following table summarises the information about the
significant unobservable inputs used in the level 3 fair value

Fair value at December 31,

Rt-A=+—HZA¥E

measurement:
Description 2023
i —F-Z=F
RMB’000
ARETFT

2022
—E-_F
RMB’000
ARBFT

MBETARZAFE-&

TREAE=RAFEFAEMFAD
EATABRGARBEEN

Key inputs and relationships of
unobservable inputs to fair value

T EW AR R A B R ARBURSE
NFERREE

Movie investments

BYRE

975

The higher discount rate, the lower the fair
value.

BMREYS  AFEME-

Expected future cash flows are discounted
at rates that reflect the weighted average
cost of capital and addition intangible
asset premium of the underlying
investments.
TRHARRIR & iR [ AR R R & B A0
BERRA RN ELEERBHEER X
BEER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8RB &M (R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

33. DISPOSAL/DE-CONSOLIDATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES
Year ended 31 December 2023

(a)

33. HE "KRILEEHARHEBAT
BE-Z-_=f+-A=+—HL

FE
SECRINBEBRLBREBRAB(CEECRIN") () BE2CRINBEBELERBR
AR(TEECRID D
On 7 April 2023, the Company entered into a sale and purchase RZZTEZ=FMALH ' NAAIFIL
agreement to dispose of its 100% equity interest in its subsidiary, EEmZE M—E2BYE=FHEH
L2 # (%Y )to an independent third party at a consideration of MEAREECRI) 2ERE  RE
HK$100,000 (approximate to RMB90,000). The principal activity #$100,0007% 7T (A8 & A A R# 90,000
of @EL(J7RYI) is engaged in trading, which had no significant ) c WEOFN M EEELBANREE
impact on the turnover and results of the Group. The disposal was 5 HAEEEEBRESVESEAKN
completed on 7 July 2023. The net liabilities of @E(RYI|) as at e HEFHER-_ZE-_=FtAt
the date of completion of the above transaction were as follows: HEK - REAMR S THBEE - &
2(RIDMAaEFENAT
RMB’000
ARBFT
Net liabilities disposed of: HEARERE
Property, plant and equipment M - BRE KRR 6
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 2 5 R EMEUER « B4 RTEN KA 4,815
Bank balances and cash RITHERRIES 1
Contract liabilities EHEE (17,059)
Other payables and accruals HAib B R R FERHE A (9,433)
(21,670)
Cash consideration received BEHIRERE 90
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary o & — T B A Al A Es (21,760)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEELENRESRAFE 89
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

33. DISPOSAL/DE-CONSOLIDATION OF 33. HE "RIEEHARKE D
SUBSIDIARIES - CONTINUED 7 — &
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_SE-—=—Ff+=-HA=+-—H
IEFE

(b) Million Federal (b) BX

220

On 18 May 2022, the Group entered into sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”),
pursuant to which the Purchaser has agreed to acquire and the
Group has agreed to dispose 20% of the entire issued share
capital of Million Federal, at the consideration of HK$8 million,
which shall be paid to the Group at the completion date by cash.

The principal activity of Million Federal is investment holdings.
Sincere Securities, the wholly-owed subsidiary of the Million
Federal, is principally engaged in type 1 (dealing in securities), type
4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities under the SFO. Upon completion, the Group owns 40%
equity interest in Million Federal and thus Million Federal creased
to be a subsidiary of the Group. Million Federal become an
associate of the Group (see note 17).

Details of the disposal is set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 18 May 2022 and 21 June 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8RB &M (R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

33. DISPOSAL/DE-CONSOLIDATION OF 33. HE RLEEHARKE L
SUBSIDIARIES — CONTINUED A — &
Year ended 31 December 2022 - continued B8z-_FE-_—_%=+=-B=+—H
LtFE-&
(b) Million Federal - continued (b) EF &
The loss on Disposal was arrived at as follows: HEFHEZERNLHENLNTSEM
E
RMB’000
ARKEFT
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE
Intangible assets EAE 1,759
Other deposits Hibige 5,153
Deferred tax assets BEBIRE E 91
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BAFEFABREZUHEE 2,125
Tax refundables R 317
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 25 R EMEKEER - 24 MIBN A 37,026
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIA S
— Segregated accounts — B ERE 49,236
— Cash and cash equivalents —BHekBAEEY 7,708
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk HE M FER R SR (57,894)
Lease liabilities HEBE (1,344)
Sub-total NET 44,177
Release of translation reserve TE TR EE N 372
Release of non-controlling interest IR R S (15,091)
Fair value of the equity interest retained
in Million Federal REFTHIREBHREN A TE (14,174)
Sub-total NEt 15,284
Less VEd
Cash consideration RERE (7,134)
Loss on the disposal &2 EE 8,150
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEELENRSRLFE (574)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

33. DISPOSAL/DE-CONSOLIDATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES — CONTINUED

Year ended 31 December 2022 - continued

(c)

Asia Television Digital Media Limited
("ATVDM")

On 7 September 2022, a winding up order was granted by the
High Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the "High Court”) for the winding up of ATVDM, a wholly-own
subsidiary of the Company.

ATVDM is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
incorporated in Hong Kong and is principally engaged in
entertainment and media services. A petition and amended
petition were filed against ATVDM pursuant to the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter
32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in relation to, and pursuant to, a
loan agreement dated 11 April 2019, an alleged unpaid amount
in the sum of the outstanding principal sum of HK$6,000,000
and the accrued interest of HK$4,540,932 as at 11 July 2022.
On 7 September 2022, ATVDM was ordered to be wound up by
the High Court and the Official Receiver becomes the Provisional
Liquidator of ATVDM and the Group lost control on ATVDM at
the same time. Accordingly, ATVDM was deconsolidated from the
Group from 7 September 2022.

The assets and liabilities of ATVDM on the deconsolidation date is

as follows:

33. HE R LEEHARKEQ

BE-_2-_—_%+=-A=t-—H

LFE-&

() ENERBBEBERAA
(TEEREEIERE )
RZZTEZZFNAEH ' BFFRT
BEmEER (IS5 ER])BEER
R BERARAZEN B R R EIRE
USIRESIEE -

TRUBEBAARAZEWB R
ﬂv%%%%ﬁ&jvigiﬁﬁ%
IR RIFRRT - mEERBES
%&M%ﬁi(AWﬁ&&ﬁﬁ%X)
ﬁﬂ>%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%m%%
RIHEEI 25 - BEARRHEZS
::itﬂ+—5ﬁ$mﬁaﬂ%:

—NWFRA+—HZEEHRE
FIEBA S 4%586,000,000/8 70 A K JE
51 784,540,932 c RZZT - —
NALA  BEERBESEREEE
BER NMEEEEESREZMAAR
ZARMERRIER A - NEE B

RETRBIEHRE A S4E - Bt
TREBEEE T _FhALH

HRAS P BB S GEARR -

REIEEHARER  THRABEBNEE
REadE#ENmT

RMB’000

ARKETIT

Property, plant and equipment M - BE RZE 176
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 25 R EMEIKEES - &S RIERHIE 909
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIA S 245
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A E IR (32,583)
Other borrowings Hibfg & (7,091)
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIRAE (877)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEREFHE (39,221)
Release of translation reserve & TR EE 5 4,071
Gain on de-consolidation BRIEA AR Z e (35,150)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel which represents

the directors of the Company and key executives of the Group

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

34. FREALXRS
(a) FEEEASHHMH
EBEBABGEARATNEERARE
EBTRAR)RATEHHIEIIM

during the year was as follows: T:

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMEFT ARKEFT
Salaries and other allowances B K EL At 3 RG 2,304 5,782
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRRE ST S #E5K 37 64
Equity-settled share-based payments S E R D AERAR - 54
2,341 5,900

Transactions with related parties (b) EHBEALHRS

Save as disclosed in elsewhere to these consolidated financial
statements, other material related party transactions for the year

BASEUBRRAME O ARES
S RAFEZEMEREHEAL

are disclosed as below: REFEEMT :
2023 2022
—EC=F ===

Name of related party Nature of transactions RMB'000 RMB'000
BAEALTRE RS MEE AREFT AEKFT
Sino Wings Technologies Limited Consultancy fee

(Note (i) 1,139 445
EMEMBR AR AR (A7) =Sk
Mr. Hui Chi Yuet (Note (i) Commission paid 210 29
B R A (B aE (i) RNk
ERFEFREAREEEZEESR AR Other entertainment and media

(Note (iii))( f &% (iii)) services income 953 1,136

Hh R4 K A RIS YA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS - CONTINUED
(b) Transactions with related parties - CONTINUED

Notes:

)

(i)

(iii)

A company in which a close family member of a associate’s director
has direct equity interest. Consultancy fee was charged based on
terms mutually agreed.

Commissions were paid to directors of certain associates at terms
mutually agreed.

Income was received from a company in which a substantial
shareholder is the director of the Company. Income was received
based on terms mutually agreed.

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group and the Company did not have any other contingent liabilities
as at the end of the current and prior financial years.

36.

224

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions

ASIA TELEVISION HOLDINGS LIMITED | == il

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
signed a deed of debt assignment with the supplier and
the director — Mr. Zha Xiaogang. According to the deed,
the supplier has agreed to assign the rights, title, benefit
and interests in the debt amounting to HK$20,000,000
(approximate to RMB18,094,000) to the director, subject to
the terms and conditions of this Deed.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
received the equity securities of approximately RMB484,000
as dividend from the listed securities held for trading.

As disclosed in Note 21(b) the Group signed the shooting
and broadcasting agreement with the customer, the
shooting and broadcasting income has settled by the movie
investment during the year ended 31 December 2022.

34 EB%LA:':X% nlﬁ
(b) EHBEEALHRS -&

MEE

(i)

(if)

(iii)

35.

—HBERRZER ARERAR
Rl EERE - BREREEERE
Z AR

BB R Z GRS T35 T8
EREIZES -

REESTRENEHEARTAEER
TR R FWEULA -

HAREE

REBERARRRA P BFE KB E MBS
ERYEEMEMIARE -

36.

RERERERME

(a) Ek#ﬁﬁx%

EREZERARR A

HE-_T-_=F+-A=+—H
IEFE  AEEHEHERRES
BN AT S ERSEERRA -
BIERY) - HEEREEREL
ZHER - TR - Flas RiER R
#720,000,0007% 7T (FHE R AR
#18,094,0007T) TEE * ¥AK
A 2GR R AGHEEIRR -

HE-_ZT-_—"F+-A=+—H
LHFE  AEBRIERBIEEER
M ETBEAFHRE - BEBHOA
R¥484,0007T H) I AN 3%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREHRRME (R

31 December 2023 —ZE-_=F+_-_A=+—H

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. B4 REXWT - &
OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED

(b)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

(b) MEZBFELEEZHEK

TRFLAEEROMETH 2 RE
25 SRASPFRCED - BE
BRBAELARBERRESAREDEIR
KEEREBBENAEEESRER
EXTOBARABRDHAEREZE

financing activities: &:
Amounts Loans
due to Amount  Amounts from other
arelated  duetoa due to Other Bond financial Other  Convertible Lease
party shareholder  directors  payables  payables institutions borrowings bonds liabilities Total
fEft SREE
REHE KA EREs EffEE HEEE @5t
(Note) (Note)
) (pH)
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'00 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
NEETT T A T T T ANEETT
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-f-H - 390 6,905 132,971 69,621 175,684 57,389 41,206 394 484,560
Changes from financing cash flows: HMEREHEZH :
Interest paid BfFIE - - - (594) - - - - - (594)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAMRE
(including interest paid) (AEERFE) - - - - - - - - (192) (192)
Repayment of other borrowings BEEMES - - - - - - (2,126) - - (2,126)
Proceeds from a related party REABEALZFEHE 8,533 - - - - - - - - 8,533
Advance from directors FERT - - 35,863 - - - - - - 35,863
Total changes from financing cash flows BEREHEL B Mt 8,533 - 35,863 (594) - - (2,126) - (192) 41,484
Exchange adjustments ERFE (33) 7 (72) 2,180 1,143 2,934 642 665 5 7,471
Other changes: it 25
Finance costs BERK - - - 3,092 5,044 53,142 3,653 5,892 23 70846
Maturity of convertible bonds TR EHEH - - - - - - 45,060 (45,060) - -
Coupon interest of convertible bonds PR EHZZ8 - - - 2,703 - - - (2,703) - -
Credited to interest payables FTAEMFIE - - - 56,795 - (53142)  (3,653) - - -
New lease contracts HHEAN - - - - - - - - 460 460
Debt assignment (Note 36(a)) AR (H36() - - 18,094 - - - - - - 18,094
Total other changes 2B @t - - 1809 62,590 5,044 - 45060 (41.871) 483 89,400
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=#+-A=t+-8 8,500 397 60,790 197,147 75,808 178,618 100,965 - 690 622,915

Note: The amount(s) due to a related party/a shareholder/directors are
included in the trade and other payables.

BiEE : REIRREDT BRR EBEHHE AR

5 R EAM BRI -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —_ZE—_=F+_A=+—H

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. 8B ¢ HRERME - &
OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial
activities — continued

226

(c)

(b) MEZBFELEABZHIER -
"

Amounts
due to non- Loans
controlling Amount from other
owners of duetoa Other Bond financial Other  Convertible Lease
subsidiaries  shareholder payables payables institutions  borrowings bonds liabilities Total
FEft
HERA
FER FEft Hi
BEATE  REHE  EAEX EtiEE  wWARER 2 RERE &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFI AREFT AREFT ARETR
At 1 January 2022 W-ZE-—%#-F-R 19,956 359 78,798 59,592 161,870 40,167 101,978 2,046 464,766
Changes from financing cash flows: ~ RERLFBEE
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREAE
(including interest paid) (BREMFE) - - - - - - - (477) (477)
Proceeds from other borrowings Hihfa B2 FriEHE - - - = = 14,480 - - 14,480
Repayment to non-controlling ENTHEAR
owners of subsidiaries FIEREAA (21,791) - - = = = - - (21,791)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BIER&FELEE (21,791) - - - - 14,480 - (477) (7,788)
Exchange adjustments ERRE 1,835 31 7,151 5,240 13,814 3,821 6,788 14 38,794
Other changes: Hip 2 :
Finance costs BERA - - 4,042 4,789 50,162 1,410 16,728 55 77,186
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHBAR - - - = = = = (1,344) (1,344)
De-consolidation of a subsidiary BB —RNEARGA AR - - (8,592) - - (7,091) - = (15,683)
Reallocate from other payables BEMEMNEASHAR - - - - - 6,012 - - 6,012
Issue of shares upon conversion aamiaREsE
of convertible bonds BRI - - - - - - (76,325) - (76,325)
Coupon interest of convertible bonds TREEFCER - - - - - - (7,963) - (7,963)
Credited to interest payables FTAERF S = = 51,572 = (50,162) (1,410) - - -
Total other changes 2Bt = = 47,022 4,789 = (1079)  (67,560) (1289 (18,117)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B--#+-A=t+-H - 390 132,971 69,621 175,684 57,389 41,206 394 477,655
(= 3
Total cash outflow for leases () HEZRESRHARE
; . . = o A == £ A<
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated ARG RGRERZHEER SR
statement of cash flows is as follows: fagE T
2023 2022
—E = —E_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFT AREFT
Within operating activities K EB A 1,269 1,705
Within financing activities BEEENA 192 477
1,461 2,182
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37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

37. XEMBE LT
ARFNRE BEE RN 2 EBHBARZ

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of issued
and fully paid up share/

BT

Percentage of ownership interest/

Name establishment/operation registered capital voting power/profit share Principal activities
BETRERRA/ heEEs/ R/
4 /R BB HMERZF#E AERNZBA L TEEH
Direct Indirect
B i
Asia Television Limited Hong Kong 1,316,251,091 ordinary = 52.42%  Property and intellectual
shares - HK$1.16 (2022: 52.42%) property holding
ENERBRLTF ik 1,316,251,091 % & - 5200% HANERAZER
B-1.167 7 (ZBzz
52.40%)
Co-Prosperity (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares - HK$2 - 100%  Trading of fabrics
(2022: 100%)
BERL(FE)BRAR Bk WREBR - - 100% EEMH
2B (=2==
100%)
Xiefeng (Fujian) Printing & Dyeing PRC Registered capital - = 100%  Processing, printing and sales
Co., Ltd.) For a term of 50 years US$10,000,000 (2022: 100%) of finished fabrics
Commencing 26 May 1999
as a WFOE
BeCER) ILABRAR ik AR - - 100%  K@MANT - EMEREHE
—MANERAZTRBR 10,000,0005% 70 (Ss= e
RHES0E - ERINEBELR 100%)
Rende Finance Limited Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares - = 100%  Money lending
HK$10,000 (2022: 100%)
CREBERAR ik 10,000R% &K - - 100% M
10,000/7C (Z8z%:
100%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
i 8 B RME(R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

37. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES — CONTINUED 37. X EMB AR - &
Particulars of issued
Place of incorporation/ and fully paid up share/  Percentage of ownership interest/
Name establishment/operation registered capital voting power/profit share Principal activities
BRIREERA/ HeRRs/ RER/
AR AL/ R/ B HMERFE AMEENZBDL FEXK
Direct Indirect
B ik
Co-Prosperity Investment (International) British Virgin Islands ("BVI") 1 ordinary share - US$1 - 100%  Securities investment
Limited (2022: 100%)
BEBLRE (ER)ERAR ERRRHR 1RE AR - - 100% EHFRE
([#BRZAE]) 157 (ZB==%:
100%)
Asia Television (China) Holdings Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share - HK$1 - 100%  Entertainment and media
(2022: 100%) services
ENER(PE)ERERAF Bk 1R - - 100%  RERIRERT
1387 (ZB==%:
100%)
Star Platinum Entertainment Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares - - 100%  Entertainment and media
Us$100 (2022: 100%) services
EAREERAR ERRAHS 100 EER - = 100%  REREERS
1007 (ZB==%:
100%)
Co-Prosperity Management Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share - HK$1 - 100%  Provision of management
(2022: 100%) services
BEHLERERAA &k 1IRE R - - 100%  REERRH
187 (ZB==%:
100%)
Asia Momentum Media Limited Hong Kong 10,000 ordinary shares - - 100%  Entertainment and media
HK$1 (2022: 100%) services
BHLBRERRAR ik 10,000 &38R - = 100%  RERFERS
1A (Ez==r
100%)
Asia Momentum Media (M) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 1 ordinary share - RMB1 - 100%  Entertainment and media
(2022:100%) services
SRAE 1Rk - - 100%  RERFERHE
ARBIT (ZB==%:
100%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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37.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES — CONTINUED

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of issued
and fully paid up share/

37. TEWB LT -

Percentage of ownership interest/

==
|

Name establishment/operation registered capital voting povver/proﬁt share Principal activities
BRETRAREA/ ﬁﬁ /“Eé/
A SRS/ B/ B AMERZ 56 EM‘ AR TEXH
Direct Ind\rect
Bk i
Eastern Culture International Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share - HK$1 = 100%  Investment holding
(2022: 100%)
LERRLRERRAR & 1R R - - 100%  BEER
17T (ZB==%:
100%)
Full Winning Development Limited BVI 1 ordinary share - US$1 100% - Investment holding
(2022: 100%)
ERERARAA ZERRAS 1A - 100% - REER
1= (CBRoF:
100%)
TREEHE(IE)BRAR PRC Registered capital - 51%  Trading of fabrics and
HE RMB50,000,000 (2022: N/A) clothing
EMEA 51%  MHREKES
ARH50,000,0007 (ZB==F:
TER)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the FRINEHARREZTRAREANEBEEENE

opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive

length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end
of the year, or at any time during the year.

The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

EETEXEZARAMBRRE - ARAE

EBNITE -

CFIHE MR AR 2 B R EEE

P /88 7 R A 6 AR Bk 4R P A AT B P 3 AR AT R

=

EREBES o

FEY (BB ARFEAEER 28

NARERERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

38. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 38. EEBEEEAFIERERAFE
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL 2ENBARNFERE
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the TREHAEFEEL B AEIERIESHIESD
Group that have material non-controlling interests: BB A TIHEES

Proportion of ownership
Place of Incorporation and interests and voting held by Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary principal place of business non-controlling interest non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
RllpavEE) FRRERAE AREFERERN
MEBRRALHE FTEEENE FRERRRRRELD) il ) RatEEIRER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“F-zF  Z%-C “T-=F -T-_—#F# —F--F —T--

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTRT  AR¥Tr ARMTL ARETT ARETR ARETT

Asia Television Limited, and its subsidiary HK 47.58% 47.58% (33,041) (46,709) (301,839 (268,798)
("ATV Group”)
SNEREBAR BE

FENWBAR(TRER)

Individually immaterial subsidiaries (2,241) (1,321) 1,296 (407)
with non-controlling interests

EEFEREROERFEANBAT

(36,282) (48,030) (300,543) (269,605)

Summarised financial information in respect of ATV Group is set out BEEGREENTBERBERIMOT o ~
below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts M AR BT E BN IR AT
before intragroup eliminations. S5 o
ATV Group omEEH
2023 2022
=4 —E_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFIT
Current assets MENEAE 1,698 1,840
Non-current assets FERBEE 11,118 38,954
Current liabilities e A E (646,399) (603,538)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (799) (2,195)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR EHA ARG (332,543) (296,141)
Non-controlling interests AR e A (301,839) (268,798)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

38. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OW

NED

SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
— CONTINUED

ATV Group - continued

i 8 MEH &M GE)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

38. BRABEE EAFIERBERAIFE
2EWB A RS - &

DREE - &

2023 2022
—E-=F — -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT
Revenue Wz 9,166 4,365
Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year FAE1E K& 2 HH > A58 (69,443) (98,169)
Loss and total comprehensive expenses AR AT IR FEAREE R
for the year S EAXEEE
attributable to owners of the Company RARHEAR A (36,402) (51,460)
attributable to non-controlling interests IR R (33,041) (46,709)
(69,443) (98,169)
Net cash outflow from operating activities EESEENIR &R R AR (1,457) (1,674)
Net cash inflow from investing activities KEEEIR SR AR 840 -
Net cash outflow from financing activities BEEHIRS LR - -
Net cash outflow RE ML FRE (617) (1,674)
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

iz

THE COMPANY

39. A Az BN K

2023 2022
—E = T _F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBFT
Non-current assets FREBEE

Property, plant and equipment M - BB KRE 2 4
Interest in subsidiaries RH B AR 2z 56,380 55,456
56,382 55,460

Current assets REEE
Other receivables and prepayments H fth W AR S R TR 5RIE 12,061 5,948
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B A RIFRIE 12,655 30,248
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR KRS 131 176
24,847 36,372

Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HEMBEALESER 286,252 213,543
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTB B A R ZRIAE 1,325 1,276
Amounts due to directors ENEZESFIE 55,019 6,317
Bond payables EfHESH 75,808 69,624
Loans from other financial institutions REH M S pE 2 B% 178,618 175,694
Other borrowings HiEE 77,984 31,497
Convertible bonds ATRRES - 41,209
675,006 539,160
Net current liabilities REEEFE (650,159) (502,788)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REREHRRME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. KATZEIBARAR - &
THE COMPANY - CONTINUED

2023 2022
—Eo=F —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTFT ARETFT
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAERE (593,777) (447,328)
Net liabilities EEFE (593,777) (447,328)
Capital and reserves BERRFEE
Share capital ik 956,689 956,689
Reserves & (1,550,466) (1,404,017)
Capital deficiency B A A (593,777) (447,328)
The financial statements of the Company were approved and authorised AR BHRERENZZ_MF=A=+N
for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024 and are signed on RESESH/EBRBARETETHUTA
its behalf by: THRREF
Liu Minbin Zha Xiaogang
21808 = /NE
Co-Chairman and Executive Director Co-Chairman and Executive Director
BELRERMTES BELTRERMNTEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBS RME (R

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. QT ZPHBMRRK - &
THE COMPANY - CONTINUED
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RARFBZBENT -
Convertible  Share-based
Share Special Other  bond equity payment  Translation ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
IARRIA &
mRkEs BB
RiafE Sl E i Bl G110 I X e &t

RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETTE ARETE ABETT ARETE ARETT ABETT ARETT ARETZ

Note
it
At 1 January 2022 R-B-—F
-A-H 1,160,698 146,472 73,876 15,185 3,768 45,205  (2,721,994) (1,276,790
Loss for the year TEEFR - - - - - - (83,080) (83,080)
Other comprehensive expense  AEEE
for the year 2ERX
~ Exchange differences -BEEEY
arising on translation EXEE = = = = = (33,808) = (33,808)
Total comprehensive expense ~ AEEZE
for the year FxeE = - - - - (33,808) (83,080)  (116,838)
Issue of shares upon conversion ARk E5EEH
of convertible bonds BEIRA 806 - - (9.837) = = - (9,031)
Recognition of equity-settled ~ EERNEREER
share-based payments ) BEBEH - - - - 308 = = 308
Lapse of share options RIRELM = - - - (1.616) - B (1,616)
806 - - (9,837) (1,308) = = (10,339)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-=F
and 1 January 2023 T-A=t-H
R-B==%
—-f-A 1,161,504 146,472 73,876 5,348 2,460 11,397 (2,805,074)  (1,404,017)
Loss for the year ~EERE - - - - - - (139543) (139543)
Other comprehensive expense  AEEEft
for the year 2EFX
~ Exchange differences -BEEEY
arising on translation =5 - - - - - (1133) - (1,133)
Total comprehensive expense ~ AEEZE
for the year Y s - - - - - (1,133) (139,543) (140,676)
Lapse of share options BERERH - - - - (425) - - (425)
Upon maturity of convertible AT (&% 5|
bonds - - - (5,348) - - - (5,348)
- - - (5,348) (425) - - (5,773)
At 31 December 2023 RZB==%
e rE 1,161,504 146,472 73,876 - 2,035 10,264 (2,944,617)  (1,550,466)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

39.

40.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY - CONTINUED

Note: The special reserve represents the differences between the nominal amount
of the shares issued by the Company’s former holding company and the
aggregate amount of paid-up capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the Group reorganisation in 2005 in preparation for the listing of the

Company’s shares, net of subsequent distribution to shareholders.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Company received a winding up petition from FCG Venture Limited
Partnership (the “Petitioner”) issued from the High Court of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”) that the
Company may be wound up by the High Court on the ground that the
Company is unable to pay its debts of approximately HK$71,000,000
together with interests until full payment, being the outstanding
principal of HK$50,000,000 and the accrued interests of HK$21,000,000
together with interests until full payment. The Petitioner is a convertible
bond holder and the convertible bond bears interest at a rate of 6% per
annum with a maturity on 28 September 2023. On 28 February 2024,
the High Court ordered that the Petition be withdrawn. Further details,
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 21 November
2023, 31 January 2024 and 28 February 2024.

w8 M ¥ 8 &M (R)

31 December 2023 —E - =F+_-A=+—H

39.

40.

KRB 2B BRREK - &

3 - BRI A AR A AR B TR E
B SRBR =TT EFABEADTARY
2 S AR AU B 2 F) 2 O
RO @RV L RRRIEL 2 52
M= -

BREHMBRCEAEE

AN EEESFITHRESSER (5%
ER D BLHNEERBAEREEES([2
BANKBRER  ARARAENEEN
71,000,000 T EK REEEHREESTE
Al 2 FJ8 - BNAR(EE A £ 50,000,000 T
K FEET 221,000,000 7 - EREEE
BESENZFE  SFXRABARAB
B 2BARAMRERFAA - MAl K
EHFENEFRAE6%  FHEA-S=_=Fh
AZ+N B -RZZTZmMEF=_A=+/\AR -
BEERBESHEZE - FBEHARAA AR
AT -_=F+—A=+—H - ZZT=/HQ
F—A=+—HBR-_Z-_WE-A=-+/\H
/N i
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HEBR

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=1T—HItFE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—Z-NEF —TCTHF —T-—F —ToF —TZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RESULTS £
Turnover e 156,892 154,104 158,864 77,090 105,309
Loss before taxation BB AT 1R (621,875) (215,991) (406,320) (220,939) (166,001)
Taxation Fi1E 16,562 8,357 39,431 6,674 1,377
Loss for the year KEEERE (605,313) (207,634) (366,889) (214,265) (164,624)
As at 31 December
R+=ZA=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—T-NEF T —T-—F —T-F —E_=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKETT ARETF T ARETT ARETT ARKETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
Total assets BEBE 1,013,168 809,186 398,281 173,863 126,937
Total liabilities BiEHBME (974,738) (787,337) (733,563) (694,089) (817,640)
Net (liabilities)/assets (AR BESE 38,430 21,849 (335,282) (520,226) (690,703)
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